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As filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 6, 2004

Registration No. 333-

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM S-4

REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933

MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Louisiana
(State or other jurisdiction

of incorporation or organization)

6711
(Primary Standard Industrial
Classification Code Number)

72-1020809
(I.R.S. Employer

Identification Number)

102 Versailles Blvd.
Lafayette, Louisiana 70501

(337) 237-8343

(Address, including zip code, and telephone number,
including area code, of Registrant�s principal executive offices)

Copy to:
ANTHONY J. CORRERO, III

Correro Fishman Haygood Phelps
Walmsley & Casteix, L.L.P.

Suite 4600
201 St. Charles Avenue

New Orleans, Louisiana 70170

C.R. Cloutier
102 Versailles Blvd.

Lafayette, Louisiana 70501
(337) 237-8343

(Name, address, including zip
code, and

telephone number, including area
code, of agent for service)

Copy to:
CAROLYN KELLY
Jenkens & Gilchrist

Suite 3200
1445 Ross Avenue

Dallas, Texas 75202-2799

APPROXIMATE DATE OF COMMENCEMENT OF PROPOSED SALE TO THE PUBLIC: As soon as
practicable after the effective date of this registration statement and the satisfaction or waiver of all other conditions to
the merger described in the proxy statement/prospectus.

       If the securities being registered on this Form are being offered in connection with the formation of a holding
company and there is compliance with General Instruction G, please check the following box. o

       If this Form is filed to register additional securities for an offering pursuant to Rule 462(b) under the Securities
Act, check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective
registration statement for the same offering. o

       If this Form is a post-effective amendment filed pursuant to Rule 462(d) under the Securities Act, check the
following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement
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for the same offering. o

CALCULATION OF REGISTRATION FEE

Proposed Proposed
Maximum Maximum

Title of each Class of Amount to be Offering Price Aggregate Amount of

Securities to be Registered Registered (1) Per Share (2)
Offering Price

(3) Registration Fee
Common Stock 398,616 � $ 12,931,236.24 $1,638.39

(1) This registration statement relates to the securities of the registrant issuable to holders of common stock of
Lamar Bancshares, Inc. in the proposed merger of it into MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.

(2) Not applicable.

(3) Computed in accordance with Rule 457(f)(2), based on $58.16, the book value per share of the common stock
of Lamar, as of March 31, 2004, multiplied by 222,339, the maximum number of Lamar Bancshares, Inc.
shares that may be exchanged for the shares being registered.

THE REGISTRANT HEREBY AMENDS THIS REGISTRATION STATEMENT ON SUCH DATE OR
DATES AS MAY BE NECESSARY TO DELAY ITS EFFECTIVE DATE UNTIL THE REGISTRANT
SHALL FILE A FURTHER AMENDMENT WHICH SPECIFICALLY STATES THAT THIS
REGISTRATION STATEMENT SHALL THEREAFTER BECOME EFFECTIVE IN ACCORDANCE
WITH SECTION 8(a) OF THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 OR UNTIL THIS REGISTRATION
STATEMENT SHALL BECOME EFFECTIVE ON SUCH DATE AS THE COMMISSION, ACTING
PURSUANT TO SAID SECTION 8(a), MAY DETERMINE.
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LAMAR BANCSHARES, INC.

PROXY STATEMENT FOR SPECIAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
TO BE HELD , 2004

MIDSOUTH BANCORP, INC.

PROSPECTUS

COMMON STOCK

Dear Shareholder:

     You are cordially invited to attend a special meeting of shareholders of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. to be held on
                                        , 2004, at 4:00 p.m. at the offices of Lamar Bancshares, Inc., 555 N. Dowlen Road,
Beaumont, Texas.

     At the meeting, you will be asked to vote upon a proposal to approve an Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of
May 27, 2004, between Lamar Bancshares, Inc. and MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. The merger agreement provides that
Lamar Bancshares, Inc. will be merged into MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. In addition, you may be asked to vote upon a
proposal to approve the adjournment of the special meeting, if necessary, to solicit additional proxies if there are not
sufficient votes at the time of the meeting to approve the merger agreement. A proxy card is enclosed for your use in
voting, or you may attend the special meeting and vote in person.

     If the merger is approved, each outstanding share of your common stock will be converted into cash and MidSouth
Bancorp, Inc. common stock, which trades on the American Stock Exchange under the symbol MSL. On                     ,
2004, the closing sales price of MidSouth�s common stock was $                    . Of course, there is no assurance as to the
market value of MidSouth�s common stock on the date the proposed merger is completed.

     The proxy statement/prospectus gives you detailed information about the merger. You should read it carefully. It is
a proxy statement that Lamar Bancshares, Inc. is using to solicit proxies for use at its special meeting of shareholders.
It is also a prospectus relating to MidSouth�s issuance of shares of its common stock in connection with the merger.

It is very important that your shares be represented at the meeting, regardless of whether you plan to attend
in person. To assure that your shares are represented, please sign, date and return the enclosed proxy to Lamar
Bancshares, Inc. in the enclosed postage-prepaid envelope. If you attend the meeting, you may revoke your proxy and
vote your shares in person.

     The board of directors is enthusiastic about the merger and the strength and capabilities expected from the
combined institutions, and unanimously recommends that you vote FOR approval of the merger.

Very truly yours,                              
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NEITHER THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION NOR ANY STATE SECURITIES
REGULATOR OR OTHER GOVERNMENTAL AGENCY HAS APPROVED OR DISAPPROVED THE
MIDSOUTH BANCORP, INC. COMMON STOCK TO BE ISSUED IN THE MERGER OR DETERMINED
IF THIS PROXY STATEMENT/ PROSPECTUS IS ACCURATE OR ADEQUATE. ANY
REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY IS A CRIMINAL OFFENSE.

THE SECURITIES OFFERED THROUGH THIS DOCUMENT ARE NOT DEPOSITS, SAVINGS
ACCOUNTS OR OTHER OBLIGATIONS OF A DEPOSITORY INSTITUTION AND ARE NOT INSURED
BY THE FEDERAL DEPOSIT INSURANCE CORPORATION OR ANY OTHER GOVERNMENTAL
AGENCY.

     This proxy statement/prospectus is dated                     , 2004 and is first being mailed to shareholders of Lamar
Bancshares, Inc. on or about                     , 2004.
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LAMAR BANCSHARES, INC.
555 N. Dowlen Road

Beaumont, Texas 77706

NOTICE OF SPECIAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS

Beaumont, Texas
                    , 2004

     A special meeting of shareholders of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. will be held on                     , 2004, at 4:00 p.m., local
time, at the offices of Lamar Bancshares, Inc., 555 N. Dowlen Rd., Beaumont, Texas, to vote upon the following
matters:

     1. A proposal to approve an Agreement and Plan of Merger pursuant to which, among other things, Lamar
Bancshares, Inc. will merge into MidSouth Bancorp, Inc., and on the effective date of the merger each outstanding
share of common stock of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. will be converted into the right to receive shares of MidSouth
Bancorp, Inc. common stock and cash;

     2. A proposal to adjourn the meeting to a later date or dates, if necessary, to permit further solicitation of proxies if
there are not sufficient votes at the time of the meeting to approve the merger agreement; and

     3. Such other matters as may properly come before the special meeting or any adjournments thereof.

     Only shareholders of record at the close of business on                     , 2004, are entitled to notice of and to vote at
the special meeting.

     Dissenting shareholders who comply with the procedural requirements of the Texas Business Corporation Act will
be entitled to receive payment of the fair cash value of their shares.

     Your vote is important regardless of the number of shares you own. Whether or not you plan to attend the meeting,
please mark, date and sign the enclosed proxy and return it promptly in the enclosed stamped envelope. Your proxy
may be revoked by appropriate notice to Lamar Bancshares, Inc.�s Secretary at any time prior to the voting thereof.

By Order of the Board of Directors
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QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS ABOUT VOTING PROCEDURES
FOR THE SPECIAL MEETING

Q: What Do I Need to Do Now?

A: First, carefully read this document in its entirety.

Second, vote your shares of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. common stock for or against the proposed merger agreement
by either:

1. Marking, signing, dating and returning your enclosed proxy card to Lamar Bancshares, Inc. in the enclosed
prepaid envelope; or

2. Attending the special meeting and submitting a properly executed proxy or ballot.
Please do not send in your stock certificates with the proxy card.

Q: Why Is My Vote Important?

A: A majority of the outstanding shares of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. common stock must be represented in person or
by proxy at the meeting for there to be a quorum. If you do not vote using one of the methods described above, it
will be more difficult for Lamar Bancshares, Inc. to obtain the necessary quorum to hold its meeting. Failure to
secure a quorum on the date set for the meeting would require an adjournment that would cause Lamar
Bancshares, Inc. to incur considerable additional expense.

Also, the merger agreement must be approved by the affirmative vote of the holders of two-thirds of the shares of
Lamar Bancshares, Inc. common stock represented at the meeting in person or by proxy. Directors and executive
officers of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. who own an aggregate of 111,107 shares, or approximately 49.75% of the
outstanding Lamar Bancshares, Inc., common stock, have agreed, subject to certain conditions, to vote in favor of
the merger agreement.

Q. Can I Change My Vote?

A. Yes. If you did not vote through a broker, there are several ways you can change your vote after you have
submitted a proxy.

� You may send a written notice to Lamar Bancshares, Inc.�s Secretary stating that you would like to revoke
your proxy; or

� You may complete and submit a new proxy card to Lamar Bancshares, Inc. Any earlier-dated proxy will be
revoked automatically; or

� You may attend the meeting and vote in person. Any earlier-dated proxy will be revoked. However, please
note that simply attending the meeting without voting will not revoke your earlier proxy; you must also
vote at that meeting.

If you did vote through a broker, you must follow directions you receive from your broker to change your vote.

Q. If My Shares Are Held in �Street Name� by My Broker, Will My Broker Automatically Vote My Shares for
Me?
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A. No. If your shares are held in a brokerage account and you do not provide your broker with instructions on how to
vote those shares, your broker will not be permitted to vote them. Therefore, you should be sure to provide your
broker with instructions on how to vote these shares. If you do not give voting instructions to your broker, you
will, in effect, be voting against the merger.

1
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Q. Should I Send My Stock Certificates Now?

A. No. Assuming the proposed merger is approved, MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. will send to you a letter of transmittal
containing written instructions for exchanging Lamar Bancshares, Inc. stock certificates after the closing of the
merger. Please do not send in any Lamar Bancshares, Inc. stock certificates until you have received these written
instructions. However, if you are not sure where your stock certificates are located, now would be a good time to
locate them so you do not encounter any delays in processing your exchange. Likewise, if your stock certificates
are lost, please contact Ron D. Reed, President, Lamar Bancshares, Inc. at (409) 838-4781, ext. 311, to find out
how to get a replacement certificate.

Q. When Do You Expect the Merger To Be Completed?

A. We currently expect to complete the merger during the third quarter of 2004, assuming all the conditions to
completion of the merger, including obtaining the approval of Lamar Bancshares, Inc.�s shareholders at the
meeting and receiving regulatory approvals, have been fulfilled on a timely basis. Fulfilling some of these
conditions, such as receiving certain governmental clearances or approvals, is not entirely within our control. If all
the conditions to completion of the merger have not been fulfilled at that time, we expect to complete the merger
as quickly as practicable once the conditions are fulfilled.

Q. Who Do I Call if I Have Questions About the Meeting or the Merger?

A. You should direct any questions regarding the meeting of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. shareholders or the merger to
Ron D. Reed, President, Lamar Bancshares, Inc. at (409) 838-4781, ext. 311.

2
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SUMMARY

This summary highlights selected information from this document and may not contain all of the information that is
important to you. To understand the merger fully and for a more complete description of the legal terms of the
merger, you should read carefully this entire document and the other documents to which we have referred you. See
�Where You Can Find More Information� beginning on page 12. Page references are included in this summary to direct
you to a more complete description of the topics.

The Companies

     MidSouth Bancorp, Inc., a Louisiana corporation, is a bank holding company that owns all of the outstanding stock
of MidSouth National Bank. Both companies� principal executive offices are at 102 Versailles Boulevard, Lafayette,
Louisiana 70501, and their telephone number is (337) 237-8343.

     Lamar Bancshares, Inc. is a Texas corporation that owns all the stock of Lamar Delaware Financial Corporation,
which in turn owns all the stock of Lamar Bank. Its principal executive offices are at 555 North Dowlen Road,
Beaumont, Texas 77706, and its telephone number is (409) 838-4781.

     For where you can find more information about these companies, please see �Where You Can Find More
Information� beginning on page 12.

The Special Meeting

Date; Voting. A special meeting of shareholders of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. will be held on                     , 2004, as
described in the accompanying Notice of Special Meeting of Shareholders. Only record holders of the common stock
of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. on July 1, 2004 are entitled to notice of and to vote at the meeting. On that date there were
222,339 shares of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. common stock outstanding, each of which is entitled to one vote on each
matter properly to come before the meeting. See �Introductory Statement� beginning on page 13.

Purpose. The purpose of the meeting is to vote upon a proposal to approve an Agreement and Plan of Merger that
will merge Lamar Bancshares, Inc. into MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. Shareholders of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. will receive
shares of Common Stock of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. and cash for each Lamar Bancshares, Inc. share, as described
below under �Conversion of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. Common Stock� beginning on page 24.

Vote Required. The merger agreement must be approved by a two-thirds vote of the Lamar Bancshares, Inc.
common stock present at the special meeting and eligible to vote. Directors and executive officers of Lamar
Bancshares, Inc. who own an aggregate of 111,107 shares, or approximately 49.75% of the outstanding Lamar
Bancshares, Inc. common stock, have agreed, subject to certain conditions, to vote in favor of the merger agreement.

Material Federal Income Tax Consequences (page 31)

     Each Lamar Bancshares, Inc. shareholder should not recognize gain or loss for the merger consideration received
except with respect to the receipt of cash. BECAUSE OF THE COMPLEXITY OF THE TAX LAWS, EACH
SHAREHOLDER SHOULD CONSULT HIS TAX ADVISOR CONCERNING THE APPLICABLE FEDERAL,
STATE AND LOCAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES OF THE MERGER.

Opinion of Lamar Bancshares, Inc.�s Financial Advisor (page 16)
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     On April 6, 2004, The Bank Advisory Group, L.L.C., financial advisor to Lamar Bancshares, Inc. provided an oral
presentation and opinion to the board of directors of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. that, as of March 2, 2004, based on and
subject to the various assumptions made, the factors considered, the review undertaken and the limitations stated in
the opinion, the merger consideration is fair to the holders of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. common stock from a financial
point of view.

     The Bank Advisory Group�s opinion and presentation to the Lamar Bancshares, Inc. board of directors were among
the many factors taken into consideration by the Lamar Bancshares, Inc. board of directors in making its
determination to approve and to recommend that Lamar Bancshares, Inc. shareholders approve the merger. The

3
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Bank Advisory Group�s written opinion is attached as Appendix A to this proxy statement/prospectus. The opinion sets
forth assumptions, limitations and matters considered in the review undertaken in connection with the opinion. The
opinion does not constitute a recommendation by The Bank Advisory Group to you as to whether or not you should
vote in favor of the merger or as to any other matter relating to the merger. You should read the opinion, which is
attached as Appendix A, carefully and in its entirety.

Recommendation of Lamar Bancshares, Inc.�s Board of Directors (page 16)

     The financial and other terms of the merger agreement were arrived at through arm�s length negotiations between
representatives of the companies. The board of directors of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. believes that the merger agreement
is in the best interests of shareholders, has approved the merger agreement and unanimously recommends to
shareholders the approval of the merger as set forth in the merger agreement.

The Merger Agreement (page 15)

Conversion of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. Common Stock (page 24). On the effective date of the merger, subject to
adjustments as discussed below, each outstanding share of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. common stock will be converted
into:

� a number of shares of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. common stock equal to $12,556,351 divided by $34, and
further divided by the number of shares of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. common stock outstanding on the effective
date of the merger; and

� $10,494,000 cash less (i) the cash amount paid to Lamar Bancshares, Inc. option holders for options cancelled
on the closing date of the merger pursuant to the merger agreement and (ii) the excess over $200,000 of
Lamar�s legal, accounting and investment banking fees related to the transaction, other than certain fees
specified in the merger agreement, plus the amount paid to Lamar Bancshares, Inc. by option holders after the
date of the merger agreement in order to exercise any options, with the result being divided by the number of
shares of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. common stock outstanding on the effective date.

     If on the closing date of the merger, the average closing sales price of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. common stock on
the American Stock Exchange for the ten trading days ending the day before such closing date (�Average Price�) is less
than $31.50 per share, MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. shall adjust the conversion rate by multiplying the conversion rate by
1.07937. If on the closing date the Average Price exceeds $36.50, the conversion rate shall be adjusted by multiplying
the conversion rate by 0.93151. If the Average Price is below $29.00, Lamar Bancshares, Inc. may terminate the
merger transaction.

     Instead of issuing any fractional shares of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. common stock, each shareholder of Lamar
Bancshares, Inc. who would otherwise be entitled to a fractional share will receive a cash payment, without interest,
equal to the fraction multiplied by the market value of a share of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. common stock, as
determined in accordance with the merger agreement.

Conditions to the Merger (page 25). In addition to approval by the shareholders of Lamar Bancshares, Inc.,
consummation of the merger agreement is conditioned upon, among other things:

� receipt of required regulatory approvals, and the expiration of all applicable waiting periods; and

� certain other conditions customary for agreements of this sort, such as the accuracy of representations and
warranties and the compliance with all agreements.
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     The companies intend to consummate the merger as soon as practicable after all of the conditions have been met or
waived. MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. has filed applications seeking the required regulatory approvals and expects to
receive them by August 31, 2004. The approvals may not be obtained, by then or ever, and the other conditions to
consummation of the merger agreement also may not be satisfied by such date or at all.

Waiver, Amendment and Termination (page 28). Each of the companies may waive any of the conditions to its
obligation to consummate the merger agreement other than shareholder and regulatory approvals. The merger

4
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agreement may also be amended at any time before or after shareholder approval by mutual agreement, but no
amendment made after shareholder approval may alter the amount or type of consideration into which Lamar
Bancshares, Inc. common stock will be converted or alter the merger agreement in a manner that would adversely
affect any shareholder of Lamar Bancshares, Inc.

     The merger agreement may be terminated at any time before the merger is completed by mutual consent, or by
either party:

� in the event of a material breach by the other party of any representation, warranty or covenant in the merger
agreement that cannot be cured by the earlier of (i) 10 days after written notice of such breach is delivered to
the breaching party, (ii) the effective date and time specified in the merger documents filed with the
Secretaries of State of Louisiana and Texas, or (iii)January 3, 2005;

� if (i) all conditions to closing set forth in the merger agreement have not been met or waived by January 3,
2005, or (ii) any such conditions cannot be met by such date and has not been waived by the party in whose
favor it runs, or (iii) the merger has not occurred by such date;

� if (i) the merger agreement is disapproved by the shareholders of Lamar Bancshares, Inc., or (ii) any agency
whose approval is required for the merger denies any application for such approval or notifies such party that
it intends to impose conditions to its approval that are not reasonably acceptable to such party; or

� on the basis of certain other grounds specified in the merger agreement.
     If Lamar Bancshares, Inc.�s board of directors determines that another proposal is more favorable to Lamar
Bancshares, Inc.�s shareholders from a financial point of view than the proposed merger, it may terminate the merger
agreement subject to MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.�s right of first refusal to submit a revised proposal.

Effect of Termination (page 29)

     If the merger agreement is terminated, the parties will be relieved of all obligations and liabilities, except that:

� a breaching party will not be relieved of liability for certain breaches as set forth in the merger agreement;

� each party will remain bound by those certain provisions of the merger agreement that are intended to survive
any termination of the merger agreement; and

� under certain circumstances, MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. shall be paid $700,000 if Lamar Bancshares, Inc.
accepts an acquisition proposal within nine months after termination, and $400,000 if Lamar Bancshares, Inc.
accepts an acquisition proposal after such nine-month period but within two years after termination.

Financial Interests of Lamar Bancshares, Inc.�s Directors and Executive Officers in the Merger (page 29)

Indemnification and Insurance (page 30). MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. has agreed to allow Lamar Bancshares, Inc. to
purchase a continuation of its current officers� and directors� liability insurance for a period no longer than two years
after the merger.

     MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. has also agreed to indemnify Lamar Bancshares, Inc.�s officers, directors and controlling
persons against expenses and liabilities arising out of alleged misstatements or omissions in this document or the
registration statement of which it is a part.
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Employment Agreements (page 30). On the effective date, Lonnie Weir, Ron D. Reed, Tim Zajonc, Travis Riley,
David McCrady, Lance Gordon, Wilma Pace, Linda Ott Reed, Carole Malmberg, Jason Riley, Linda Allen and David
Locke of Lamar Bank will continue as employees of Lamar Bank under employment agreements to be entered into
with the consent of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.

Acceleration of Exercisability of Option�s (page 30). Prior to the consummation of the merger, Lamar Bancshares,
Inc. will accelerate the exercisability of all previously granted Lamar Bancshares, Inc. stock options that are not
currently exercisable.

5
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Any such options not exercised at the effective date of the merger will be cancelled, and the holders of such cancelled
options will receive from MidSouth Bancorp, Inc., (a) a cash amount equal to the same consideration payable to
shareholders of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. common stock under the merger agreement, less the exercise price for the
options, plus (b) a cash amount equal to the amount of tax savings realized by MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. attributable to
the consideration paid under (a) of this paragraph for the cancelled options.

MidSouth Bancorp, Inc., Board of Directors (page 30). MidSouth Bancorp will cause to be appointed to its Board
of Directors, to take office immediately after the effective date of the merger, Lonnie Weir, Ron Reed and Joe
Tortorice, Jr., for the terms as set forth in the merger agreement.

Accounting Treatment (page 30)

     MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. will account for the merger as a purchase transaction. The purchase method of accounting
involves adding Lamar Bancshares, Inc.�s assets and liabilities, estimated at their fair value at the effective date of the
merger, to the recorded assets of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. Therefore, the financial statements of MidSouth Bancorp,
Inc. issued after the merger will reflect these values from Lamar Bancshares, Inc. and will not be restated retroactively
to reflect the historical financial position or results of operations of Lamar Bancshares, Inc.

Dissenters� Rights (page 34)

     Shareholders of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. will have the right to dissent from the merger agreement if they comply
with the specific procedures required by the Texas Business Corporation Act. Dissenting shareholders who comply
with the procedural requirements will be entitled to receive payment of the fair cash value of their shares.

PER SHARE FINANCIAL DATA OF LAMAR BANCSHARES, INC.

     Per share financial data for Lamar Bancshares, Inc. with respect to the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003, and
the three months ended March 31, 2004, is set forth below.

For the Three Months
Ended

For the Year
Ended

March 31, 2004
December 31,

2003

(unaudited)
Earnings per common share $ 2.22 $ 8.86
Cash dividends declared $ 2.00 $ 9.05
Book value per share $ 58.22 $ 56.99
Common shares outstanding at end of period 222,339 216,564

PER SHARE FINANCIAL DATA OF MIDSOUTH BANCORP, INC.

     Per share financial data for MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. with respect to the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003, and
the three months ended March 31, 2004, is set forth below.

For the Year Ended
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For the Three Months
Ended

March 31, 2004 December 31, 2003

(unaudited)
Basic earnings per share (1) $ 0.52 $ 1.99
Diluted earnings per share $ 0.50 $ 1.91
Dividends declared per share $ 0.06 $ 0.32
Book value per share $ 10.65 $ 10.09
Average shares outstanding:
Basic 3,184,337 3,174,880
Diluted 3,334,153 3,308,166

(1) On August 29, 2003, MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. paid a 10% stock dividend on its common stock to holders of
record on July 31, 2003. Per common share data has been adjusted accordingly.

6
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SELECTED UNAUDITED PRO FORMA COMBINED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

     The following tables present unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements for MidSouth Bancorp,
Inc. after giving effect to the completion of MidSouth Bancorp Inc.�s proposed acquisition of Lamar Bancshares, Inc.,
with respect to the unaudited pro forma combined statement of condition as of March 31, 2004 and the related
unaudited pro forma combined statements of income for the year ended December 31, 2003 and for the three months
ended March 31, 2004.

     MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. intends to acquire all of the outstanding common stock of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. in a
transaction to be accounted for under the purchase accounting method in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America. MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. will pay approximately $10,495,000 in
cash and issue an estimated 370,000 shares (based on an assumed market value of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. stock of
$34 per share) of its common stock valued at approximately $12,555,000. MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. will also incur
acquisition costs presently estimated at approximately $255,000. In connection with this acquisition, MidSouth
Bancorp, Inc. intends to issue $6,000,000 of junior subordinated debentures (i.e., trust preferred stock) in order to fund
a portion of the acquisition.

     The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements gives the effect of the proposed acquisition
under the purchase accounting method in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America. The unaudited pro forma combined financial statements of income combine the historical
consolidated financial statements for MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. and Lamar Bancshares, Inc.

     The information as of March 31, 2004 and for the year ended December 31, 2003 and the three months ended
March 31, 2004 is derived from:

� the unaudited consolidated financial statements of Lamar for the three months ended March 31, 2004, which
are included elsewhere in this proxy statement/prospectus;

� the audited consolidated financial statements of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. for the year ended December 31,
2003, including the related notes, which are included elsewhere in this proxy statement/prospectus;

� MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.�s unaudited consolidated financial statements for the three months ended March 31,
2004, which are incorporated by reference into this prospectus from MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.�s Form 10-Q for
the three months ended March 31, 2004 accompanying this proxy statement/prospectus; and

� MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.�s audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2003,
including the related notes, which are incorporated by reference into this proxy statement/prospectus from
MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.�s Form 10-KSB for the year ended December 31, 2003, including MidSouth Bancorp,
Inc.�s accompanying annual report to shareholders.

     MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. anticipates that the acquisition will provide the combined company with future financial
benefits, such as reduced operating expenses and opportunities to earn more revenue. However, MidSouth Bancorp,
Inc. does not reflect these anticipated cost savings and benefits in the unaudited pro forma financial information.
While the unaudited pro forma financial information is helpful in showing the financial characteristics of the
combined companies, it is not intended to show how the combined companies would have actually performed had
they been combined throughout the periods, or how the combined companies would perform in the future. MidSouth
Bancorp, Inc. has included in the unaudited pro forma financial statements all the adjustments, consisting of normal
recurring adjustments believed necessary for a fair statement of results of the historical periods.
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     Given the information regarding the acquisition, the actual financial position and results of operations will differ,
perhaps even significantly, from the unaudited pro forma amounts reflected below because, among other things:

� assumptions used in preparing the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements may be
revised in the future due to changes in values of assets, including the finalization of the calculation of the core
deposit intangible asset and changes in operating results between the dates of the unaudited pro forma
financial information and the date on which the acquisition is completed; and

� adjustments may need to be made to the unaudited historical financial information upon which such pro forma
information was based.

7
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MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.
Unaudited Pro Forma Combined Statement of Condition
(Dollars in thousands except
share data)
As of March 31, 2004

Historical Historical Historical Pro Forma Pro Forma
ASSETS MidSouth Lamar Combined Adjustments Combined

Cash and due from banks $ 12,209 $ 4,971 $ 17,180 $ 17,180
Federal funds sold 21,900 4,600 26,500 (10,745)(a) 21,755

6,000(b)

Total cash and cash
equivalents 34,109 9,571 43,680 38,935
Interest-bearing deposits in
banks 2 2 2
Securities available-for-sale 118,562 21,006 139,568 139,568
Securities held-to-maturity 23,368 23,368 23,368
Loans, net 261,287 74,701 335,988 335,988
Bank premises and
equipment, net 11,791 2,814 14,605 14,605
Other real estate owned, net 247 247 247
Accrued interest receivable 2,611 461 3,072 3,072
Goodwill, net 432 1,430 1,862 (1,430)(a) 10,417

9,985(a)
Intangibles 540 540 2,700(a) 3,240
Other assets 1,963 2,476 4,439 4,439

TOTAL ASSETS $454,912 $112,459 $567,371 $ 6,510 $ 573,881

LIABILITIES &
STOCKHOLDERS� EQUITY
Deposits:
Non-interest bearing $ 95,748 $ 21,631 $117,379 $ 117,379
Interest bearing 311,778 77,105 388,883 388,883

Total deposits 407,526 98,736 506,262 506,262
Securities sold under
repurchase agreements 4,621 4,621 4,621
Other liabilities 1,608 778 2,386 900(a) 3,286
Junior subordinated
debentures 7,000 7,000 6,000(b) 13,000
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Total liabilities 420,755 99,514 520,269 6,900 527,169
Stockholders� Equity:
Common stock 321 245 566 37(a) $ 358

(245)(a)
Surplus 18,817 3,019 21,836 12,518(a) 31,335

(3,019)(a)
Unearned ESOP shares (78) (78) (78)
Unrealized (losses) gains on
securities available-for-sale,
net of tax 1,241 158 1,399 (158)(a) 1,241
Retained earnings 13,942 10,804 24,746 (10,804)(a) 13,942
Treasury stock (86) (1,281) (1,367) 1,281(a) (86)

TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS�
EQUITY 34,157 12,945 47,102 (390) 46,712

TOTAL LIABILITIES &
STOCKHOLDERS� EQUITY $454,912 $112,459 $567,371 $ 6,510 $ 573,881

See accompanying notes to unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements. MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.
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MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.
Unaudited Pro Forma Combined Statement of Income
Three Months Ended March 31, 2004
(Dollars in thousands except share data)

Historical Historical Historical Pro Forma Pro Forma
MidSouth Lamar Combined Adjustments Combined

INTEREST INCOME:
Loans, including fees $ 4,944 $1,191 $6,135 $ 6,135
Securities
Taxable 628 249 877 877
Nontaxable 538 538 538
Federal funds sold 20 8 28 (15)(c) 13

TOTAL 6,130 1,448 7,578 (15) 7,563
INTEREST EXPENSE:
Deposits 895 256 1,151 1,151
Securities sold under repurchase
agreements, federal funds
purchased and advances 18 18 18
Long term debt 184 184 60(d) 244

TOTAL 1,097 256 1,353 60 1,413

NET INTEREST INCOME 5,033 1,192 6,225 (75) 6,150
PROVISION FOR LOAN LOSSES 230 23 253 253

NET INTEREST INCOME AFTER
PROVISION FOR LOAN LOSSES 4,803 1,169 5,972 (75) 5,897

OTHER OPERATING INCOME:
Service charges on deposits 1,403 381 1,784 1,784
Gains on securities, net 56 56
Credit life insurance 20 20 20
Other charges and fees 438 196 634 634

TOTAL OTHER INCOME 1,861 633 2,494 2,494

OTHER EXPENSES:
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Salaries and employee benefits 2,151 723 2,874 2,874
Occupancy expense 981 194 1,175 1,175
Other 1,265 430 1,695 120(e) 1,815

TOTAL OTHER EXPENSES 4,397 1,347 5,744 120 5,864

INCOME BEFORE INCOME
TAXES 2,267 455 2,722 (195) 2,527
PROVISION FOR INCOME
TAXES 606 606 85(f) 691

NET INCOME $ 1,661 $ 455 $2,116 ($280) $ 1,836

EARNINGS PER SHARE:
Basic $ 0.52 $ 0.52
Diluted $ 0.50 $ 0.50
SHARES USED IN
COMPUTATON OF EARNINGS
PER SHARE
Basic 3,184,337 3,553,337
Diluted 3,334,153 3,703,153

See accompanying notes to unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements.
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MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.
Unaudited Pro Forma Combined Statement of Income
Year Ended December 31, 2003
(Dollars in thousands except share data)

Historical Historical Historical Pro Forma Pro Forma
MidSouth Lamar Combined Adjustments Combined

INTEREST INCOME:
Loans, including fees $ 19,828 $ 5,052 $24,880 $ 24,880
Securities
Taxable 2,323 1,096 3,419 3,419
Nontaxable 2,015 2,015 2,015
Federal funds sold 64 47 111 (60)(c) 51

TOTAL 24,230 6,195 30,425 (60) 30,365
INTEREST EXPENSE:
Deposits 3,879 1,280 5,159 5,159
Securities sold under repurchase
agreements, federal funds purchased
and advances 66 66 66
Long term debt 734 734 240(d) 974

TOTAL 4,679 1,280 5,959 240 6,199

NET INTEREST INCOME 19,551 4,915 24,466 (300) 24,166
PROVISION FOR LOAN LOSSES 550 277 827 827

NET INTEREST INCOME AFTER
PROVISION FOR LOAN LOSSES 19,001 4,638 23,639 (300) 23,339

NON INTEREST INCOME:
Service charges on deposits 5,273 1,683 6,956 6,956
Gains on securities, net 98 98 98
Credit life insurance 165 165 165
Other charges and fees 2,061 998 3,059 3,059

TOTAL OTHER INCOME 7,597 2,681 10,278 10,278

OTHER EXPENSES:
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Salaries and employee benefits 8,649 2,888 11,537 11,537
Occupancy expense 3,882 790 4,672 4,672
Other 5,440 1,721 7,161 510(e) 7,671

TOTAL OTHER EXPENSES 17,971 5,399 23,370 510 23,880

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES 8,627 1,920 10,547 (810) 9,737
PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES 2,294 2,294 380(f) 2,674

NET INCOME $ 6,333 $ 1,920 $ 8,253 ($1,190) $ 7,063

EARNINGS PER SHARE:
Basic $ 1.99 $ 1.99
Diluted $ 1.91 $ 1.92
SHARES USED IN COMPUTATION
OF EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic 3,174,880 3,543,880
Diluted 3,308,166 3,677,166

See accompanying notes to unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements.
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MidSouth Bancorp, Inc and Subsidiaries
Notes to Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Statements.

1. ACQUISITION OF LAMAR BANCSHARES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. intends to acquire all of the outstanding common stock of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. in a
transaction to be accounted for under the purchase accounting method in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America. MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. will pay approximately $10,495,000
in cash and will issue an estimated 369,000 shares ( based on an assumed market value of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.
stock of $34 per share) of its common stock valued at approximately $12,555,000. MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. will
also incur acquisition costs presently estimated at $250,000 and issue $6,000,000 of junior subordinated
debentures.

2. KEY TO PRO FORMA ADJUSTMENTS

a) To record the issuance of common stock, the payment of cash to the Lamar Bancshares, Inc.
stockholders for acquisition costs, the adjustment of Lamar Bancshares, Inc.�s assets and liabilities to
fair value, and the elimination of the Lamar Bancshares, Inc. equity accounts:

Cash paid to Lamar Bancshares, Inc.�s stockholders (10,495)
Cash paid for acquisition costs (250)
To record estimated fair value of the core deposit intangible of Lamar 2,700
To eliminate preacquisition goodwill on Lamar�s financial statements (1,430)
To record goodwill relating to acquisition 9,985
To record estimated deferred income taxes (900)
To record the par value of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. common stock to be issued to the
Lamar Bancshares, Inc. shareholders 37
To record the excess of fair value over par value of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. common
stock to be issued to the Lamar Bancshares, Inc. shareholders 12,518
Common stock-par value-Lamar (245)
Additional paid in capital-Lamar (3,019)
Unrealized gain on securities available for sale-Lamar (158)
Retained earnings-Lamar (10,804)
Treasury stock-Lamar 1,281

b) To record issuance of junior subordinated debentures 6,000

c) To record effect of interest income not earned on funds used in Lamar Bancshares,
Inc. acquisition less proceeds from issuance of junior subordinated debentures:
Three months ended March 31, 2004 15
Year ended December 31, 2003 60

d) To record interest expense on junior subordinated debentures at an average rate of
4%:
Three months ended March 31, 2004 60
Year ended December 31, 2003 240

e) To record estimated amortization of core deposit intangible using accelerated method
and an estimated life of 10 years:
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Three months ended March 31, 2004 120
Year ended December 31, 2003 510

f) To record income taxes relating to (1) the historic income of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. which was not
subject to income taxes due to Lamar Bancshares, Inc. election under subchapter S and (2) the effect
of adjustments c, d and e above:
Three months ended March 31, 2004 85
Year ended December 31, 2003 380

11
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RECENT MARKET PRICES

     On May 26, 2004, the last business day before the public announcement of the merger agreement, the closing sales
price for a share of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. common stock, as quoted on the American Stock Exchange, was $30.00.
On                     , 2004, the closing sales price for a share of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. common stock, was
$                    . No assurance can be given as to the sales price of a share of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. common stock on
the effective date of the merger.

     There is no established public trading market in which shares of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. common stock are
regularly traded, nor are there any uniformly quoted prices for Lamar Bancshares, Inc. shares. The last sale of Lamar
Bancshares, Inc. common stock prior to the execution of the merger agreement known to Lamar Bancshares, Inc.�s
management occurred as a result of the exercise of stock options on March 22, 2004 at $62.75 per share, when the fair
market value of the stock was $69.50 per share.

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

     MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. files annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other information with the
SEC. You may read and copy any of those filings at the SEC�s public reference room in Washington D.C., which is
located at the following address: Public Reference Room, Judiciary Plaza, Room 1024, 450 Fifth Street, N.W.,
Washington, D.C. 20549.

     You can request copies of these documents, upon payment of a duplicating fee, by writing to the SEC. Please call
the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further information on the operation of the SEC�s public reference rooms. The filings
are also available to the public from document retrieval services and at the SEC�s Internet website
(http://www.sec.gov).

     MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. has filed with the SEC a registration statement on Form S-4, and this document is part of
that registration statement. As permitted by the SEC�s rules, this document does not contain all of the information you
can find in the registration statement. The registration statement is available for inspection and copying as set forth
above.

     The SEC allows MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. to �incorporate by reference� information into this document, which means
important information can be disclosed to you by referring you to another document filed separately with the SEC.
The information incorporated by reference is considered to be part of this document, except for any information
contained directly in this document or in later filed documents incorporated by reference in this document.

     Copies of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.�s Annual Report to Shareholders on Form 10-KSB for the year ended
December 31, 2003 and Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2004 incorporated by
reference into this proxy statement/prospectus and should be read carefully in conjunction herewith. In addition, this
proxy statement/prospectus incorporates by reference the documents set forth below that MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. has
previously filed with the SEC and that contain important information about MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. and its business:

� MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.�s annual report on Form 10-KSB for the year ended December 31, 2003;

� MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.�s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2004;

� MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.�s current reports on Form 8-K filed January 27, 2004, April 21, 2004, and May 28,
2004;

Edgar Filing: MIDSOUTH BANCORP INC - Form S-4

30



� The description of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.�s common stock contained in MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.�s registration
statement on Form 8-A filed July 25, 1995.

     MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. also incorporates by reference additional documents that may be filed with the SEC
between the date of this proxy statement/prospectus and the completion of the merger or the termination of the merger
agreement (other than information in such future filings deemed, under SEC rules, not to have been filed). These
include periodic reports, such as annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and current reports on
Form 8-K, as well as proxy statements.

     Any statement contained in a document incorporated or deemed to be incorporated by reference shall be deemed to
be modified or superseded to the extent that a statement contained herein or in any other document subsequently filed
and incorporated or deemed to be incorporated by reference herein modifies or supersedes such statement. Any
statement so modified or superseded shall not be deemed, except as so modified or superseded, to constitute a part of
this proxy statement/prospectus.

     You may request a copy of all documents incorporated by reference in this document but not otherwise
accompanying this document, as well as the merger agreement, at no cost, by writing or telephoning MidSouth
Bancorp, Inc. at the following address:

102 Versailles Boulevard
Lafayette, Louisiana 70501

(337) 237-8343

     To obtain timely delivery, you should request desired information no later than five business days before the date
of the special meeting, or by                     , 2004.

     You should rely only on the information contained or incorporated by reference in this document. Neither
MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. nor Lamar Bancshares, Inc. has authorized anyone else to provide you with information that
is different from that which is contained in this document. Moreover, neither MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. nor Lamar
Bancshares, Inc. is making an offer to sell or soliciting an offer to buy any securities other than the MidSouth
Bancorp, Inc. common stock to be issued by MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. in the merger, and neither MidSouth Bancorp,
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Inc. nor Lamar Bancshares, Inc. is making an offer of such securities in any state where the offer is not permitted. The
information contained in this document speaks only as of its date unless the information specifically indicates that
another date applies.

INTRODUCTORY STATEMENT

General

     This proxy statement/prospectus is furnished to the shareholders of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. in connection with the
solicitation of proxies on behalf of Lamar Bancshares, Inc.�s board of directors for use at a special meeting of
shareholders of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. to be held on the date and at the time and place specified in the accompanying
notice.

     Lamar Bancshares, Inc. and MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. have each supplied all information with respect to it and its
consolidated subsidiaries.

Purpose of the Meeting

     The purpose of the meeting is to consider and vote upon a proposal to approve an Agreement and Plan of Merger
between Lamar Bancshares, Inc. and MidSouth Bancorp, Inc., pursuant to which, among other things, Lamar
Bancshares, Inc. will merge into MidSouth Bancorp, Inc., and each outstanding share of common stock of Lamar
Bancshares, Inc. will be converted into the right to receive shares of common stock of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc., and
cash.

     At the meeting, shareholders will also be asked, if necessary, to consider and vote upon a proposal to adjourn the
meeting to permit further solicitation of proxies if there are not sufficient votes at the time of the meeting to approve
the merger agreement and to consider any other matters that may be properly submitted for a vote at the meeting.

Shares Entitled to Vote; Quorum; Vote Required

     Only holders of record of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. common stock at the close of business on July 1, 2004 are
entitled to notice of and to vote at the meeting. On that date, there were 222,339 shares of Lamar Bancshares, Inc.
common stock outstanding, each of which is entitled to one vote on each matter properly brought before the meeting.
The presence at the meeting, in person or by proxy, of the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of common
stock of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. is necessary to constitute a quorum.

     The merger agreement must be approved by the affirmative vote of the holders of at least two-thirds of the Lamar
Bancshares, Inc. common stock present, in person or by proxy, at the meeting. An abstention will have the effect of a
vote against the merger agreement. A broker �non-vote� in person or by proxy will be counted for purposes of
determining a quorum but will not be counted in determining the voting power present with respect to the vote on the
merger agreement and thus will have no effect on the vote.

     The affirmative vote of a majority of the votes cast on the matter at the meeting is required to approve the proposal
to adjourn the meeting if necessary to permit further solicitation of proxies on the proposal to approve the merger
agreement and any other matter properly submitted to shareholders for their consideration at the meeting. Because of
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the vote required for the proposal to adjourn the meeting, abstentions and broker �non-votes� will have no effect on this
proposal.

     Directors and executive officers of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. beneficially owning an aggregate of 111,107 shares, or
approximately 49.75% of the outstanding Lamar Bancshares, Inc. common stock, have agreed to vote in favor of the
merger agreement.

Solicitation, Voting and Revocation of Proxies

     In addition to soliciting proxies by mail, directors, officers and other employees of Lamar Bancshares, Inc., and
MidSouth Bancorp, Inc., without receiving additional compensation, may solicit proxies by telephone, fax, e-
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mail and in person. Arrangements will also be made with brokerage firms and other custodians, nominees and
fiduciaries to forward solicitation materials to the beneficial owners of shares of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. common
stock, and Lamar Bancshares, Inc. will reimburse such parties for reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred. The
cost of soliciting proxies is being paid by Lamar Bancshares, Inc.

     The form of proxy that accompanies this proxy statement/prospectus permits each holder of record of Lamar
Bancshares, Inc. common stock on the record date to vote on all matters that properly come before the meeting. Where
a shareholder specifies his choice on the accompanying form of proxy with respect to the proposal to approve the
merger agreement, the shares represented by the proxy will be voted in accordance with that specification. If no
specification is made, the shares will be voted in favor of the merger agreement and to adjourn the meeting, if
necessary. If you do not sign and return a proxy and specify on the proxy an instruction to vote against the merger
agreement, you will not be able to exercise dissenters� rights unless you attend the meeting in person and vote against
the merger agreement and give written notice of your dissent from the merger agreement at or prior to the meeting.
See �Dissenters� Rights.�

     A proxy may be revoked at any time before it is voted by:

� giving written notice of revocation at any time before its exercise to the Secretary of Lamar Bancshares, Inc.;

� executing and delivering to the Secretary at any time before its exercise a later dated proxy; or

� attending the meeting and voting in person.
RISK FACTORS RELATING TO THE MERGER

In addition to the other information contained in or incorporated by reference into this document, including
without limitation, MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.�s Annual Report on Form 10-KSB for the fiscal year ended December 31,
2003, and its Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the three months ended March 31, 2004, you should carefully
consider the following risk factors in deciding whether to vote to approve the merger agreement.

Because the market price of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. Common Stock will fluctuate, Lamar Bancshares, Inc.
shareholders cannot be sure of the number of shares they will receive.

     Upon completion of the merger, each share of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. common stock will be converted into shares
of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. common stock and cash pursuant to the terms of the merger agreement. The number of
shares of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. to be received by Lamar Bancshares, Inc. shareholders will be based on the average
closing sales price of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. common stock on the AMEX during the ten trading days ending on the
day before the completion of the merger. This average closing sales price may vary from the actual closing sales price
of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. common stock on the date we announced the merger, on the date that this proxy
statement-prospectus was mailed to Lamar Bancshares, Inc. shareholders, and on the date of the special meeting of the
Lamar Bancshares, Inc. shareholders. Any ultimate change in the closing sales price of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.
common stock during the ten days before completion of the merger will affect the number of shares that Lamar
Bancshares, Inc. shareholders will receive upon completion of the merger. Stock price changes may result from a
variety of factors, including general market and economic conditions, changes in our respective businesses, operations
and prospects, and regulatory considerations. Many of these factors are beyond our control.

     Accordingly, at the time of the meeting, Lamar Bancshares, Inc. shareholders will not necessarily know or be able
to calculate the number of shares they would receive or the exchange ratio used to determine the number of any shares
of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. common stock they would receive upon completion of the merger.
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We may fail to realize the anticipated benefits of the merger.

     The success of the merger will depend, in part, on our ability to realize the anticipated cost savings and revenue
enhancements from combining the businesses. To realize the anticipated benefits from the merger, we must
successfully combine the businesses in a manner that permits those cost savings and revenue enhancements to be
realized. If we are not able to achieve these objectives, the anticipated benefits of the merger may not be realized fully
or at all or may take longer to realize than expected.
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     MidSouth Bank and Lamar Bank have operated separately and, after the completion of the merger, will continue to
operate separately to a certain extent. It is possible, however, that the integration process could result in the loss of key
employees, the disruption of each company�s ongoing businesses or inconsistencies in standards, controls, procedures
and policies that adversely affect our ability to maintain relationships with clients, customers, depositors and
employees or to achieve the anticipated benefits of the merger.

The market price of the shares of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. common stock after the Merger may be affected by
factors different from those affecting the shares of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. currently.

     The businesses of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc., and Lamar Bancshares, Inc., differ in some respects (including
geographic locations, market competition and asset size) and, accordingly, the results of operations of the combined
company and the market price of the combined company�s shares of common stock may be affected by factors
different from those currently affecting the independent results of operations of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.

The volume of trading in MidSouth Bancorp, Inc., Common Stock is low, and shareholders who attempt to sell
their shares may receive less than they expected.

     The average weekly trading volume of MidSouth Bancorp., Inc. common stock over the last three months has been
7,725 shares, or 1,545 shares per day. A shareholder of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc., seeking to sell any appreciable
amount of his or her stock may not find sufficient buyers who will pay the current trading price of the stock as quoted
on the Amex and, therefore, may have to sell at a lower price.

THE MERGER AGREEMENT

     The following brief description does not describe all of the terms of the merger agreement. We encourage you to
obtain and read the merger agreement completely and carefully. It is the legal document that governs the merger.

Background of and Reasons for the Merger

     The Lamar Bancshares, Inc. Board of Directors periodically has reviewed Lamar Bank�s performance, compared its
performance with that of certain relatively comparable institutions, reviewed the limited market activity in Lamar
Bancshares, Inc.�s common stock, considered various business opportunities and strategies available to Lamar
Bancshares, Inc. and discussed the general economic, regulatory, competitive and business pressures affecting Lamar
Bancshares, Inc. In addition, the Lamar Bancshares, Inc. board, on an informal basis and during strategic planning
sessions, would periodically review merger and acquisition activity in the banking industry.

     The Lamar Bancshares, Inc. Board of Directors met on April 6, 2004, to review the terms and conditions of the
proposed merger. The Lamar Bancshares, Inc. Board of Directors carefully reviewed and considered, with the
assistance of its financial advisor and legal counsel, the financial and legal aspects of the proposed merger, as set forth
in MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.�s then proposed letter of intent. At a special meeting on May 27, 2004, the Lamar
Bancshares, Inc. Board of Directors authorized execution of the merger agreement and the other related agreements
and documents. Each director of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. also entered into a commitment agreement with MidSouth
Bancorp, Inc. obligating them to vote their shares in favor of the merger agreement and against any other transaction,
and agreeing to certain non-competition agreements.

     The Lamar Bancshares, Inc. Board of Directors has determined that the terms of the merger, the merger agreement,
and the proposed issuance of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. common stock and cash in connection with the merger are
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advisable and fair to, and in the best interest of, Lamar Bancshares, Inc. and its shareholders. In reaching its
determination, the Lamar Bancshares, Inc. Board of Directors considered a number of factors. The Lamar Bancshares,
Inc. board of directors did not assign any specific or relative weights to the factors considered, and individual directors
may have given different weights to different factors. The material factors considered were as follows:

� Information concerning the business, earnings, operations, financial condition, prospects, capital levels and
asset quality of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc., individually and as combined with Lamar Bancshares, Inc.

15

Edgar Filing: MIDSOUTH BANCORP INC - Form S-4

37



� The opinion rendered to the Lamar Bancshares, Inc. Board of Directors by Lamar Bancshares, Inc.�s financial
advisor that, as of the date of the opinion, and subject to the various assumptions made and limitations stated
in the written opinion, the merger consideration is fair, from a financial point of view, to holders of Lamar
Bancshares, Inc. common stock. The opinion of the financial advisor is attached as Appendix A and should be
reviewed for the assumptions made in connection with, and limitations on, such opinion.

� The terms of the merger agreement and other documents executed in connection with the merger.

� The current and prospective economic, competitive and regulatory environment facing each institution and
financial institutions generally.

� The results of the investigation conducted by the management of Lamar Bancshares, Inc., including
assessment of credit policies, asset quality, interest rate risk, litigation and adequacy of loan loss reserves.

� The Lamar Bancshares, Inc. board of directors�s familiarity with and review of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.�s
business, operations, earnings, prospects, financial condition, asset quality and capital levels.

� The opportunities for expense reductions, operating efficiencies and revenue enhancements in the combined
entity.

� The nature of, and likelihood of obtaining, the regulatory approvals that would be required for the merger.

� The additional liquidity provided by MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.�s common stock, which is traded on the
American Stock Exchange, compared to Lamar Bancshares, Inc.�s common stock, which is not regularly
traded on an established public trading market.

� Results that could be expected to be obtained by Lamar Bancshares, Inc. if it continued to operate
independently, and the likely benefits to stockholders of such course of action, as compared with the value of
the merger consideration being offered by MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.

Lamar Bancshares, Inc.�s board of directors unanimously recommends that the holders of Lamar
Bancshares, Inc. common stock vote �FOR� approval of the merger as set forth in the Agreement and Plan of
Merger.

Opinion of Lamar Bancshares, Inc.�s Financial Advisor

     Pursuant to an engagement letter dated February 25, 2004, signed and executed by Lamar Bancshares, Inc. on
March 8, 2004, Lamar Bancshares, Inc. engaged The Bank Advisory Group, L.L.C. to act as an independent financial
advisor to the Lamar Bancshares, Inc. board of directors in connection with the proposed sale of Lamar Bancshares,
Inc. to MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. Specifically, based on The Bank Advisory Group�s reputation and qualifications in
evaluating financial institutions, the Lamar Bancshares, Inc. board of directors requested that The Bank Advisory
Group render advice and analysis in connection with the merger, and to provide opinions with regard to the fairness �
from the perspective of the shareholders of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. common stock � of the financial terms of the
merger.

     Based on all factors that The Bank Advisory Group deemed relevant and assuming the accuracy and completeness
of the information and data provided, The Bank Advisory Group rendered a written fairness opinion, dated July 21,
2004 � which is set forth in Appendix A to this proxy statement/prospectus � to the effect that the terms of the proposed
merger, including, without limitation, the gross consideration equaling the sum of (i) a number of shares of MidSouth
Bancorp, Inc. common stock equal to $12,556,351 divided by $34; plus (ii) $10,494,000 in cash, offered in exchange
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for all of the outstanding common shares and outstanding stock options of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. on the effective
date, is fair, from a financial point of view, to the shareholders of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. common stock.

     No limitations were imposed by the Lamar Bancshares, Inc. board of directors upon The Bank Advisory Group
with respect to the analysis, conclusions, opinions or procedures followed in rendering the July 21, 2004
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fairness opinion. The Bank Advisory Group does not, and its officers, directors and shareholders do not, own any
shares of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. common stock or MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. common stock; nor does The Bank
Advisory Group make a market in the stock of Lamar Bancshares, MidSouth Bancorp, Inc., or any other
publicly-traded security, financial or otherwise.

     The full text of the July 21, 2004 fairness opinion � which sets forth certain assumptions made, matters considered,
and limits on the review undertaken by The Bank Advisory Group � is set forth in Appendix A to this proxy
statement/prospectus. Lamar Bancshares, Inc. shareholders are urged to read the July 21, 2004 fairness opinion in its
entirety. The July 21, 2004 fairness opinion, addressed to the Lamar Bancshares, Inc. board of directors, covers only
the fairness of the financial terms of the merger, from a financial point of view, to the shareholders of Lamar
Bancshares, Inc. common stock. The financial terms include, but are not limited to, the gross consideration of a the
sum of (i) a number of shares of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. common stock equal to $12,556,351 divided by $34; plus (ii)
$10,494,000 in cash in exchange for all of the outstanding common shares and outstanding stock options of Lamar
Bancshares, Inc. at the effective time of the merger.

     The July 21, 2004 fairness opinion does not constitute an endorsement of the merger. The Bank Advisory Group
was not asked to consider, and the July 21, 2004 fairness opinion does not address, the relative merits of the proposed
sale of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. to MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. as compared to alternative business strategies that might
exist for Lamar Bancshares, Inc. or the effect of any other transaction(s) in which Lamar Bancshares, Inc. might
engage. In furnishing the July 21, 2004 fairness opinion, The Bank Advisory Group does not purport to be an expert
with respect to the registration statement of which this proxy statement/prospectus is part within the meaning of the
term �expert� as used in, or that would come within the category of persons whose consent is required under, the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission
promulgated thereunder. The summary of the procedures and analysis performed and assumptions used by The Bank
Advisory Group set forth in this proxy statement/prospectus is qualified in its entirety by reference to the text of the
July 21, 2004 fairness opinion, which is set forth in Appendix A to this proxy statement/prospectus and incorporated
herein by reference. Neither this discussion nor the July 21, 2004 fairness opinion constitute a recommendation by the
Bank Advisory Group to any shareholder of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. as to how such shareholder should vote at the
shareholders� meeting held for the purpose of voting on the merger.

Summary of Information Reviewed. The Bank Advisory Group, in connection with the issuance of the July 21,
2004 fairness opinion reviewed, among other things, the following Lamar Bancshares, Inc. information:

� audited consolidated financial statements for Lamar Bancshares, Inc. and Lamar Bank for the years ended
December 31, 2002 and 2003;

� parent company-only financial statements for Lamar Bancshares, Inc., presented on form F.R. Y-9LP, at and for the
three months ended March 31, 2004, and for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002, and 2001, as filed with the
Federal Reserve System;

� parent company-only financial statements for Lamar Delaware Financial Corporation, Dover, Delaware, Lamar
Bancshares� subsidiary bank holding company, presented on form F.R. Y-9LP, at and for the three months ended
March 31, 2004, and for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002, and 2001, as filed with the Federal Reserve
System;

� Reports of Condition and Income for Lamar Bank, Beaumont, Texas, at and for the three months ended March 31,
2004, and for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002, and 2001, as filed with the as filed with the Federal
Deposit Insurance Corporation;
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� internal financial statements for Lamar Bank, at and for the six months ended June 30, 2004;

� certain internal financial analyses and forecasts for Lamar Bank prepared by the management of Lamar Bank,
including projections of future performance;

� certain other summary materials and analyses with respect to Lamar Bank�s loan portfolio, securities portfolio,
deposit base, fixed assets, and operations including, but not limited to:

� schedules of loans and other assets identified by management as deserving special attention or monitoring
given the characteristics of the loan/asset and the local economy,

� analyses concerning the adequacy of the loan loss reserve,
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� schedules of �other real estate owned,� including current carrying values and recent appraisals, and,

� schedules of securities, detailing book values, market values, and lengths to maturity.
In addition, The Bank Advisory Group reviewed the following MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. information:

� audited consolidated financial statements, included in the MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. annual reports on Form 10-KSB,
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002, and 2001;

� quarterly financial statements, included in the MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. quarterly report on Form 10-Q, as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission, at and for the three months ended March 31, 2004, and in the MidSouth
Bancorp, Inc. quarterly reports on Form 10-QSB for the first three quarters in the years ended December 31, 2003,
2002 and 2001;

� consolidated financial statements, included in the MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. regulatory filings on Form F.R. Y-9C, at
and for the three months ended March 31, 2004, and for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002, and 2001, as
filed with the Federal Reserve System;

� recorded earnings per share for MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2003, and
earnings per share estimates for MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2005,
published by SNL Financial, LC, Charlottesville, Virginia;

� the publicly reported historical price and trading activity for MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.�s common stock, including a
comparison of certain market pricing and financial fundamentals for MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. with (i) those of
similar publicly-traded banking organizations in MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.�s demographic region and (ii) those of all
United States publicly-traded banking organizations;

� equity research reports regarding MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. prepared by various stock analysts who cover the
financial institutions sector;

� the views of senior management of Lamar Bancshares, Inc., based on limited discussions with members of senior
management, regarding MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.�s lines of business, financial condition, results of operations and
future prospects;

� the pro forma financial impact of the merger on MidSouth Bancorp, Inc., based on assumptions relating to
transaction expenses, purchase accounting adjustments and cost savings determined by the senior managements of
Lamar Bancshares, Inc. and MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.;

� the current stock market environment generally and the banking environment in particular; and,

� such other information, financial studies, analyses and investigations and financial, economic and market criteria as
the Bank Advisory Group considered relevant.

The Bank Advisory Group, in connection with the merger, reviewed, among other things, the following items:

� the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated May 27, 2004;

� the Proxy Statement/Prospectus;

� the financial terms and price levels for selected commercial banking organizations with total assets between $75 �
$150 million acquired in the United States during 2002 through year-to-date 2004, together with the financial
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performance and condition of the acquired banking organizations;

� the financial terms and price levels for selected commercial banking organizations with total assets below
$500 million acquired in the United States during 2002 through year-to-date 2004, together with (a) the financial
performance and condition of the acquired banking organizations and (b) the financial performance, financial
condition, and market pricing of the acquiring banking organizations; and,

� such other information � including financial studies, analyses, investigations, and economic and market criteria � that
The Bank Advisory Group deems relevant to this assignment

     In connection with its review, The Bank Advisory Group has relied upon the information provided by the
management of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. and MidSouth Bancorp, Inc., or otherwise publicly-available and reviewed by
The Bank Advisory Group, as being complete and accurate in all material respects. The Bank Advisory Group

18

Edgar Filing: MIDSOUTH BANCORP INC - Form S-4

43



met with the management of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. and MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. for the purpose of discussing the
relevant information that has been provided to The Bank Advisory Group.

     The Bank Advisory Group has not verified, through independent inspection or direct examination, the specific
assets or liabilities of Lamar Bancshares, Inc., MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. or their subsidiary banks. The Bank Advisory
Group has assumed that there have been no material changes in the assets, financial condition, results of operations, or
business prospects of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. and MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. since the date of the last financial
statements made available to The Bank Advisory Group. The Bank Advisory Group has also assumed that there are no
material off-balance sheet assets or liabilities for Lamar Bancshares, Inc. or MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. that are not
otherwise disclosed in the financial information either disclosed or publicly-available.

     The Bank Advisory Group is not an expert in the evaluation of loan portfolios for purposes of assessing the
adequacy of the allowances for losses with respect thereto, and The Bank Advisory Group assumed, with Lamar
Bancshares, Inc.� consent, that such allowances for each of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. and MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. are in
the aggregate adequate to cover such losses. In addition, The Bank Advisory Group did not assume responsibility for
reviewing any individual credit files, or for making an independent evaluation, appraisal or physical inspection of any
of the assets or liabilities (contingent or otherwise) of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. or MidSouth Bancorp, Inc., nor was The
Bank Advisory Group furnished with any such appraisals. Finally, The Bank Advisory Group�s opinions were based
on economic, monetary and market and other conditions in effect as of the date of the fairness opinions. Accordingly,
although subsequent developments may affect The Bank Advisory Group�s opinions, The Bank Advisory Group has
not assumed any obligation to update, revise or reaffirm such opinions.

     The Bank Advisory Group did not discuss with the independent accountants for either Lamar Bancshares, Inc. or
MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. any financial reporting matters with respect to Lamar Bancshares, Inc., MidSouth Bancorp,
Inc., the merger, or the merger agreement. Lamar Bancshares, Inc. informed The Bank Advisory Group, and The Bank
Advisory Group assumed, that the merger would be recorded as a �purchase� under generally accepted accounting
principles. The Bank Advisory Group assumed that the merger would be consummated in a manner that complies in
all respects with the applicable provisions of the Securities Act of 1933, the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and all
other applicable federal and state statutes, rules and regulations.

     With respect to the financial forecasts for Lamar Bancshares, Inc., The Bank Advisory Group assumed for
purposes of its opinion, and with Lamar Bancshares, Inc.� consent, that the forecasts were reasonably prepared on
bases reflecting the best available estimates at the time of preparation as to the future financial performance of Lamar
Bancshares, Inc., and that they provided a reasonable basis upon which The Bank Advisory Group could form its
opinion.

Professional Fees Paid to The Bank Advisory Group. Since May 2000, and prior to its retention for this specific
assignment, The Bank Advisory Group has provided financial services to Lamar Bancshares, Inc. in various capacities
on an infrequent basis; however, the revenues derived from the delivery of such services are insignificant when
compared to The Bank Advisory Group�s total gross revenues.

     For The Bank Advisory Group�s services as an independent financial analyst and advisor to Lamar Bancshares, Inc.
in connection with the merger, Lamar Bancshares, Inc. has agreed to pay The Bank Advisory Group a professional fee
approximating $110,000, of which $20,000 has been received by The Bank Advisory Group. Additionally, Lamar
Bancshares, Inc. also has agreed to reimburse The Bank Advisory Group for reasonable out-of-pocket expenses.
Furthermore, in connection with the merger, Lamar Bancshares, Inc. has agreed to indemnify The Bank Advisory
Group, the officers, directors, employees, and shareholders of The Bank Advisory Group and assigns, heirs,
beneficiaries and legal representatives of each indemnified entity and person. No portion of The Bank Advisory
Group�s fee is contingent upon the conclusion reached in the July 21, 2004 fairness opinion; and, Lamar Bancshares,
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Inc.� obligation to pay the remaining balance of the professional fee due to The Bank Advisory Group is not contingent
upon the conclusion reached in the July 21, 2004 fairness opinion.

     The Bank Advisory Group has not previously provided any services to MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. and, thus, has
never received any professional fees from MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.

Financial Projections for Lamar Bancshares, Inc. The Bank Advisory Group developed stand-alone financial
projections for Lamar Bancshares, Inc., which were derived by The Bank Advisory Group with input from
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management of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. However, the financial projections for Lamar Bancshares, Inc. represented
The Bank Advisory Group�s independent assessment of a reasonable and defensible outlook for the future performance
and condition of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. The financial projections were derived for a twelve-year period, 2004 � 2015,
with specific focus given to the six-year period representing the years 2004 � 2009. In summary, the financial
projections reflected total assets of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. growing at a rate of between 1.50% and 3.00% per annum.
Return on average assets (converted to C corporation earnings through the application of a 36% federal income tax
rate) for Lamar Bancshares, Inc. was projected to range between 1.02% and 1.22%, annually. The financial
projections were presented to the Lamar Bancshares, Inc. board of directors at an April 6, 2004 meeting.

     The projection of future financial performance of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. (on a fully-diluted basis) allowed The
Bank Advisory Group, and in turn, the Lamar Bancshares, Inc. Board of Directors, to compare, based on a number of
assumptions, the potential future value of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. expressed in terms of today�s dollars (a present value
basis) in relation to the transaction value per share of $95.99. This comparative analysis resulted in multiple scenarios.
However, the vast majority of the scenarios, and all of the scenarios based on the most reasonable assumptions,
revealed similar results. In summary, the analyses suggested that the transaction value per share of $95.99 exceeded
the future potential value, when expressed on a present value basis, of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. common stock, based
on a range of assumed earnings multiples applied to projected earnings per share of $6.67 and projected dividends per
share of $6.00 for Lamar Bancshares, Inc. during 2009 (the last year of the projection period). Thus, this analysis
provided support for the acceptance of the MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. offer of $23,382,725 in total consideration. The
analysis revealed similar results when considering the projection years prior to 2009. The chart below briefly
summarizes the analyses for the 2009 projection year:

Assuming Future Earnings Multiple of:

12.0x 14.0x 16.0x 18.0x 20.0x 22.0x

Year 2009 Earnings Per Share ($6.67) x
Indicated Multiple $80.09 $93.43 $106.78 $120.13 $133.48 $146.82
Present Value of Above @ 11% Discount
Rate $68.20 $75.34 $ 82.47 $ 89.61 $ 96.75 $103.88
Transaction Value per share $95.99 $95.99 $ 95.99 $ 95.99 $ 95.99 $ 95.99
Transaction Value, less Present Value
(Row 3 minus Row 2) $27.79 $20.65 $ 13.52 $ 6.38 ($0.76) ($7.89)

     Likewise, the analyses suggested that the transaction value per share of $95.99 exceeded the future potential value
(on a fully-diluted basis), when expressed on a present value basis, of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. common stock, based
on a range of assumed equity multiples applied to projected core equity per share of $55.10 for Lamar Bancshares,
Inc. at year-end 2009, the end of the six-year projection period. This analysis included assumed annual dividends per
share of $6.00. Thus, this analysis provided further support for the acceptance of the MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. offer of
$23,382,725 in total consideration. The analysis revealed similar results when considering the projection years prior to
2009. The chart below briefly summarizes the analyses:

Assuming Future Equity Multiple of:

1.40x 1.60x 1.80x 2.00x 2.20x 2.40x

$77.15 $88.17 $99.19 $110.21 $121.23 $132.25
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Year 2009 Equity Per Share ($55.10) x
Indicated Multiple
Present Value of Above @ 11% Discount
Rate $66.63 $72.52 $78.41 $ 84.31 $ 90.20 $ 96.09
Transaction Value per share $95.99 $95.99 $95.99 $ 95.99 $ 95.99 $ 95.99
Transaction Value, less Present Value (Row
3 minus Row 2) $29.36 $23.47 $17.58 $ 11.68 $ 5.79 ($0.10)

     The projection of future financial performance of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. on a C corporation basis (assuming a
federal tax rate of 36%) further allowed The Bank Advisory Group, and in turn the Lamar Bancshares, Inc. board of
directors, to compare the projection of future dividend streams of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. shareholders on a
stand-alone basis (assuming no merger with MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. and, thus, Lamar Bancshares, Inc. operating on a
status quo basis with an annual dividend payout of $6.00 per share) versus the dividend stream Lamar Bancshares,
Inc. shareholders likely would receive as MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. shareholders on a post-merger basis (with earnings
per share for MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. based on the composite average of analysts� estimates for 2004 � 2005, earnings
per share growth thereafter consistent with stated goals for MidSouth Bancorp, Inc., and a dividend payout rate
consistent MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.�s historical payout history). However, given that Lamar Bancshares,
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Inc. is an S corporation which historically paid and projects to pay cash dividends approximating 100% of net
earnings; and, given that MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. is a growth-oriented publicly-traded banking organization which has
historically paid cash dividends approximating 16% � 20% of net earnings, the comparative analysis of future dividend
yields provide no reasonable basis for judging the financial fairness of the transaction value.

Analysis of Selected Merger Transactions. The Bank Advisory Group maintains a sizable database of
information pertaining to the prices paid for U.S. banks and their holding companies. This database includes
transactions involving banking organizations operating throughout the United States, and provides comparable pricing
and financial performance data for banking organizations acquired in the United States since 1989. The Bank
Advisory Group has the capability of sorting the records by year or combinations of years to yield transactions
involving similar banks. Similarities might include banks within a specific asset size range, banks within a specific
state or geographic region, banks that generate a level of earnings as a percent of average assets (�return on average
assets� or �ROA�) within a specified range, banks that have an equity-to-assets ratio within a certain range, or banks that
sold for a specific form of consideration (cash or stock). The ability to produce specific groups of comparable banks
facilitates making a valid comparative purchase price analysis.

     In deriving the comparable pricing analyses, as described below, it should be recognized that no other single
company or transaction is identical to Lamar Bancshares, Inc. Accordingly, an examination of the results of the
following comparative analysis is not mathematical; rather, it involves complex considerations and judgments
concerning differences in financial and operating characteristics of the companies as well as other factors that could
affect the public trading value and the announced acquisition prices of the companies to which Lamar Bancshares, Inc.
is being compared.

     Price Multiples and Price Indices: The Bank Advisory Group considered transaction values for banking
organizations located in all United States non-rural domiciles, reporting total assets between $75 million and $150
million, a return on assets (�ROA�) between 0.50% and 1.50%, a ratio of core capital-to-total assets between 8.00% and
14.00%, and acquired during 2002 through year-to-date 2004 (the �U.S. Peer Group�). The banking companies which
comprise the U.S. Peer Group are listed below:

Total Assets
Selling Organization ($ in MM) Buying Organization

Alliance Bank of Hot Springs, Hot Springs, AR 135,620 Simmons First National Corp., Pine Bluff, AR
Upland Bank, Upland, CA 109,836 First Community Bancorp, Rancho Santa Fe, CA
Marathon National Bank, Los Angeles, CA 109,300 First Community Bancorp, Rancho Santa Fe, CA
Kerman State Bank, Kerman, CA 105,535 Westamerica Bancorporation, San Rafael, CA
Auburn Community Bank, Auburn, CA 89,772 Western Sierra Bancorp, Cameron Park, CA
Ojai Valley Bank, Ojai, CA 86,185 Mid-State Bancshares, Inc., Arroyo Grande, CA
Millennium Bank, Gainesville, FL

98,792
Alabama National BanCorporation, Birmingham,
AL

First National Bank of the South, Milledgeville,
GA 127,485 GB&T Bancshares, Inc., Gainesville, GA
Southern Heritage Bank, Oakwood, GA 117,763 GB&T Bancshares, Inc., Gainesville, GA
First National Bank of Johns Creek, Suwanee,
GA 99,671 Main Street Banks, Inc., Kennesaw, GA
State Bank of Aviston, Trenton, IL 97,170 Kankakee Bancorp, Inc., Kankakee, IL
Independence Bank, New Albany, IN

108,479
Harrodsburg First Financial Bancorp,
Harrodsburg, KY
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Hometown National Bank, New Albany, IN 82,323 First Capital, Inc., Corydon, IN
Kentucky Bank & Trust, Russell, KY 127,184 Peoples Bancorp, Inc., Marietta, GA
Alliance Bank of Baton Rouge, Baton Rouge,
LA 76,032 IBERIABANK Corp., Lafayette, LA
Community State Bank, Teaneck, NY 122,229 Lakeland Bancorp, Inc., Oak Ridge, NJ
Northwestern National Bank, Wilkesboro, NC 137,148 United Community Bancorp, Hickory, NC
Bank Northwest, Bellingham, WA 97,892 Pacific Capital Corporation, Aberdeen, WA

     The Bank Advisory Group compared Lamar Bancshares, Inc.�s financial fundamentals and the pricing values
relating to the transaction value with the average financial fundamentals and average pricing values for the U.S. Peer
Group. The comparative analysis revealed that the proposed merger equated to a transaction value for Lamar
Bancshares, Inc. resulting in a purchase price as a percent of total assets (price-equity index) of 20.17, a level 2%
lower than the 20.67 average for the U.S. Peer Group. The fully-diluted December 31, 2003 core equity-to-assets ratio
for Lamar Bancshares, Inc. equaled 11.79%, a ratio that is 179 basis points and 18% higher than the average core
equity-to-assets ratio of 10.00% for the U.S. Peer Group. Likewise, the fully-diluted four-quarter
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trailing return on average assets (�ROA�) for Lamar Bancshares, Inc. equaled 1.16%, a ratio that is 17 basis points and
17% higher than the average ROA of 0.99% for the U.S. Peer Group. Correspondingly, the fully-diluted four-quarter
trailing return on average equity capital (�ROE�) for Lamar Bancshares, Inc. equaled 10.28%, a ratio that is 16 basis
points and 2% higher than the average ROE of 10.12% for the U.S. Peer Group.

     Conversely, Lamar Bancshares, Inc.�s asset growth for the trailing four quarters equaled 5.38%, a ratio that is 905
basis points and 63% lower than the average of 14.43% for the U.S. Peer Group. Correspondingly, Lamar Bancshares,
Inc. was located in the Beaumont/Port Arthur, Texas Metropolitan Statistical Area, which recorded total population of
approximately 390 thousand in 2003. Each of the banking organizations contained within the U.S. Peer Group were
located in Metropolitan Statistical Areas. The Metropolitan Statistical Areas represented by the U.S. Peer Group
possessed an average population of 4.0 million and a mean population of 1.0 million in 2003. Moreover, the
Beaumont/Port Arthur, Texas Metropolitan Statistical Area reported annual population growth of 1.27% during 2000 �
2003 and has projected annual population growth of 2.13% during 2003 � 2008, comparing well below the 3.92% and
6.08% respective averages for the Metropolitan Statistical Areas represented by the U.S. Peer Group.

     The valuation of an investment always considers, if not primarily focuses, on the future growth prospects of the
earnings stream corresponding with the investment. Accordingly, the valuation of an investment is an inherently
forward-looking process. The presence of inferior historical and projected growth indicators for Lamar Bancshares,
Inc. clearly supports a higher average price index for the U.S. Peer Group as compared to those corresponding with
the $23,382,725 transaction value for Lamar Bancshares, Inc. Therefore, the analysis set forth in the preceding
paragraphs indicates that the transaction value for Lamar Bancshares, Inc., as measured by the price index described
above, is reasonable and defensible. The table set forth immediately subsequent to this paragraph summarizes this
comparative analysis, and highlights the Lamar Bancshares, Inc. transaction.

Assets
LTM
Asset

MSA
Population

Core
Equity/

Total
Price

Price Multiples Price Indices

# of
Banks$(MM) Growth (2003) Assets ROA ROE

$(MM)
2 Equity Earning Equity L4QNI

Lamar
Bancshares,
Inc. 1 1 $116 5.38% 389,989 11.79% 1.16% 10.28% $23.1 1.71x 17.89x 20.17 20.70
U.S. Peer
Group 18 $107 14.43% 3,983,028 10.00% 0.99% 10.12% $22.2 2.07x 22.27x 20.67 22.07

1. Financial data for Lamar Bancshares, Inc. is as of December 31, 2003, with earnings based on four-quarter
trailing net earnings, and with fully diluted equity and earnings.

2. Total price for Lamar Bancshares, Inc. based on: (i) a per share closing price of $34.900 for the common stock
of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc., as of June 9, 2004; and, (ii) total transaction value equaling the sum of (a) the
issuance of a number of shares of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. Common Stock equal to $12,556,351 divided by $34
and (b) $10,494,000 in cash in exchange for all of the shares of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. common stock.

      Common Stock Indexed Price Multiples: The Bank Advisory Group also considered transaction values for
profitable banking organizations acquired by publicly-traded banking organizations. Specifically, The Bank Advisory
Group utilized profitable United States banking organizations acquired by publicly-traded banking organizations from
January 2002 through year-to-date 2004, reporting total assets under $500 million, and where the form of
consideration consisted of 100% common stock or a mixture of common stock and cash, and for which both price data
and related financial information are publicly-available. The Bank Advisory Group termed these banking
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organizations the �Indexed Peer Group.�

     In order to derive indexed price multiples for the Indexed Peer Group, The Bank Advisory Group compared the
price multiples calculated for each transaction value at the date of announcement relative to the market price multiples
for the common stock of the relevant acquirer at the month-end prior to announcement date. Additionally, The Bank
Advisory Group compared the price-to-assets index calculated for each transaction value at the date of announcement
relative to the market price-to-assets index for the common stock of the relevant acquirer at the month-end prior to
announcement date. The Bank Advisory Group then compared the average of the indexed price multiples and
price-to-assets index for the Indexed Peer Group, segmented into quartiles by the indexed price-to-assets index, in
relation to the indexed price multiples and price-to-assets index computed for the transaction value attributable to
Lamar Bancshares, Inc. in connection with the merger, using the market price multiples for MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.
common stock.

     The comparative analysis revealed that the transaction value resulted in a price-to-core equity multiple of
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1.71x for Lamar Bancshares, Inc., versus the 2.44x and 2.34x averages for the second and third quartiles of the
Indexed Peer Group, and the 2.36x average for the entire Indexed Peer Group. Additionally, the comparative analysis
revealed that the transaction value resulted in a price-to-earnings multiple of 17.89x for Lamar Bancshares, versus the
23.44x and 24.77x averages for the second and third quartiles of the Indexed Peer Group, and the 23.80x average for
the entire Indexed Peer Group. Moreover, the comparative analysis revealed that the transaction value resulted in a
price-to-assets index of 20.17 for Lamar Bancshares, Inc., versus the 21.67 and 20.95 averages for the second and
third quartiles of the Indexed Peer Group, and the 21.04 average for the Indexed Peer Group. However, when the
20.17 price-to-assets index is compared relative to the 24.63 price-to-assets index for MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.
common stock as of June 9, 2004, the transaction value equated to an indexed price-to-assets index of 81.9%, versus
the 105.2% and 128.3% averages for the second and third quartiles of the Indexed Peer Group, and the 109.7%
average for the entire Indexed Peer Group.

     The price-to-core equity transaction index of at 81.9% for Lamar Bancshares, Inc. is substantially lower than the
averages computed for the Indexed Peer Group. However, that disparity is reasonable, and to be expected, when
giving consideration to Lamar Bancshares, Inc.�s substantially higher core equity-to-assets ratio of 10.70% (as of
December 31, 2003) in comparison with the 8.91% average for the Indexed Peer Group; and, giving consideration that
the 3.28x price-to-book value multiple of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. as of June 9, 2004 substantially exceeded the 2.16x
average for the Indexed Peer Group. In brief terms, it generally follows that the higher the core equity-to-assets ratio,
the lower the price-to-core equity multiple. That relationship holds true in the case of Lamar Bancshares, both in terms
of the stated price-to-core equity and the indexed price-to-core equity transaction index at the transaction value.
Furthermore, although the first quartile of the Indexed Peer Group reported the highest price-to-book value multiple
(2.91x) and the MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. price-to-book value multiple of 3.28x exceeded the average for the first
quartile of the Indexed Peer Group, the price-to-core equity transaction index of 81.9% for Lamar Bancshares, Inc.
substantially exceeded the 72.6% average for the first quartile of the Indexed Peer Group.

The table set forth below summarizes the indexed price multiples analysis, and highlights the Lamar Bancshares, Inc.
transaction.

SELLER ACQUIRER

Deal Price Level Market Price Level Indexed
Price/

Assets Core Price/BV Price/NI Price/ Price/BV Price/NI Price/ Assets
(MM)Equity/Assets ROA Multiple Multiple Assets Multiple Multiple Assets Index2

Lamar
Bancshares1 $110 10.70% 1.06% 1.71x 17.89x 20.17 3.28x 17.36x 24.63 81.9%
Indexed Peer (All) $189 8.91% 1.02% 2.36x 23.80x 21.04 2.16x 16.21x 19.18 109.7%
Indexed Peer (1st
Quartile) $182 8.55% 0.99% 2.50x 24.03x 21.39 2.91x 18.68x 29.48 72.6%
Indexed Peer (2nd
Quartile) $201 8.86% 1.09% 2.44x 23.44x 21.67 2.29x 17.12x 20.59 105.2%
Indexed Peer (3rd
Quartile) $229 8.96% 0.93% 2.34x 24.77x 20.95 1.93x 15.66x 16.33 128.3%
Indexed Peer (4th
Quartile) $140 9.26% 1.05% 2.16x 22.95x 20.01 1.49x 13.39x 11.95 167.5%

1.
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Financial data for Lamar Bancshares, Inc. is as of December 31, 2003, with earnings based on four-quarter
trailing earnings, and utilizing fully-diluted equity and earnings. Total price, and thus the price multiples and
indices, for Lamar Bancshares, Inc. is based on total transaction value of $23,382,725, and a $34.90 closing
price per share, as of June 9, 2004, for MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. common stock.

2. Transaction Price/Assets Index as % of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. Price/Assets Index.
Informed Professional Opinion. The summaries set forth above do not purport to be a complete description of the

analyses performed by The Bank Advisory Group. The Bank Advisory Group believes that its analyses and the
summaries set forth above must be considered as a whole and that selecting a portion of its analyses and factors,
without considering all analyses and factors, would create an incomplete view of the process underlying the analyses
used by The Bank Advisory Group.

     In addition, The Bank Advisory Group may have given various analyses more or less weight than other analyses,
and may have deemed various assumptions more or less probable than other assumptions, so that the
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ranges of valuations resulting from any particular analysis described above should not be taken to be The Bank
Advisory Group�s view of the actual value of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. common stock on a post-merger basis. The fact
that any specific analysis has been referred to in the summary above is not meant to indicate that such analysis was
given greater weight than any other analysis.

     In performing its analyses, The Bank Advisory Group made numerous assumptions with respect to industry
performance, general business and economic conditions and other matters, many of which are beyond the control of
both Lamar Bancshares, Inc. and MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. The analyses performed by The Bank Advisory Group are
not necessarily indicative of actual values or actual future results, which may be significantly more or less favorable
than suggested by such analyses. Such analyses were prepared in connection with The Bank Advisory Group�s
determination of the fairness of the financial terms of the merger, from a financial point of view, to the shareholders of
Lamar Bancshares, Inc. common stock. The analyses do not purport to be appraisals or to reflect the prices at which a
company might actually be sold or the prices at which any securities may trade at the present time or any time in the
future. The forecasts utilized by The Bank Advisory Group in certain of its analyses are based on numerous variables
and assumptions which are inherently unpredictable and, therefore, not certain to become reality. Accordingly, actual
results could vary significantly from those contemplated in such forecasts.

     The Bank Advisory Group is of the belief that its review of, among other things, the aforementioned items,
provided a reasonable basis for the issuance of the July 21, 2004 fairness opinion, recognizing that The Bank
Advisory Group issued informed professional opinions � not certifications of value. Therefore, based on these analyses,
it is the opinion of The Bank Advisory Group that the consideration to be received by the shareholders of Lamar
Bancshares, Inc. common stock is fair from a financial point of view.

Conversion of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. Common Stock

     On the date the merger becomes effective, each outstanding share of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. common stock will be
converted into:

     (a) a number of shares of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. common stock equal to $12,556,351 divided by $34, and further
divided by the number of shares of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. common stock outstanding on the effective date of the
merger; plus

     (b) $10,494,000 cash less (i) the cash amount paid to Lamar Bancshares, Inc. option holders for options cancelled
on the closing date of the merger pursuant to the merger agreement (estimated to be approximately $1,246,694,
grossed up to factor in a maximum federal income tax rate of 35% and a maximum Louisiana state tax rate of 6%) and
(ii) the excess over $200,000 of Lamar Bancshares, Inc.�s legal, accounting and investment banking fees related to the
transaction other than those incurred before March 31, 2004, and expensed on Lamar Bancshares, Inc.�s financial
statements as of and for the period ending March 31, 2004, plus the amount paid to Lamar Bancshares, Inc. by option
holders after the date of the merger agreement in order to exercise any options (estimated to be approximately $0),
with the result being divided by the number of shares of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. common stock outstanding on the
effective date of the merger.

     If on the closing date of the merger the average closing sales price of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. common stock on
the American Stock Exchange for the ten trading days ending the day before such closing date (�Average Price�) is less
than $31.50 per share, MidSouth shall adjust the conversion rate by multiplying the conversion rate by 1.07937. If on
the closing date the Average Price exceeds $36.50, the conversion rate shall be adjusted by multiplying the conversion
rate by 0.93151. If the Average Price is below $29.00, Lamar Bancshares, Inc., may terminate the merger transaction.
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     On the basis of information available as of the date of this proxy statement/prospectus, Lamar Bancshares, Inc.,
estimates that the cash portion of the merger consideration will be $                    , and that the Lamar common stock
per cash consideration will be $                    . On the basis of the Average Price of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc., common
stock for the period ended                     , 2004, which was $                    , the stock portion of the merger consideration
would be                     shares of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. common stock for each share of Lamar Bancshares, Inc.
common stock. The actual stock conversion ratio will depend on the Average Price of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.,
common stock for the 10 day period ending the day before the closing of the merger.
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     Instead of issuing any fractional shares of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. common stock, each shareholder of Lamar
Bancshares, Inc. who would otherwise be entitled to a fractional share will receive a cash payment, without interest,
equal to the fraction multiplied by the Average Price of a share of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. common stock.

Effective Date

     A merger agreement will be filed with the Secretaries of State of Louisiana and Texas as soon as practicable after
shareholder and regulatory approvals of the merger are obtained and all other conditions to the completion of the
merger have been satisfied or waived. The merger will be effective when that agreement has been filed with and
recorded by these bodies.

Procedure for Exchanging Certificates

     On the effective date of the merger, each Lamar Bancshares, Inc. shareholder will cease to have any rights as a
shareholder of Lamar Bancshares, Inc., and his or her sole rights will be to receive MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. common
stock and cash into which his or her shares of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. common stock have been converted pursuant to
the merger agreement, and cash for any fractional shares, except for any Lamar Bancshares, Inc. shareholder who
exercises statutory dissenters� rights.

     Promptly after consummation of the merger, a letter of transmittal, together with instructions for the exchange of
certificates representing shares of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. common stock for certificates representing shares of
MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. common stock and cash, will be mailed to each person who was a shareholder of record of
Lamar Bancshares, Inc. on the effective date of the merger. Shareholders are requested not to send in their Lamar
Bancshares, Inc. common stock certificates until they have received a letter of transmittal and further written
instructions. MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. common stock certificates and cash payments will be sent as promptly as
practicable after receipt of a properly completed letter of transmittal accompanied by the appropriate Lamar
Bancshares, Inc. common stock certificates.

     MidSouth Bancorp, Inc., at its option, may decline to pay former shareholders of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. who
become holders of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. common stock pursuant to the merger any dividends or other distributions
that may have become payable to holders of record of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. common stock following the effective
date until they have surrendered their certificates for Lamar Bancshares, Inc. common stock. Any dividends not paid
after one year from the date they first became payable as a result of the delay of a Lamar Bancshares, Inc. shareholder
in surrendering his or her certificates will revert in full ownership of such dividends to MidSouth Bancorp, Inc., and
MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. will have no further obligation to pay such dividends.

Treatment of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. Stock Options

     Prior to the consummation of the merger, Lamar Bancshares, Inc. will accelerate the exercisability of all previously
granted options not currently exercisable. Any Lamar Bancshares, Inc. options not exercised at the effective date of
the merger will be cancelled, and holders of such cancelled Lamar options will receive from MidSouth on the day
following the closing date of the merger in connection with the cancellation of their options on the closing the
following: (a) a cash amount equal to the same consideration (in stock and cash) payable to Lamar shareholders
pursuant to the merger agreement, less the exercise price for the cancelled options; plus (b) a cash amount equal to the
amount of tax savings that may be realized by MidSouth attributable to the payment made pursuant to item (a) above
in this sentence.
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Conditions to the Merger

     The respective obligations of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. and MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. to complete the merger are
subject to the satisfaction or waiver of the following conditions specified in the merger agreement:

� from the date of the merger agreement to the closing of the merger, the representations and warranties set
forth in the merger agreement remain true and correct, except for any representation or warranty made as of a
specified date, which was true and correct as of such date or except as contemplated or permitted by the
merger agreement;
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� the performance of all agreements and covenants required by the merger agreement prior to the closing of the
merger;

� the delivery of certain certificates of the chief executive officers and chief financial officers of Lamar
Bancshares, Inc. and MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.;

� approval of the merger agreement by the shareholders of Lamar Bancshares, Inc.;

� the receipt of all required regulatory approvals or authorizations, provided that none of such approvals are
subject to any conditions that are not reasonably acceptable to either Lamar Bancshares, Inc. or MidSouth
Bancorp, Inc.;

� the absence of any order, decree or injunction that enjoins or prohibits completion of any of the transactions
contemplated by the merger agreement;

� the registration statement of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. of which this document is a part must have become
effective under the Securities Act of 1933, and no stop order suspending the effectiveness of the registration
statement shall have been issued and no proceedings for such purpose shall be pending before or threatened
by the SEC;

� the execution of all documents and all such other action being taken as is necessary to effectuate the merger,
along with irrevocable instructions to file the merger agreement with the Louisiana and Texas Secretaries of
State; and

� the receipt of standard legal opinions from counsel for Lamar Bancshares, Inc. and MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.
     There can be no assurance that the conditions to consummation of the merger will be satisfied or waived. The
merger will become effective when the merger has been recorded by the Louisiana and Texas Secretaries of State as
of the time of filing with these bodies. It is currently anticipated that the effective time of the merger will occur during
the third quarter of 2004.

     In addition to Lamar Bancshares, Inc. shareholder approval, consummation of the Merger will require the filing of
certain documents with the Texas Department of Banking (�TDB�) and the approval of the Board of Governors of the
Federal Reserve System. MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. has filed the necessary documents with the TDB and has filed an
application seeking the required approval, and MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. expects to receive such approval by August
31, 2004; however, there can be no assurance that the approval will be obtained by that time or at all.

     The obligations of the parties to consummate the merger are also subject to additional conditions that are
customary for transactions of this type.

     The companies intend to complete the merger as soon as practicable after all of the conditions to the merger
agreement have been met or waived; however, there can be no assurance that the conditions will be satisfied.

Conduct of Business Prior to the Effective Date

     Lamar Bancshares, Inc. has agreed that it will use its best efforts to preserve the possession and control of all of its
assets (other than those permitted to be distributed to shareholders before consummation of the merger in accordance
with the merger agreement or those consumed or disposed of for value in the ordinary course) and the goodwill of
customers and others having business relations with it, and will do nothing knowingly to impair its ability to keep and
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preserve its business.

     Lamar Bancshares, Inc. has also agreed that it will conduct its business only in the ordinary course consistent with
past practices. In addition, except as otherwise provided in the merger agreement, Lamar Bancshares, Inc. has agreed
that it will not, whether or not in the ordinary course, without the prior consent of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.�s chief
executive officer or his designee:
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� cause or permit a breach of any of its merger agreement covenants or cause or permit any of its merger
agreement representations or warranties to become untrue;

� declare, pay or make any dividend or distribution on, or reclassify or acquire, or issue (except upon exercise
of options outstanding on the date of the merger agreement) or sell any additional shares of or any securities
or obligations convertible into or exchangeable for, its common stock, with certain exceptions set forth in the
merger agreement;

� amend its articles of incorporation or by-laws, or adopt or amend any resolution or agreement concerning
indemnification of its directors or officers, with certain exceptions set forth in the merger agreement, or fail to
maintain its books and records in the usual manner on a basis consistent with past practices;

� place or suffer to exist on any of its assets or properties any mortgage, pledge, lien, charge or other
encumbrance, except those permitted under the merger agreement, or, other than in the ordinary course of
business consistent with past practices, or as disclosed pursuant to the merger agreement, cancel any material
indebtedness to it or any material claims which it may have had, or waive any right of substantial value or
discharge or satisfy any material non-current liability;

� enter into any new line of business or merge or consolidate with another entity, or sell or otherwise dispose of
a substantial part of its assets, or sell or dispose of any of its assets, with certain exceptions set forth in the
merger agreement;

� violate in any material respect any order, writ, injunction, decree, statute, rule or regulation of any
governmental body;

� fail to pay, or to make adequate provision in all material respects for the payment of, all taxes, interest
payments and penalties due and payable (and/or accruable for all periods or portions of periods up to the
effective date of the merger) to any taxing authority, with certain exceptions set forth in the merger
agreement;

� acquire investment securities having an aggregate market value greater than $100,000 or that are less than
investment grade;

� charge off (except as may otherwise be required by law or by regulatory authorities or by generally accepted
accounting principles consistently applied) any loans, discounts or financing leases, or make or enter into any
commitments to make any loans, discounts or financing leases, which varies materially from its written credit
policies or exceeds $25,000;

� issue or deliver any Lamar Bancshares, Inc. stock certificate to replace any certificate claimed to be lost,
destroyed or stolen without requiring an indemnity agreement and a bond from a solvent insurance company,
in favor of MidSouth Bancorp and Lamar Bancshares, Inc. and their respective transfer agents against any
loss resulting from the issuance or delivery of such replacement certificate;

� reduce its reserve for loan losses below the amount recorded on its financial statements at March 31, 2004;

� except as provided in the merger agreement, increase the salary or any of its employees, increase fees to any
of its directors, or pay any bonus to any of its employees or directors, or enter into any transaction other than
normal banking transactions with any director, officer or affiliate, with certain exceptions set forth in the
merger agreement; or
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� commit to do any of the foregoing.
     In addition, both Lamar Bancshares, Inc. and MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. have agreed to cooperate with one another
and use their best efforts to satisfy all requirements or law for, and all conditions in the merger agreement to, the
consummation of the merger, and to effect the merger at the earliest practicable date.
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     Lamar Bancshares, Inc. has further agreed that it will not solicit, initiate, encourage or knowingly facilitate any
inquiry or the making of any proposal relating to an acquisition transaction or a potential acquisition transaction
involving it. Lamar Bancshares, Inc. will use its best efforts to inform promptly its directors, officers, key employees,
agents, and other representatives of the foregoing prohibitions.

     Lamar Bancshares, Inc. and its Board of Directors may have discussions and negotiations and furnish information
to another party in reference to an unsolicited written acquisition proposal if the Board of Directors determines in
good faith, after receipt of advice from its outside counsel, that the proposal could result in a superior proposal. Prior
to providing any information to the other party, Lamar Bancshares, Inc.�s Board of Directors must notify MidSouth
Bancorp, Inc. of the proposal and receive an appropriate confidentiality agreement from the other party.

Regulatory Approvals

     Consummation of the merger is subject to prior receipt of all required approvals and consents of the merger by all
applicable federal and state regulatory authorities.

     The merger is subject to the prior approval of the Federal Reserve Board under Section 18(c) of the Bank Merger
Act, 12 U.S.C. § 1828(c). The Federal Reserve Board may not approve the merger if:

� such transaction would result in a monopoly or would be in furtherance of any combination or conspiracy to
monopolize or attempt to monopolize the business of banking in any part of the United States; or

� the effect of such transaction, in any section of the country, may be to substantially lessen competition, or
tend to create a monopoly, or in any manner restrain trade, unless in each case the Federal Reserve Board
finds that the anticompetitive effects of the proposed transaction are clearly outweighed in the public interest
by the probable effect of the transaction in meeting the convenience and needs of the communities to be
served.

     In every case, the Federal Reserve Board is required to consider the financial and managerial resources and future
prospects of the banks concerned and the convenience and needs of the communities to be served. Under the
Community Reinvestment Act of 1977, the Federal Reserve Board also must take into account the record of
performance of each bank in meeting the credit needs of the entire community, including low and moderate-income
neighborhoods, served by each bank holding company and its subsidiaries. Applicable regulations require publication
of notice of an application for approval of the merger and an opportunity for the public to comment on the application
in writing and to request a hearing.

     Any transaction approved by the Federal Reserve Board may not be completed until 30 days after such approval,
during which time the U.S. Department of Justice may challenge such transaction on antitrust grounds and seek
divesture of certain assets and liabilities. With the approval of the Federal Reserve Board and the United States
Department of Justice, the waiting period may be reduced to 15 days.

Representations and Warranties of the Parties

     Pursuant to the merger agreement, Lamar Bancshares, Inc. and MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. made certain customary
representations and warranties relating to their respective companies, subsidiaries, businesses and matters related to
the merger. The representations and warranties generally must remain accurate through the completion of the merger
unless the fact or facts that caused a breach of a representation and warranty has not had or is not reasonably likely to
have a material adverse effect on the party making the representation and warranty. See �Conditions to the Merger.�
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Waiver, Amendment and Termination

     The parties may waive in writing any of the conditions to their respective obligations to consummate the merger,
other than the receipt of necessary regulatory and shareholder approvals. The merger agreement, including all related
agreements, may also be amended or modified at any time, before or after its approval by the shareholders of Lamar
Bancshares, Inc., by mutual agreement, except that any amendment made after shareholder approval may
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not alter the amount or type of consideration into which Lamar Bancshares, Inc. common stock will be converted
without the additional approval of shareholders.

     The merger agreement may be terminated at any time prior to the effective date by mutual consent, or by either of
the companies:

� in the event of a material breach by the other party of any representation, warranty or covenant in the merger
agreement that cannot be cured by the earlier of (i) 10 days after written notice of such breach is delivered to
the breaching party, (ii) the effective date and time specified in the merger documents filed with the
Secretaries or State of Louisiana and Texas, or (iii) January 3, 2005;

� if (i) all conditions to closing set forth in the merger agreement have not been met or waived by January 3,
2005, or (ii) any such conditions cannot be met by such date and has not been waived by the party in whose
favor it runs, or (iii) the merger has not occurred by such date;

� if (i) the merger agreement is disapproved by the shareholders of Lamar Bancshares, Inc., or (ii) any agency
whose approval is required for the merger denies any application for such approval or notifies such party that
it intends to impose conditions to its approval that are not reasonably acceptable to such party; or

� on the basis of certain other grounds specified in the merger agreement.
     The board of directors of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. may terminate the merger agreement if Lamar Bancshares�s
board of directors resolves to withdraw, modify or change its recommendation to Lamar Bancshares�s shareholders of
the merger agreement, or recommends any acquisition of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. other than the merger.

     If Lamar Bancshares, Inc.�s Board of Directors determines that another proposal is superior to the merger because it
is more favorable to Lamar Bancshares, Inc.�s shareholders from a financial point of view than the proposed merger, it
may terminate the merger agreement subject to MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.�s right of first refusal to submit a revised
acquisition proposal on terms not less favorable to Lamar Bancshares, Inc. than the terms of the superior proposal.
MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. will have the right to exercise its right of first refusal within five business days after receipt of
notice of the superior proposal from Lamar Bancshares, Inc.

Effect of Termination

     If the merger agreement is terminated, it will become void and have no effect and the parties will be relieved of all
obligations and liabilities, except that the following provisions of the agreement will survive:

� a breaching party will not be relieved from any liability arising out of an intentional breach of any
representation, warranty or covenant in the merger agreement prior to the termination date, unless such breach
was required by law or by a bank or bank holding company regulatory authority;

� each party will remain liable for any subsequent breach of any provision that survives termination of the
merger agreement; and

� if the merger agreement is terminated for reasons other than as a result of mutual abandonment, a breach of a
representation or warranty by MidSouth Bancorp, Inc., or a denial of regulatory approval, and Lamar
Bancshares, Inc. accepts any written acquisition proposal as set forth in the merger agreement within nine
months of the date of termination, then at the time of such acceptance Lamar Bancshares, Inc. shall pay to
MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. a termination fee of $700,000; and if the merger agreement is terminated and Lamar
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Bancshares, Inc. accepts any acquisition proposal as set forth in the merger agreement after such nine-month
period but within two years of the date of termination, then at the time of such acceptance Lamar Bancshares,
Inc. shall pay to MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. a termination fee of $400,000.

Financial Interests of Lamar Bancshares, Inc.�s Directors and Executive Officers in the Merger

     You should be aware that the directors and executive officers of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. have financial interests in
the merger that are somewhat different from the interests of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. shareholders
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generally. These interests may cause some of these persons to view the proposed transaction differently than you view
it.

Indemnification and Insurance. MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. has agreed to indemnify and hold harmless Lamar
Bancshares, Inc. and its directors and officers against any claims, and any related losses, that arise out of or are based
upon an untrue statement or omission of a material fact made in this proxy statement/prospectus or the registration
statement. MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. will reimburse each such person promptly as incurred for legal and other expenses
reasonably incurred in connection with investigating or defending any such claims; provided, that MidSouth Bancorp,
Inc. will not be liable to the extent that any such claim arises out of or is based upon any such untrue statement or
omission made in reliance on information furnished to MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. by Lamar Bancshares, Inc. or, with
respect to any indemnified person, by that person.

Acceleration of Exercisability of Options. Prior to the consummation of the merger, Lamar Bancshares, Inc. will
accelerate the exercisability of all previously granted Lamar Bancshares, Inc. stock options. Any options not exercised
at the effective date of the merger will be cancelled, and the holders of such cancelled options will receive from
MidSouth Bancorp, Inc., the consideration set forth in the merger agreement. See �The Merger Agreement � Treatment
of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. Stock Options.�

Employment Agreements. At closing, MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. will enter into employment agreements with Lonnie
Weir, Ron Reed, Tim Zajonc, Travis Riley, David McCrady, Wilma Pace, Linda Ott Reed, Jason Riley, Carole
Malmberg, Linda Allen and David Locke, officers and, in the cases of Messrs. Weir and Reed, directors of the Bank. .
The agreement with Mr. Weir will have a one-year term beginning on the effective date of the merger, provide for an
annual salary of $134,013, and under certain circumstances would restrict him from competing with MidSouth
Bancorp, Inc. for one year after termination; the agreement would be followed by a consulting agreement as agreed
upon by MidSouth Bancorp, Inc

     The agreement with Ron Reed will have a term beginning on the effective date of the merger and ending five years
later, subject to renewal, will provide for an annual salary of $140,000, plus additional potential performance bonuses,
and under certain circumstances would restrict Mr. Reed from competing with MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. for two years
in the Counties of Jefferson, Brazos, and Montgomery if his employment were to terminate during this period.

     The other agreements will have a one-year term beginning on the closing date of the merger, provide for an annual
salary ranging from $31,000 to $90,000 and under certain circumstances would restrict each employee from
competing with MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. for one year if his employment were to terminate during this period.

MidSouth Bancorp, Inc., Board of Directors. MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. will cause to be appointed to its board of
directors, to take office immediately after the effective date of the merger, the following persons for the following
terms: Lonnie Weir for a term ending at MidSouth, Inc.,�s 2005 annual stockholders meeting, Ron Reed for a term
ending at MidSouth�s 2006 annual stockholders meeting, and Joe Tortorice, Jr. for a term ending at MidSouth�s 2007
annual stockholders meeting.

Expenses

     The merger agreement provides generally that expenses incurred in connection with the merger agreement and the
transactions contemplated thereby will be borne by the party that has incurred them.

Accounting Treatment
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     MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. will account for the merger using the purchase method of accounting. Under this
accounting method, MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. would record the acquired identifiable assets and liabilities assumed at
their fair market value at the time the merger is complete. Any excess of the cost of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. over the
sum of the fair values of tangible and identifiable intangible assets less liabilities assumed would be recorded as
goodwill. Based on information as of March 31, 2004, management of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. estimates that the total
merger consideration (including issuance of common stock and payments for cancelled stock options) will be
approximately $23 million. Using information as of March 31, 2004, estimated goodwill and other intangibles would
total approximately $10 million. MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.�s reported income would include the operations of
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Lamar Bancshares, Inc. after the merger. Financial statements of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. after completion of the
merger would reflect the impact of the merger with Lamar Bancshares, Inc. Financial statements of MidSouth
Bancorp, Inc. issued before completion of the merger would not be restated retroactively to reflect Lamar Bancshares,
Inc.�s historical financial position or results of operation.

Status Under Federal Securities Laws; Restrictions on Resales

     The shares of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. common stock to be issued pursuant to the merger agreement have been
registered under the Securities Act of 1933, allowing those shares to be freely traded without restriction by persons
who will not be �affiliates� of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. or who were not �affiliates� of Lamar Bancshares, as that term is
defined in Rule 405 under the Securities Act of 1933.

     Directors and certain officers of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. may be deemed to be �affiliates� of Lamar Bancshares, Inc.
These people will not be able to resell the MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. common stock received by them unless such stock
is registered for resale under the Securities Act of 1933 or an exemption from the registration requirements of the
Securities Act of 1933 is available. All affiliates are required under federal securities laws not to sell shares of
MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. common stock received by them in violation of the Securities Act of 1933 and the rules and
regulations thereunder.

MATERIAL FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES

     The following is a summary of the material federal income tax consequences to holders of Lamar Bancshares, Inc.
common stock resulting from the merger. The following is based upon applicable federal law and judicial and
administrative interpretations on the date hereof, any of which is subject to change at any time.

     This discussion assumes that you hold your shares of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. common stock as capital assets and
does not address the state tax consequences or the consequences that may be relevant if you receive special treatment
under some United States federal income tax laws. Shareholders receiving this special treatment include but are not
limited to:

� Foreign persons;

� Financial institutions;

� Tax-exempt organizations;

� Insurance companies;

� Mutual funds;

� Traders in securities that elect mark-to-market;

� Dealers in securities or foreign currencies;

� Persons who received their Lamar Bancshares, Inc. common stock through the exercise of employee stock
options or otherwise as compensation;
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� Persons who have a functional currency other than the U.S. dollar; and

� Persons who hold shares of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. common stock as part of a hedge, straddle or
conversion transaction.

Treatment of Merger

     (a) The merger qualifies as a reorganization under Section 368(a)(1)(A) of the Internal Revenue Code, and Lamar
Bancshares, Inc. and MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. each will be a �party to a reorganization� within the meaning of Section
368(b) of the Code.

     (b) No gain or loss will be recognized by Lamar Bancshares, Inc. or MidSouth Bancorp, Inc., as a result of the
merger.

31

Edgar Filing: MIDSOUTH BANCORP INC - Form S-4

69



     (c) A shareholder of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. who receives both MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. common stock and cash
consideration in exchange for all of his or her shares of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. common stock generally will
recognize gain, but not loss, to the extent of the lesser of:

     (1) the excess, if any, of:

     (a) the sum of the aggregate fair market value of the cash and MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. common stock received,
over

     (b) the shareholder�s tax basis in Lamar Bancshares, Inc. common stock; and

     (2) the amount of cash received;

     (d) The aggregated tax basis of the MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. common stock received by shareholders of Lamar
Bancshares, Inc. who exchange all of their Lamar Bancshares, Inc. common stock in the merger will equal such
shareholder�s aggregate tax basis in the shares of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. common stock being exchanged, reduced by
any amount allocable to a fractioned share interest of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. common stock for which cash is
received and by the amount of any cash consideration received, and increased by the amount of taxable gain, if any
recognized by such shareholder in the merger.

     (e) The holding period of the shares of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. common stock received in the merger will include
the period during which the shares of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. common stock surrendered in exchange therefor were
held, provided such shares of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. common stock were held as capital assets at the effective time of
the merger.

     On April 30, 2004, the Internal Revenue Service issued proposed treasury regulations that would permit a
stockholder that acquired different blocks of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. common stock at different times and at different
prices to determine their tax basis and holding period of the shares of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. common stock they
receive in the merger separately with reference to each block of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. common stock exchanged
therefore.

     If you acquired different blocks of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. common stock at different times and at different prices,
you will be provided the option to specify, by certificate number, which shares of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. common
stock that will be treated as exchanged for the shares of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. common stock that you receive and
which shares of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. common stock that will be treated as exchanged for the cash that you receive,
subject to the right of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. to limit the total amount of shares of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. common
stock and cash you will receive for your shares of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. common stock. Remaining blocks of Lamar
Bancshares, Inc. common stock not specifically allocated by you to cash or to MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. common stock
will be allocated pro rata between the remaining amount of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. common stock and cash that you
receive in exchange for your shares of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. common stock. You are urged to consult with your tax
advisor with respect to whether you should specify which of your shares of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. common stock are
exchanged for MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. common stock and which are exchanged for cash, and with respect to the
possible application of the proposed regulations to you in your particular circumstances.

Dissenters

     A holder of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. common stock who exercises dissenters� rights in connection with the merger
generally will recognize capital gain or loss (assuming the common stock is held as a capital asset) equal to the
difference, if any, between the dissenting holder�s tax basis in the Lamar Bancshares, Inc. common stock exchanged
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and the amount of cash received in exchange therefor.

Possible Treatment of Gain as a Dividend

     If the cash you receive in the merger has the effect of the distribution of a dividend for United States federal
income tax purposes, the gain you recognize generally will be treated as dividend income. If you are an
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individual, your dividend income generally will be subject to tax at long-term capital gains rates, provided that certain
holding period and other requirements are satisfied.

     For purposes of determining whether any gain recognized in the merger will be treated as capital gain or dividend
income, if you exchange your Lamar Bancshares, Inc. common stock for a combination of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.
common stock and cash, then you will be treated as if you first exchanged all of your shares of Lamar Bancshares, Inc.
common stock solely for MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. common stock and then MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. immediately
redeemed a portion of that common stock in exchange for the cash that you actually received. Gain recognized in this
deemed redemption will be treated as capital gain if the deemed redemption results in a �meaningful reduction� in your
deemed percentage stock ownership in MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. For this purpose, your stock ownership will include
stock that you own constructively under Section 318 of the Code. The Internal Revenue Service has ruled that a
shareholder in a publicly held corporation whose relative stock interest is minimal and who exercises no control over
corporate affairs is generally treated as having had a �meaningful reduction� if his or her percentage stock ownership in
the corporation has been reduced to any extent, taking into account the shareholder�s actual and constructive ownership
before and after the deemed redemption. Accordingly, in most circumstances, gain you recognize if you exchange
your shares of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. common stock for a combination of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. common stock
and cash will be capital gain.

Tax Basis and Holding Period

     Your tax basis in the MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. common stock received in the merger will equal your tax basis in the
Lamar Bancshares, Inc. common stock surrendered in the merger, increased by the amount of taxable gain or dividend
income, if any, recognized in the merger, and decreased by the amount of cash, if any, received in the merger
(excluding any cash received in lieu of a fractional share interest). Your holding period in the shares of MidSouth
Bancorp, Inc. common stock received in the merger generally will include your holding period for the shares of Lamar
Bancshares, Inc. common stock exchanged therefore. If you have differing bases of holding periods in respect of your
shares of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. common stock, you should consult your tax advisor prior to the exchange with
regard to identifying the bases or holding periods of the particular shares of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. common stock
received in the merger.

Cash Received in Lieu of Fractional Shares

     If you receive cash in lieu of a fractional share of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. common stock, you will recognize
capital gain or loss equal to the difference between the amount of cash you receive and the portion of your tax basis
allocable to the fractional share. Such gain or loss will be long-term capital gain or loss for United States federal
income tax if you have held your shares of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. common stock for more than one year at the time
the merger is completed. Long-term capital gain of an individual is generally subject to a maximum United States
federal income tax rate of 15%.

Backup Withholding

     Unless you comply with certain reporting or certification procedures or are an �exempt recipient� (in general,
corporations and certain other entities), your may be subject to a backup withholding tax of 28% with respect to any
cash payments received in the merger. Foreign shareholders should consult their tax advisors with respect to the
application of withholding rules to any cash payments received in the merger.

Reporting Requirements
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     If you receive any shares of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. common stock pursuant to the merger, you will be required
under Section 1.368-3 of the Treasury Regulations to attach to your federal income tax return for the taxable year in
which the merger occurs, a complete statement of all facts pertinent to the non-recognition of any gain or loss in the
merger. This statement should include a statement as to your cost or other tax basis of the Lamar Bancshares, Inc.
common stock you exchanged in the merger, and the amount of the cash and a description of the shares of MidSouth
Bancorp, Inc. common stock you received in exchange for your shares of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. common stock
pursuant to the merger. You should consult your tax advisor regarding the disclosure requirements and how they apply
to you in your particular circumstances.
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     AS A RESULT OF THE COMPLEXITY OF THE TAX LAWS, AND BECAUSE THE TAX CONSEQUENCES
TO ANY PARTICULAR SHAREHOLDER MAY BE AFFECTED BY MATTERS NOT DISCUSSED HEREIN,
WE RECOMMEND THAT YOU CONSULT YOUR PERSONAL TAX ADVISOR CONCERNING THE
APPLICABLE FEDERAL, STATE AND LOCAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES OF THE MERGER TO YOU.

DISSENTERS� RIGHTS

     If you were a stockholder of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. as of the record date, you may exercise dissenters� rights in
connection with the merger by complying with Articles 5.11, 5.12 and 5.13 of the Texas Business Corporation Act.

     By exercising dissenters� rights, you will be entitled to receive, if the merger is completed, the �fair value� of your
shares of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. common stock as of the day immediately prior to the date of the meeting. As defined
by Texas law, �fair value� excludes any appreciation or depreciation in anticipation of the proposed merger. This value
may differ from the value of the consideration that you would otherwise receive in the merger. The following is a
summary of the statutory procedures that you must follow if you elect to exercise your dissenters� rights under the
Texas Business Corporation Act. This summary is not complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to Articles
5.11, 5.12 and 5.13 of the Texas Business Corporation Act.

How to exercise and perfect your right to dissent. In order to be eligible to exercise your right to dissent from the
merger and to receive, upon compliance with the statutory requirements summarized below, the fair value of your
shares of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. common stock as of the day immediately preceding the meeting, excluding any
appreciation or depreciation in anticipation of the merger, you must:

� before the meeting, provide Lamar Bancshares, Inc. with a written objection to the merger that states that you
intend to exercise your right to dissent if the merger is completed and that provides an address to which a
notice about the outcome of the vote on the merger may be sent;

� not vote your shares of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. common stock in favor of the merger agreement;

� address any written objection with notice of intent to exercise the right of dissent, as follows: Lamar
Bancshares, Inc., 555 N. Dowlen, Beaumont, Texas 77706, Attn: Corporate Secretary; and

� sign every communication.
     In order to exercise properly your dissenters� rights, you must refrain from voting by proxy or in person in favor of
the merger agreement. A stockholder who signs and returns an unmarked proxy card will have his or her shares voted
�FOR� the merger agreement and, as a consequence of that action, such stockholder will be foreclosed from exercising
rights as a dissenting stockholder.

Your demand for payment. If you comply with the items described above and the merger is completed, MidSouth
Bancorp, Inc. will within 10 days of the completion of the merger deliver or mail to all holders of Lamar Bancshares,
Inc. common stock who satisfied the above requirements a written notice that the merger has been completed. You
must, within 10 days of the date the notice was sent to you by MidSouth Bancorp, Inc., send a written demand to
MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. for payment of the fair value of your shares of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. common stock. Such
written demand must state the number of the shares that you owned as of the record date and your estimate of the fair
value of the shares. The fair value of your shares of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. common stock will be the value of the
shares on the day immediately preceding the meeting, without regard to any appreciation or depreciation in
anticipation of the merger.
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Lamar Bancshares, Inc. Shareholders considering seeking appraisal should be aware that the fair value of
their shares as determined under Texas law could be more than, the same as, or less than the merger
consideration they would be entitled to receive pursuant to the merger agreement if they did not seek appraisal
of their shares. Shareholders also should be aware that investment banking opinions as to fairness from a
financial point of view are not necessarily opinions as to fair value under the Texas Business Corporation Act.

34

Edgar Filing: MIDSOUTH BANCORP INC - Form S-4

75



     If you should fail to make such a demand within the 10 day period, you will lose the right to dissent and will be
bound by the terms of the merger agreement. In order to present your dissenters� rights, you must also submit your
stock certificates to MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. within 20 days of making a demand for payment with a notation on your
stock certificates that such demand has been made. The failure to do so will, at MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.�s option,
terminate your rights to dissent and appraisal unless a court of competent jurisdiction for good and sufficient cause
shown directs otherwise. Any notice addressed to MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. must be addressed to:

MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.
Attn: Corporate Secretary
102 Versailles Boulevard
Lafayette, Louisiana 70501

Shareholders who hold their shares in brokerage accounts or other nominee forms and who wish to exercise
appraisal rights are urged to consult with their broker to determine appropriate procedures for the making of
a demand for appraisal by such nominee.

MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.�s action upon receipt of your demand for payment. Within 20 days of receiving your
written demand for payment and estimate of the fair value of your shares of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. common stock.
MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. must mail or deliver to you a written notice that either:

� accepts the amount declared in the written demand and agrees to pay that amount within 90 days after the
effective time of the merger and upon surrender of the certificate representing your shares of Lamar
Bancshares, Inc. common stock; or

� states MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.�s estimate of the fair value of the shares and offers to pay the amount of that
estimate within 90 days after the effective time of the merger and upon surrender of the certificate
representing your shares of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. common stock and upon receipt of notice within 60- days
after the completion of the merger that you agree to accept MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.�s estimate.

Payment of the fair value of your shares of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. common stock upon agreement of an estimate.
If you and MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. agree upon the fair value of your shares of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. common stock
within 60 days after completion of the merger, MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. will pay the amount of the agreed value to you
upon receipt of your duly endorsed share certificates within 90 days of the completion of the merger. Upon payment
of the agreed fair value, you will cease to have any interest in such shares.

Commencement of legal proceedings if a demand for payment remains unsettled. If you and MidSouth Bancorp,
Inc. have not agreed upon the fair value of your shares of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. common stock within the 60-day
period immediately subsequent to the completion of the merger, then either you or MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. may,
within 60 days of the expiration of the 60-day period after the effective time of the merger, file a petition in any court
of competent jurisdiction in Beaumont, Texas, asking for a finding and determination of the fair value of the shares. If
filed by a stockholder, service of the petition must be made upon MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. as the surviving
corporation, and MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. must, within 10 days after service, file with the clerk of the court a list with
the names and addresses of all stockholders who have demanded payment and not reached agreement as to the fair
value. If filed by MidSouth Bancorp, Inc., the petition must be accompanied by such a list. The clerk of court is to
give notice to MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. and all stockholders named on the list of the time and place fixed for the
hearing of the petition. After the hearing of the petition, the court will determine the stockholders who have complied
with the statutory requirements and have become entitled to the valuation of and payment for their shares, and the
court will appoint one or more qualified appraisers to determine the fair value.
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     The appraisers may examine the books and records of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. and will provide interested parties a
reasonable opportunity to submit pertinent evidence. The appraisers will make a determination of the fair value upon
such examination as they deem proper. The appraisers will file a report of the value in the office of the clerk of court,
notice of which will be given to the parties in interest. The parties in interest may submit exceptions to the report,
which will be heard before the court upon the law and the facts. The court will adjudge the fair value of the shares of
the stockholders entitled to payment for their shares and will direct the payment thereof by MidSouth Bancorp, Inc., as
the surviving corporation, together with interest, which will begin to accrue 91 days
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after the effective time of the merger. However, the judgment will be payable only upon and simultaneously with
surrender of the certificates representing your shares, duly endorsed. Upon MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.�s payment of the
judgment, you will cease to have any interest in the shares. The court will allow the appraisers a reasonable fee as
court costs, and all court costs will be allotted between the parties in the manner that the court determines to be fair
and equitable, with the respective parties to bear their own attorneys� fees. Any shareholder who had demanded
payment for such holder�s shares may withdraw such demand at any time before payment or before any petition has
been filed for valuation by the court. After a demand has been withdrawn, the shareholder and all persons claiming
under the stockholder will be conclusively presumed to have approved the merger agreement and will be bound by its
terms.

Failure to follow the steps required by Articles 5.11, 5.12 and 5.13 of the Texas Business Corporation Act for
perfecting appraisal rights may result in the loss of appraisal rights, in which event a Lamar Bancshares, Inc.
shareholder will be entitled to receive the consideration with respect to his, her or its dissenting shares in
accordance with the merger agreement. In view of the complexity of the provisions of Articles 5.11, 5.12 and
5.13 of the Texas Business Corporation Act, if you are a Lamar Bancshares, Inc. shareholder and are
considering exercising your appraisal rights under the Texas Business Corporation Act, you should consult
your own legal advisor.

INFORMATION ABOUT LAMAR BANK AND LAMAR BANCSHARES, INC.

     Lamar Bank was organized by local Beaumont, Texas businessmen who recognized a need for banking facilities in
south Beaumont, and it opened for business in August 1959. The past president of First National Bank of Beaumont,
Paul Tullos, was named as the first president of Lamar Bank. Richard Cobb succeeded Tullos in 1962. In 1966,
Lonnie Weir was elected as president and CEO of Lamar Bank, was later named Chairman of the Board in 1986, and
still serves as Chairman of the Board today. Ron Reed was elected President of Lamar Bank in 1999, and was elected
to the position of CEO in 2001.

     Lamar Bancshares, Inc. was formed in 1983, and Lamar Bank�s name was changed from Lamar State Bank to
Lamar Bank. Lamar Bank currently has three full service locations in Beaumont, Texas, one in Vidor, Texas, and
recently opened branches in College Station, Texas in November 2001 and Conroe, Texas in May 2002. In 1996, the
home office designation for Lamar Bank and Lamar Bancshares, Inc. officially became 555 N. Dowlen Road,
Beaumont, Texas 77706.

     Lamar Delaware Financial Corporation, a Delaware corporation, was founded on March 25, 1992. Other than
owning 100% of the stock of Lamar Bank, Lamar Delaware Financial Corporation conducts no activities.
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BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP OF LAMAR BANCSHARES, INC. COMMON STOCK

     The following table sets forth certain information regarding the beneficial ownership of Lamar Bancshares, Inc.�s
common stock as of June 18, 2004, by (i) each person known by Lamar Bancshares, Inc. to be the beneficial owner of
more than 5% of the outstanding shares of common stock of Lamar Bancshares, Inc.; (ii) each director of Lamar
Bancshares, Inc.; and (iii) all directors and executive officers of Lamar Bancshares, Inc., as a group.

Lamar Bancshares, Inc. � Directors and Insiders Beneficial Stock Ownership
June 18, 2004

Number Percent
Name Position with Bank of Shares of Stock

William R. Miller
  William R. and Carolyn Miller

Director
13,274 5.94%

Carlo Busceme, Jr.
  Charlene and Carlo Busceme Jr. JTWROS

Director
3,900 1.75%

Carl Peter Johnsen II Director 9,839 4.41%
J. Hoke Peacock II Director 16,241 7.27%
John A. Raney, Jr. Director 5,948 2.66%
Ron D. Reed President and C.E.O. 3,500 1.57%
William Jack Tinkle (Will) Director 5,769 2.58%
Joe V. Tortorice, Jr. Director

Vice-Chairman 21,481 7.62%
Gene A. Van Meter Director
Gene A. Van Meter 14,812
Mr. & Mrs. Gene A. Van Meter 7,188

22,000 9.85%
Lonnie C. Weir Chairman of the Board 3,755 1.68%
Tim Zajonc Executive Vice President 5,400 2.42%

111,107 49.75%
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SELECTED HISTORICAL FINANCIAL DATA OF LAMAR BANCSHARES, INC.

     Selected financial data with respect to each of the years in the five-year period ended December 31, 2003, and the
three months ended March 31, 2004 and 2003 is set forth below. The information for the three months ended
March 31, 2004 and 2003 and for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 has been derived from the
consolidated financial statements of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. and subsidiaries included elsewhere herein.

At or For
Three Months At or For

Ended March 31, Year Ended December 31,

(in thousands, except per share
data and ratios) 2004 2003 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999

Summary of Income Data:
Total interest income $ 1,448 $ 1,550 $ 6,195 $ 6,564 $ 7,247 $ 7,034 $ 5,987
Total interest expense 256 323 1,280 1,652 2,826 2,637 1,758
Net interest income 1,192 1,227 4,915 4,912 4,421 4,397 4,229
Provision for loan losses 23 42 277 202 149 236 197
Non-interest income 577 624 2,681 2,504 2,149 1,882 1,525
Non-interest expense 1,347 1,196 5,399 5,227 4,651 4,451 3,518
Income (loss) before securities
gains or losses, extraordinary
items and income taxes 399 613 1,920 1,987 1,770 1,592 2,039
Income tax expense � � � � � 504 766
Net income (loss) net of income
tax expense 399 613 1,920 1,987 1,770 1,088 1,273
Extraordinary items � � � � � � �
Securities gains (losses) 56 � � 193 -13 -41 102
Net income (loss) 455 613 1,920 2,180 1,757 1,047 1,375
Per Share Income Data:
Earnings per common share $ 2.22 $ 2.96 $ 8.86 $ 10.66 $ 8.64 $ 5.15 $ 6.38
Cash dividends declared $ 2.00 $ 2.18 $ 9.05 $ 9.26 $ 8.54 $ 6.36 $ 6.00
Book value per share $ 58.22 $ 58.92 $ 56.99 $ 58.47 $ 56.94 $ 55.90 $ 56.30
Common shares outstanding at
end of period 222,339 208,594 216,564 204,474 203,374 203,374 215,571
Selected Balance Sheet Data:
Total assets $112,459 $108,680 $116,112 $110,286 $113,443 $110,538 $ 97,968
Securities available for sale 21,006 23,658 20,670 24,103 10,727 10,024 12,373
Investment securities held to
maturity � � � � 15,597 17,789 19,208
Loans, net of allowance for loan
losses 74,701 69,040 75,596 70,506 68,062 65,390 54,976
Reserve for loan losses 946 852 963 832 766 734 613
Deposits 98,736 95,743 102,962 97,544 101,207 93,384 85,410
Other liabilities 778 648 807 787 657 785 422
Shareholders� equity 12,945 12,290 12,342 11,955 11,579 11,369 12,137
Performance Ratios:
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Return on average shareholders�
equity 14.4% 20.2% 15.8% 18.5% 15.3% 8.9% 11.1%
Return on average assets 1.6% 2.2% 1.7% 1.9% 1.6% 1.0% 1.4%
Net interest rate margin 82.3% 79.2% 79.3% 74.8% 61.0% 62.5% 70.6%
Average shareholders� equity to
average assets 11.1% 11.1% 10.7% 10.5% 10.2% 11.3% 12.8%
Efficiency ratio (non-interest
expense to net interest income
and non-interest income) 76.1% 64.6% 71.1% 68.7% 70.9% 71.4% 60.1%
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LAMAR BANCSHARES, INC. MANAGEMENT�S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

     Lamar Bancshares, Inc. is a one-bank holding company that conducts substantially all of its business through its
wholly-owned subsidiary, Lamar Delaware Financial Corporation (also a one-bank holding company) and its
wholly-owned subsidiary, Lamar Bank. Following is management�s discussion of factors that management believes are
among those necessary for an understanding of Lamar Bancshares, Inc.�s financial statements. The discussion should
be read in conjunction with Lamar Bancshares, Inc.�s consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto presented
herein.

Overview

     Lamar Bancshares, Inc.�s net income for the year ended December 31, 2003 totaled $1.9 million compared to
$2.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2002. In year-to-date comparison, net income decreased primarily
because there were no sales of securities in 2003. Non-interest income declined from 2002, for this reason, but the
decline was partially offset by increased mortgage origination income. Non-interest expenses were held to a
$.17 million or 3% increase over 2002, primarily in salaries and employee benefits.

     Lamar Bancshares, Inc.�s total consolidated assets increased $5.8 million or 5% from $110.3 million at
December 31, 2002 to $116.1 million at December 31, 2003. Total deposits increased $5.4 million, from $97.5 million
at December 31, 2002 to $103 million at December 31, 2003.

     Loans, net of Allowance for Loan Losses (�ALL�), increased $5.1 million or 7%, from $70.5 million at
December 31, 2002 to $75.6 million at December 31, 2003. Nonperforming loans, including loans past due 90 days
and over, as a percentage of total loans increased from .12% or $88,000 at December of 2002 to .13% or $100,000 at
December of 2003. Net charge-offs for 2003 were $146,000 or .2% of average loans compared to $136,000 or .2% a
year earlier. Lamar Bancshares, Inc. provided $277,000 for possible loan losses in 2003 compared to $202,000 in
2002 to bring the ALL as a percentage of total loans to 1.26% at year-end 2003 compared to 1.17% at year-end 2002.

     Lamar Bancshares, Inc.�s leverage ratio was 9.6% at December 31, 2003, compared to 9.0% at December 31, 2002.
Return on average common equity was 15.81% for 2003 compared to 18.53% for 2002. Return on average assets was
1.7% compared to 1.95% for the same periods, respectively.

Earnings Analysis

Net Interest Income. The primary source of earnings for Lamar Bancshares, Inc. is net interest income, which is
the difference between interest earned on loans and investments and interest paid on deposits and other liabilities.
Changes in the volume and mix of earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities combined with changes in market
rates of interest greatly affect net interest income. Lamar Bancshares, Inc.�s net interest margin, which is net interest
income as a percentage of average earning assets, remained stable at 4.82%, 4.86%, and 4.34% for the years ended
December 31, 2003, 2002, and 2001, respectively. Tables 1 and 2 analyze the changes in net interest income for each
of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2003.
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Table 1
Consolidated Average Balances, Interest and Rates
(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001

Average Average Average
Average Yield/ Average Yield/ Average Yield/
Volume Interest Rate Volume Interest Rate Volume Interest Rate

Assets
Interest bearing
deposits $ 1,447 $ 12 0.83% $ � $ � � $ � $ � �
Investment
securities1 22,386 1,074 4.80% 25,213 1,165 4.62% 27,068 1,471 5.43%

Total Investments 23,833 1,086 4.56% 25,213 1,165 4.62% 27,068 1,471 5.43%
Federal funds sold 4,025 47 1.17% 5,500 128 2.33% 6,813 275 4.04%
Loans 73,949 5,052 6.83% 70,084 5,257 7.50% 67,476 5,483 8.13%

Total Earning
Assets 101,807 6,185 6.08% 100,797 6,550 6.50% 101,357 7,229 7.13%

Allowance for loan
losses (898) (799) (750)
Nonearning assets 12,290 11,867 11,384

Total Assets $113,199 $111,865 $111,991

Liabilities and
Stockholders�
Equity
Savings, NOW,
and Money Market
deposits $ 38,317 $ 129 0.34% $ 37,781 $ 200 0.53% $ 37,047 $ 424 1.14%
Other time deposits 41,526 1,151 2.77% 42,609 1,452 3.41% 44,430 2,402 5.41%

Total interest
bearing liabilities 79,843 1,280 1.60% 80,390 1,652 2.05% 81,477 2,826 3.47%
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Demand deposits 20,410 18,986 18,319
Other liabilities 797 722 721
Stockholders�
equity 12,149 11,767 11,474

Total Liabilities
and Stockholders�
Equity $113,199 $111,865 $111,991

Net interest income
and net interest
spread $4,905 4.47% $4,898 4.44% $4,403 3.66%

Net yield on
earning assets 4.82% 4.86% 4.34%

1 Securities classified as available-for-sale are included in average balances and interest income figures reflect
interest earned on such securities.

40

Edgar Filing: MIDSOUTH BANCORP INC - Form S-4

84



     Net interest income increased $7,000 for 2003 over 2002 and $500,000 for 2002 over 2001. Net interest income
improved over the past two years primarily due to a significant decline in interest expense. Declining rates resulted in
decreases in interest income of $300,000 in 2003 from 2002 and $700,000 in 2002 from 2001. The average yield on
loans in 2003 was 6.83%, down 67 basis points from 7.50% in 2002 and down 130 basis points from 8.13% in 2001.
Average loans increased $3.9 million in 2003 and $2.6 million in 2002, and average loans as a percentage of average
earnings assets increased from 67% in 2001 and 70% in 2002 to 73% in 2003. Interest income from loans decreased
$200,000 from 2002 to 2003 and decreased $200,000 from 2001 to 2002.

     The average volume of investment securities was $23.8 million in 2003, a decrease of $1.4 million primarily due to
the increase in loan volume. The average volume of investment securities decreased $1.9 million in 2002 to $25.2
million compared to $27.1 million in 2001. Average yields on investment securities decreased to 4.56% in 2003, down
6 basis points from 4.62% in 2002 and 87 basis points from 5.43% in 2001. The decrease in yield during 2003 and
2002 combined with the decreases in volume for both years resulted in decreases to interest income on investment
securities of $79,000 in 2003 and $300,000 in 2002.

     Lamar Bancshares, Inc. maintained its core non-interest bearing deposit base at 20% of average total deposits in
2003. The interest-bearing deposits mix remained steady in 2003, with 38% in NOW, money market, and savings
deposits and 41% in other time deposits. Improvement in 2002 involved strengthening its core deposit base of
non-interest bearing deposits to 19% of average total deposits and improving the mix of average total interest-bearing
deposits to 38% NOW, money market and savings deposits and 43% other time deposits. These two categories of
interest-bearing deposits were 37% and 45% of average total deposits, respectively, in 2001.

     Significant rate decreases for interest-bearing deposits occurred for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002.
Interest expense decreased $300,000 in 2003 and $1.2 million in 2002. Average interest-bearing deposits decreased
$.5 million in 2003 and $1.1 million in 2002. The average rate paid on all interest-bearing deposits fell 45 basis points
to 1.60% in 2003, after falling 142 basis points to 2.05% in 2002 from an average rate of 3.47% in 2001.

Table 2
Changes in Net Interest Income
(in thousands)

2003 Compared to 2002 2002 Compared to 2001

Total
Increase

Change Attributable
To Total

Increase

Change Attributable
To

(Decrease) Volume Rates (Decrease) Volume Rates

Interest earned on:
Interest bearing deposits $ 12 $ 12 $ � $ � $ � $ �
Investment securities (91) (138) 47 (306) (96) (210)
Federal funds sold (81) (28) (53) (147) (46) (101)
Loans (205) 331 (536) (226) 228 (454)

Total (365) 177 (542) (679) 86 (765)
Interest paid on:
Interest bearing deposits (372) (11) (361) (1,174) (38) (1,136)
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Net Interest Income $ 7 $ 188 $(181) $ 495 $124 $ 371
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Non-Interest Income.

Excluding Securities Transactions. Service charges and fees on deposit accounts represent the primary source of
non-interest income for Lamar Bancshares, Inc. Income from service charges and fees on deposit accounts (including
insufficient funds fees) decreased $41,609 in 2003 primarily due to a decrease in the volume of insufficient funds
checks processed by Lamar Bancshares, Inc. Income from service charges and fees on deposit accounts (including
insufficient funds fees) increased $8,083 from 2001 to 2002, primarily due to increased activity in Lamar Bancshares,
Inc.�s VISA check card services. Non-interest income resulting from other charges and fees increased $5,054 in 2003
as compared to $2,881 in 2002. Refinancing activity and new construction increased income from mortgage fees by
$200,000 and $400,000 in 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Securities Transactions. Lamar Bancshares, Inc. had no gains on sales of securities in 2003 and $193,432 in 2002.

Non-Interest Expense. Total non-interest expense increased 3% or $200,000 from 2002 to 2003 and 12% or
$600,000 from 2001 to 2002.

     Salaries and employee benefits increased $154,432 or 6% in 2003, primarily due to increases in credit
administration and incentive compensation based on Lamar Bancshares, Inc.�s mortgage lending program. Full-time
equivalent employees increased for 49 in 2002 to 54 in 2003.

     In 2002, salaries and employee benefits increased $403,467 or 17% while full-time equivalent employees
decreased from 51 in 2001 to 49 in 2002. Lamar Bancshares, Inc.�s mortgage lending program, with incentive
compensation and new lending officers, was the primary factor in increased salaries for 2002. Benefit costs increased
primarily due to the cost of group health insurance, which increased $112,862 or 67% in 2002.

     Occupancy expenses increased $40,267 or 5% in 2003 and $61,716 or 9% in 2002 primarily due to the addition of
new leased facilities, maintenance expenses and equipment depreciation. Premises and equipment additions and
leasehold improvements totaled approximately $200,000, $100,000 and $900,000 for the years 2003, 2002, and 2001,
respectively. The replacement of bank vehicles, equipment upgrades for all offices and acquisition of imaging
technology were included in additions for 2003. Additions in 2002 included equipment upgrades for all offices,
including a new vehicle and improvements at the Avenue A location. Additions in 2001 included the new Parkdale
Plaza and Vidor facilities.

     Total other non-interest expense decreased $22,317 or 1.3% in 2003 and increased $110,379 or 6.8% in 2002. The
decrease in 2003 resulted primarily from a decrease of $58,171 in repossession expenses.

Income Taxes. Lamar Bancshares, Inc. elected S corporation status for itself and its subsidiaries effective
January 1, 2001. Earnings and losses after that date have been included in the personal income tax returns of the
stockholders and taxed depending on their personal tax strategies. Accordingly, Lamar Bancshares, Inc. will not incur
additional income tax obligations.

Balance Sheet Analysis

Securities. Total investment securities decreased $3.4 million from $24.1 million in 2002 to $20.7 million in 2003.
Average duration of the portfolio was 2.2 years as of December 31, 2003 and the average yield was 4.56%. A decline
in the market value of securities available-for-sale is included in the net change in 2003. Unrealized net losses in the
securities available-for-sale portfolio were $89,622 at December 31, 2003, compared to unrealized net gains of
$183,064 at December 31, 2002. These amounts result from interest rate fluctuations and do not represent permanent
adjustments of value. Moreover, classification of securities as available-for-sale does not necessarily indicate that the
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securities will be sold prior to maturity.

     At December 31, 2003, approximately 12% of Lamar Bancshares, Inc.�s securities available-for-sale portfolio
represented mortgage-backed securities. Lamar Bank does not own any �high-risk� securities as defined
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by the FFIEC. An additional 9.9% of the available-for-sale portfolio consisted of U.S. Agency securities, while a
GNMA mutual fund represented 39.5% of the portfolio. The remaining 38.5% of the portfolio consisted of corporate
bonds rated Baa or better.

Loan Portfolio. Loan growth improved in 2003, with $5.2 million or 7.32% added to the portfolio compared to
$2.5 million added during 2002. Lamar Bancshares, Inc.�s loan portfolio totaled $76.6 million at December 31, 2003
compared to $71.3 million at December 31, 2002. Of the $5.2 million growth in 2003, $5.0 million was in the real
estate portfolio, including construction loans. The commercial loan portfolio increased $200,000, while the consumer
(and other) portfolio showed a slight decrease. In 2002, the real estate portfolio increased $10.2 million, while the
commercial portfolio decreased $2.5 million and the consumer (and other) portfolio experienced a decrease of
$5.1 million. Lamar Bancshares, Inc.�s fixed rate loans represent approximately 65% of the loan portfolio, with the
majority maturing within three years. Approximately 35% of the loan portfolio earns a variable rate of interest. The
mix of variable and fixed rate loans provides some protection to changes in market rates of interest.

Asset Quality

Credit Risk Management. Lamar Bancshares, Inc. manages its credit risk by observing written, board approved
policies which govern all underwriting activities. Bank concentrations are monitored and reported to the Board of
Directors quarterly. At December 31, 2003, Lamar Bancshares, Inc. had no industry segment concentrations that
aggregate more than 10% of the loan portfolio.

Nonperforming Assets. Table 3 contains information about Lamar Bancshares, Inc.�s nonperforming assets,
including loans past due 90 days or more and still accruing.

     Nonperforming assets, including loans past due 90 days or more and still accruing, totaled $609,522 at
December 31, 2003, $350,077 at December 31, 2002 and $638,546 at December 31, 2001. The increase in
nonperforming assets in 2003 resulted primarily from a real estate foreclosure. The reduction in nonperforming assets
in 2002 resulted from a reduction in nonperforming loans.

     Consumer and commercial loans are placed on nonaccrual when principal or interest is 90 days past due, or sooner
if the full collectibility of principal or interest is doubtful, unless the underlying collateral fully supports both the
principal and accrued interest and the loan is in the process of collection. Policies provide that retail (consumer) loans
that become 120 days delinquent be routinely charged off. Loans classified for regulatory purposes but not included in
Table 3 do not represent material amounts that management has serious doubts as to the ability of the borrower to
comply with loan repayment terms.

Table 3
Nonperforming Assets and Loans Past Due 90 Days

December 31,

2003 2002 2001

Nonperforming loans $ 64,000 $ 55,000 $421,000
Loans past due 90 days or more and still accruing 36,000 33,000 40,000

Total nonperforming loans 100,000 88,000 461,000
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Other real estate owned, net 359,719 � �
Other assets repossessed 149,803 262,077 177,546

Total nonperforming assets $609,522 $350,077 $638,546

Nonperforming loans as a % of total loans 0.13% 0.12% 0.67%
Nonperforming assets as a % of total assets 0.52% 0.32% 0.56%
Allowance for loan losses as a % of nonperforming loans 962.95% 945.51% 166.24%
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Allowance for Loan Losses. Provisions totaling $276,705, $202,070, and $148,828 for the years 2003, 2002 and
2001, respectively, were considered necessary by management to bring the allowance to a level sufficient to cover
probable losses in the loan portfolio. Table 4 analyzes activity in the allowance for 2003 and 2002.

     The allowance is comprised of specific reserves assigned to each impaired loan for which probable loss has been
identified as well as general reserves to maintain the allowance at an acceptable level for other loans in the portfolio
where probable losses may exist. Factors contributing to the assignment of specific reserves include an evaluation of
the financial capacity of the borrower, changes in the value of underlying collateral, local and national economic
conditions, and overall trends in the loan portfolio and concentrations of credit.

     Evaluations of the allowance are performed in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Factors
considered in determining provisions include estimated losses in significant credits; known deterioration in
concentrations of credit; historical loss experience; trends in nonperforming assets; volume, maturity and composition
of the loan portfolio; off balance sheet credit risk; lending policies and control systems; national and local economic
conditions; the experience, ability and depth of lending management and the results of examinations of the loan
portfolio by regulatory agencies and others. The processes by which management determines the appropriate level of
the allowance, and the corresponding provision for possible credit losses, involves considerable judgment; therefore,
no assurance can be give that future losses will not vary from current estimates.

Table 4
Summary of Loan Loss Experience

2003 2002 2001

Balance at beginning of year $832,047 $766,371 $733,778
Charge-offs:
Commercial, financial and agricultural � � 15,031
Installment loans to individuals 125,757 148,490 97,197
Other 36,217 � 4,007

Total Charge-offs 161,974 148,490 116,235

Recoveries
Installment loans to individuals 9,099 12,096 �
Other 7,077 � �

Total Recoveries 16,176 12,096 �

Net Charge-offs 145,798 136,394 116,235
Provision charged to expense 276,705 202,070 148,828

Balance at end of year 962,954 832,047 766,371

Edgar Filing: MIDSOUTH BANCORP INC - Form S-4

91



Net charge-offs to average loans 0.20% 0.19% 0.17%
Year-end allowance to year end loans 1.26% 1.17% 1.11%

44

Edgar Filing: MIDSOUTH BANCORP INC - Form S-4

92



Refer to �Balance Sheet Analysis � Asset Quality � Allowance for Loan Losses� for a description of the factors which
influence management�s judgment in determining the amount of the provisions to the allowance.

Allocation of the Allowance for Loan Losses (in thousands)

% of
category

% of
category

2003
to total
loans 2002

to total
loans

Allowance for Loan Losses
Commercial $106 12% $ 92 12%
Real estate 539 51% 449 48%
Consumer 318 37% 291 40%

$963 100% $832 100%

Funding Sources

Deposits. As of December 31, 2003, total deposits increased $5.4 million to $102.9 million, up from $97.5 million
at December 31, 2002. Core deposits, defined as all deposits other than time deposits of $100,000 or more, decreased
to 90.0% of total deposits at year-end 2003 as compared to 91.2% of total deposits at year-end 2002. Included in core
deposits, non-interest bearing deposits represented 20.7% of total deposits in 2003 versus 20.0% of total deposits at
December 31, 2002. Time deposits of $100,000 or more totaled $10.4 million at December 31, 2003, an increase of
$1.8 million from the $8.6 million reported at year-end 2002. Total time deposits increased $700,000 in 2003. Lamar
Bancshares, Inc. has no brokered deposits. Additional information on Lamar Bancshares, Inc.�s deposits appears in
Note 6 to Lamar Bancshares, Inc.�s Consolidated Financial Statements.

Capital. Lamar Bancshares, Inc. and the Lamar Bank are required by applicable regulatory guidelines to maintain
certain minimum capital levels. Risk-based capital requirements are intended to make regulatory capital more
sensitive to the risk profile of an institution�s assets. At December 31, 2003, Lamar Bancshares, Inc. and Lamar Bank
were in compliance with statutory minimum capital requirements. Minimum capital requirements include a total
risk-based capital ratio of 8.0% with Tier 1 capital not less than 4.0%, and a leverage ratio (Tier 1 to total average
adjusted assets) of 4.0% based upon the regulators latest composite rating of the institution. As of December 31, 2003,
Lamar Bancshares, Inc.�s Tier 1 capital to average adjusted assets (the �leverage ratio�) was 9.6% as compared to 9.0%
at December 31, 2002. Tier 1 capital to risk weighted assets was 12.2% and 11.6% for 2003 and 2002, respectively.
Total capital to risk weighted assets was 13.3% and 12.6%, respectively, for the same periods.

     The Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation Improvement Act of 1991 established a capital-based supervisory
system for all insured depository institutions that imposes increasing restrictions on the institution as its capital
deteriorates. Lamar Bank continued to be classified as �well capitalized� throughout the three years ended December 31,
2003. No significant restrictions are placed on Lamar Bank as a result of this classification.

     As discussed under the heading �Balance Sheet Analysis-Securities,� $89,622 in unrealized losses on securities
available-for-sale was recorded as a deduction from stockholders� equity as of December 31, 2003. As of December
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31, 2002, $183,064 in unrealized gains on securities available-for-sale was recorded as an addition to stockholders�
equity. While the net unrealized gain or loss on securities available for sale is required to be reported as a separate
component of stockholders� equity, it does not affect operating results or regulatory capital ratios. The net unrealized
gains reported for December 31, 2003 and 2002 did, however, affect Lamar Bancshares, Inc.�s equity to assets ratio for
financial reporting purposes. The ratio of equity to assets was 10.63% at December 31, 2003 and 10.84% at
December 31, 2002.

Interest Rate Sensitivity. Interest rate sensitivity is the sensitivity of net interest income and economic value of
equity to changes in market rates of interest. The initial step in the process of monitoring Lamar Bancshares, Inc.�s
interest rate sensitivity involves the preparation of a basic gap analysis of earning assets and interest-bearing
liabilities. The analysis presents differences in the repricing and maturity characteristics of earning assets and
interest-bearing liabilities for selected time periods.

     During 2003, Lamar Bancshares, Inc. utilized an in-house developed model of asset and liability management. The
model uses basic gap data and additional information regarding rates and prepayment characteristics to construct a
static gap analysis that factors in re-pricing characteristics and cash flows from
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payments received on loans and mortgage-backed securities. The resulting gap analysis is presented in Table 5. The
cumulative gap at one year is approximately $4.8 million or 4.22% of total assets. This is within Lamar Bank�s policy
guideline of + or � 15%.

     With the exception of NOW, money market and savings deposits, the table presents interest-bearing liabilities on a
contractual basis. While NOW, money market and savings deposits are contractually due on demand, historically,
Lamar Bancshares, Inc. has experienced stability in these deposits despite changes in market rates.

     Lamar Bancshares, Inc. Bank does not invest in derivatives and has none in its securities portfolio.

Table 5
Interest Rate Sensitivity and Gap Analysis Table (in thousands)
December 31, 2003

0 - 3 MOS 4 - 6 MOS 7 - 12 MOS 1 - 2 YRS >2 YRS Total

Assets
Federal funds sold $ 4,600 $ � $ � $ � $ � $ 4,600
Investments 458 3,152 3,448 4,867 12,190 24,115
Commercial loans 5,176 871 1,108 1,064 611 8,830
Real estate loans 17,416 4,463 5,329 4,066 7,936 39,210
Consumer loans 3,326 2,824 5,135 8,420 8,478 28,183
Allowance for loan
losses (327) (103) (146) (171) (216) (963)
Other assets � � � � 10,878 10,878

Total Assets $ 30,649 $ 11,207 $ 14,874 $18,246 $ 39,877 $114,853

Liabilities
Demand accounts $ � $ � $ � $ � $ 21,450 $ 21,450
NOW accounts � � � � 19,134 19,134
Savings 11,859 � � � � 11,859
Money market 8,742 � � � � 8,742
CD�s 16,963 7,804 6,514 3,570 7,098 41,949
Other liabilities � � � � 836 836
Stockholders� equity � � � � 10,883 10,883

Total Liabilities $ 37,564 $ 7,804 $ 6,514 $ 3,570 $ 59,401 $114,853

Pricing/Maturity gap
Period $ (6,915) $ 3,403 $ 8,360 $14,676 $(19,524)
Cumulative $ (6,915) $ (3,512) $ 4,848 $19,524
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Cumulative Gap/Total
Assets -6.02% -3.06% 4.22% 17.00%

Liquidity

Bank Liquidity. Liquidity is the availability of funds to meet contractual obligations as they become due and to
fund operations. Lamar Bank�s primary liquidity needs involve its ability to accommodate customers� demands for
deposit withdrawals as well as their requests for credit. Liquidity is deemed adequate when sufficient cash to meet
these needs can be promptly raised at a reasonable cost to Lamar Bank.

     Liquidity is provided primarily by three sources: a stable base of funding sources, an adequate level of assets that
can be readily converted into cash, and borrowing lines with correspondent banks. Cash deposits at other banks,
federal funds sold and principal payments received on loans and mortgage-baked securities provide additional primary
sources of asset liquidity for Lamar Bank. Approximately $7 million in projected cash flows from securities during
2004 provides an additional source of liquidity. Lamar Bancshares, Inc. also has significant borrowing capacity with
the Federal Home Loan Bank of Dallas, Texas and borrowing lines with other correspondent banks.
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Parent Company Liquidity. At the parent company level, cash is needed primarily to pay distributions on
common stock. Distribution from Lamar Bank totaling $1,431,181 and $1,894,323 provided additional liquidity for
the parent company in 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Distributions. The primary source of cash distributions on Lamar Bancshares, Inc.�s common stock is distributions
from Lamar Bank. Lamar Bank has the ability to declare distributions to the parent company without prior approval of
its primary regulator. However, Lamar Bank�s ability to pay distributions would be prohibited if the result would cause
Lamar Bank�s regulatory capital to fall below minimum requirements.

     Cash distributions totaling $1,959,123 and $1,893,779 were declared to common stockholders during 2003 and
2002, respectively. It is the intention of the Board of Directors of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. Bank to continue to pay
quarterly distributions on the common stock as set out in the merger agreement.

Impact of Inflation and Changing Prices

     The consolidated financial statements of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. and notes thereto, presented herein, have been
prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, which require the measurement of financial
position and operation results in terms of historical dollars without considering the change in the relative purchasing
power money over time and due to inflation. The impact of inflation is reflected in the increased cost of Lamar
Bancshares, Inc.�s operations. Unlike most industrial companies, nearly all the assets and liabilities of Lamar
Bancshares, Inc. are financial. As a result, interest rates have a greater impact on Lamar Bancshares, Inc.�s
performance than do the effects of general levels of inflation. Interest rates do no necessarily move in the same
direction or to the same extent as the prices of goods and services.

Critical Accounting Policies

     Certain critical accounting policies affect the more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of
consolidated financial statements. Lamar Bancshares, Inc.�s single most critical accounting policy relates to its
allowance for loan losses, which reflects the estimated losses resulting from the inability of its borrowers to make loan
payments. If the financial condition of its borrowers were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to
make payments, its estimates would be updated and additional provisions for loan losses may be required. Lamar
Bancshares, Inc.�s methodology for determining the allowance and for considering the impact of impaired loans is
described in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

Forward Looking Statements

     The Private Securities Litigation Act of 1995 provides a safe harbor for disclosure of information about a
company�s anticipated future financial performance. This act protects a company from unwarranted litigation if actual
results differ from management expectations. This management�s discussion and analysis reflects management�s current
views and estimates of future economic circumstances, industry conditions, Lamar Bancshares, Inc.�s performance and
financial results. A number of factors and uncertainties could cause actual results to differ from the anticipated results
and expectations expressed in the discussion.

COMPARISON OF RIGHTS OF MIDSOUTH BANCORP, INC.
AND LAMAR BANCSHARES, INC. SHAREHOLDERS

     At the effective date of the merger, Lamar Bancshares, Inc. shareholders who receive shares of MidSouth Bancorp,
Inc. common stock will become shareholders of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. The following discussion summarizes certain
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material differences between the rights of shareholders of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. and Lamar Bancshares, Inc.
resulting from the differences in the governing documents of these two entities. The following discussion is
necessarily general and is not intended to be a complete statement of all of the rights of shareholders of their
respective entities. The following discussion is qualified in its entirety by reference to the Louisiana Business
Corporation Law (which applies to MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.), the Texas Business Corporation Act (which applies to
Lamar Bancshares, Inc.), and the governing corporate instruments of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. and Lamar
Bancshares, Inc.
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Summary

MIDSOUTH BANCORP, INC. LAMAR BANCSHARES, INC.

� Subject to Louisiana Business
Corporation Law

� Subject to Texas Business Corporation Act

� One vote for each share held � One vote for each share held

� No cumulative voting rights in the
election of directors

� No cumulative voting rights in the election of
directors

� Advance notice procedures for
shareholder nominations and
proposals

� No advance notice procedures for shareholder
nominations and proposals

� Dividends may be paid from funds
legally available, subject to
contractual and regulatory
restrictions, including rights of any
preferred shareholders, and payable
at the discretion of the board of
directors

� Dividends may be paid from funds legally available,
subject to contractual and regulatory restrictions,
including rights of any preferred shareholders, and
payable at the discretion of the board of directors

� Right to participate pro rata in
distribution of assets upon
liquidation

� Right to participate pro rata in distribution of assets
upon liquidation

� No pre-emptive rights to acquire
additional shares or securities

� No pre-emptive rights to acquire additional shares or
securities

� Directors serve three-year staggered
terms

� Directors serve one year terms

� Some corporate actions, including
business
combinations, require 80%
supermajority
approval

� Subject to Texas Business Corporation Act

� Preferred stock is authorized � Preferred stock is not authorized

Authorized Capital Stock

MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.. MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.�s charter authorizes the issuance of an aggregate of 10,000,000
shares of common stock, $0.10 par value per share, of which 3,218,933 shares were issued and outstanding as of July
31, 2004, and an aggregate of 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock, no par value per share, of which none is issued or
outstanding. Holders of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. common stock are entitled to one vote per share for all purposes.
They are entitled to such dividends, if any, as may be declared by the board of directors in compliance with the
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provisions of the Louisiana Business Corporation Law and the regulations of the appropriate regulatory authorities
and to receive the net assets of the corporation upon dissolution. MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. shareholders do not have any
preemptive rights with respect to acquiring additional shares of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. common stock, and the shares
are not subject to any conversion, redemption or sinking fund provisions. The outstanding shares of MidSouth
Bancorp, Inc. common stock are, and the shares to be issued in connection with the merger will be, when issued, fully
paid and nonassessable. MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. shareholders do not have cumulative voting rights in the election of
directors.

     MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.�s board of directors may authorize the issuance of authorized but unissued shares of
MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.�s common stock without shareholder approval, unless such approval is required in a particular
case by applicable laws or regulations.

     The authorized but unissued shares of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. common stock will be issuable from time to time
for any corporate purpose, including, without limitation, stock splits, stock dividends, employee benefit and
compensation plans, acquisitions, and public or private sales for cash as a means of raising capital. These shares could
be used to dilute the stock ownership of persons seeking to obtain control of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. In
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addition, the sale of a substantial number of shares of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. common stock to persons who have an
understanding with MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. concerning the voting of such shares, or the distribution or declaration of
a common stock dividend to MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. shareholders, may have the effect of discouraging or increasing
the cost of unsolicited attempts to acquire control of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.

Lamar Bancshares, Inc. Lamar Bancshares, Inc.�s authorized common stock consists of 1,000,000 shares of
common stock, $1.00 par value per share, of which 222,339 shares were issued and outstanding as of the record date.
Generally, holders of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. common stock have the same rights and privileges with respect to
Lamar Bancshares, Inc. as the holders of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. common stock have with respect to MidSouth
Bancorp, Inc.

Removal of Directors

MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.�s charter and bylaws provide that any director may be removed at
any time, but only for cause, at a special meeting of shareholders called for such purpose, by the affirmative vote of
the holders of not less than 80% of the total number of votes entitled to be cast with respect to such matter.

Lamar Bancshares, Inc. Lamar Bancshares, Inc.�s bylaws provide that a director may be removed at any time, with
or without cause, at any special meeting of the shareholders, by the affirmative vote of a majority of the outstanding
shares present.

Special Meetings of Shareholders

MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.. Special meetings of the shareholders may be called only by the board of directors,
chairman of the board, president or holders of at least 80% of the shares entitled to vote.

Lamar Bancshares, Inc. Special meetings of the shareholders may be called only by the president, the board of
directors or the holders of not less than one-tenth of the shares entitled to vote at a special meeting.

Shareholder Nominations and Shareholder Proposals

MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.. MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.�s charter establishes advance notice requirements for shareholder
proposals and the nomination (other than by or at the direction of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.�s board of directors or one
of its committees) of candidates for election as directors. A shareholder of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. wishing to
nominate a person as a candidate for election to the board of directors must submit the nomination in writing at least
60 days before the one year anniversary of the most recent annual meeting of shareholders, together with (a) as to each
person the shareholder proposes to nominate, and as to the shareholder giving the notice, (i) their names, ages,
business and residence addresses, (ii) principal occupation or employment, (iii) shareholdings, and (iv) other
information required by SEC proxy rules; and (b) to the extent known, (i) the name and address of other shareholders
supporting the nominee(s), and (ii) their shareholdings. Nominations that are not made in accordance with the
foregoing provisions may be ruled out of order. In addition, a shareholder intending to make a proposal for
consideration at a regularly scheduled annual meeting that is not intended to be included in the proxy statement for the
meeting must notify MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. in writing at least 60 days before the one year anniversary of the most
recent annual meeting of the shareholder�s intention. The notice must contain: (a) a brief description of the proposal,
(b) the name, address and shareholdings of the shareholder submitting the proposal and other shareholders supporting
the proposal, and (c) any financial interest of the shareholder in the proposal.
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     In accordance with SEC Rule 14a-8 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, shareholder proposals intended to
be included in the proxy statement and presented at a regularly scheduled annual meeting must be received by
MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. at least 120 days before the anniversary of the date that the previous year�s proxy statement
was first mailed to shareholders. As provided in SEC rules, if the annual meeting date has been changed by more than
30 days from the date of the prior year�s meeting, or for special meetings, the proposal must be submitted within a
reasonable time before MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. begins to mail its proxy materials.

     The procedures regarding shareholder nominations provide MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.�s Board of Directors with
sufficient time and information to evaluate a shareholder nominee to the board and other relevant information, such
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as existing shareholder support for the nominee. The procedures, however, provide incumbent directors advance
notice of a dissident slate of nominees for directors, and make it easier for the board to solicit proxies resisting
shareholder nominees. This may make it easier for incumbent directors to retain their status as directors, even when
certain shareholders view the shareholder nominations as in the best interests of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. or its
shareholders.

Lamar Bancshares, Inc. Lamar Bancshares, Inc.�s articles of incorporation and bylaws have no provisions relating
to shareholder nominations and proposals. Because Lamar Bancshares, Inc.�s common stock is not registered under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, Lamar Bancshares, Inc. is not subject to Rule 14a-8 or other rules adopted under
that Act.

Directors

MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.�s charter provides that the number of directors shall be as
specified in the bylaws. Currently the bylaws specify 9 members. Directors are divided into three classes as nearly
equal in number as possible, with each class elected to a staggered three-year term. There is no cumulative voting on
directors. The directors do not need to be shareholders of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.

     The provisions regarding election of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. directors are designed to protect the ability of the
board of directors to negotiate with the proponent of an unfriendly or unsolicited proposal to take over or restructure
the company by making it more difficult and time-consuming to change majority control of the board, even if holders
of a majority of the capital stock believes that a change in the composition of the board is desirable. The general effect
of these provisions will be to require at least two (and possibly three) annual shareholders� meetings, instead of one, to
change control of the board. These requirements are intended to help ensure continuity and stability of management
and policies and facilitate long-range planning.

Lamar Bancshares, Inc. Lamar Bancshares, Inc.�s bylaws provide for a board of directors consisting of not less
than five nor more than fifteen persons, the exact number to be set annually. Board members all serve or one-year
terms.

Exculpation and Indemnification

Louisiana Business Corporation Law. The Louisiana Business Corporation Law provides that a corporation may
indemnify any of its directors and officers against liability incurred in connection with a proceeding if:

� the director or officer acted in good faith;

� the director or officer reasonably believed such conduct was in, or not opposed to, the corporation�s best
interest; and

� in connection with any criminal action or proceeding, the director or officer had no reasonable cause to
believe that his or her conduct was unlawful.

     However, the Louisiana Business Corporation Law provides that directors or officers may not be indemnified if
they are held liable for willful or intentional misconduct in the performance of their duties to the corporation, unless a
court determines that the director is entitled to indemnity for expenses which the court deems proper.
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Texas Business Corporation Act. The Texas Business Corporation Act provides that a corporation may indemnify
a director against liability incurred in connection with a proceeding if:

� the director acted in good faith;

� the director reasonably believed, in the case of conduct in his official capacity with the corporation, that his
conduct was in its best interests, and, in all other cases, not opposed to its best interests; and

� in connection with any criminal proceeding, the director had no reasonable cause to believe his conduct was
unlawful.
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     The Texas Business Corporation Act provides that a corporation may not indemnify a director:

� in connection with a proceeding by or in the right of the corporation in which the director is held liable to the
corporation; or

� in connection with any proceeding charging improper personal benefit to the director, whether or not in his
official capacity, in which he is held liable on the basis that personal benefit was improperly received by him.

     The Texas Business Corporation Act also provides that, unless limited by the articles of incorporation, a
corporation shall indemnify a director or officer who is successful in the defense of any proceeding to which he or she
is a party because he or she is or was a director or officer against reasonable expenses incurred in connection with the
proceeding.

MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.�s charter and bylaws provide that a director or officer of the
company will not be personally liable for monetary damages for any action taken, or any failure to take any action, as
a director or officer except to the extent that by law a director�s or officer�s liability for monetary damages may not be
limited. This provision does not eliminate or limit the liability of the company�s directors and officers for (a) any
breach of the director�s or officer�s duty of loyalty to the company or its stockholders, (b) any acts or omissions not in
good faith or which involve intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law, (c) any unlawful dividend, stock
repurchase or other distribution, payment or return of assets to stockholders, or (d) any transaction from which the
director or officer derived an improper personal benefit. This provision may preclude shareholder derivative actions
and may be construed to preclude other third-party claims against the directors and officers.

     MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.�s charter and bylaws also provide that the company shall indemnify any person who was or
is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or proceeding,
including actions by or in the right of the company, whether civil, criminal administrative or investigative, by reason
of the fact that such person is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint
venture, trust or other enterprise, if such position is or was held at the request of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. Such
indemnification is furnished to the full extent provided by law against expenses (including attorneys� fees), judgments,
fines, amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred in connection with such action, suit or proceeding.
The indemnification provisions also permit the company to pay reasonable expenses in advance of the final
disposition of any action, suit or proceeding as authorized by the board of directors, provided that the indemnified
person undertakes to repay the company if it is ultimately determined that such person was not entitled to
indemnification.

     The rights of indemnification provided in the charter and bylaws are not exclusive of any other rights which may
be available under any insurance or other agreement, by vote of stockholders or directors (regardless of whether
directors authorizing such indemnification are beneficiaries thereof) or otherwise. In addition, the charter authorizes
the company to maintain insurance on behalf of any person who is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of the
company, whether or not the company would have the power to provide indemnification to such person. By action of
the board of directors, the company may create and fund a trust fund or other fund or form of self-insurance
arrangement of any nature, and may enter into agreements with its officers, directors, employees and agents for the
purpose of securing or insuring in any manner its obligation to indemnify or advance expenses provided for in the
provisions of the charter and bylaws regarding indemnification. These provisions are designed to reduce, in
appropriate cases, the risks incident to serving as a director, officer, employee or agent and to enable the company to
attract and retain the best personnel available.

     Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act of 1933 may be permitted to directors,
officers or persons controlling MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. pursuant to the foregoing provisions, MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.
has been informed that in the opinion of the Securities and Exchange Commission such indemnification is against
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public policy as expressed in the Act and is therefore unenforceable.

Lamar Bancshares, Inc. Lamar Bancshares, Inc.�s articles of incorporation provide that each director, officer, and
former officers and directors, may be indemnified by Lamar Bancshares, Inc. against reasonable costs and expenses
incurred in connection with any action, suit, or proceeding to which such individual may be made a party by reason of
such individual being or having been a director or officer.
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     In the event of any action, suit, or proceeding in which the individual is adjudged liable because of willful
misfeasance, bad faith, negligence, or reckless disregard of the duties involved in the conduct of the individual�s office,
or in the event of a settlement, directors and officers may be indemnified by Lamar Bancshares, Inc. against payments
made, including reasonable costs and expenses, provided that indemnification in such cases is conditioned upon the
prior determination by a resolution of two-thirds (2/3) of the members of the board of directors of Lamar Bancshares,
Inc. not involved in the action, suit, or proceeding, that the individual involved has no liability by reason of willful
misfeasance, bad faith, negligence, or reckless disregard, and provided further that if a majority of members of the
board of directors of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. are involved in the action, suit, or proceeding, the determination of
liability must be made by independent counsel.

     A conclusion of liability by the board of directors of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. or independent counsel, as the case
may be, does not mean that the shareholders of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. may not challenge indemnification on the
grounds that the individual indemnified was liable to Lamar Bancshares, Inc. or its security holders by reason of
willful misfeasance, bad faith, negligence, or reckless disregard.

     Any amounts paid in settlement must not exceed costs, fees, and expenses that would have been reasonably
incurred if the action, suit, or proceeding had been litigated to conclusion. The indemnification rights are not exclusive
of any other rights to which officers and directors of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. may be entitled to under applicable law.

     The Lamar Bancshares, Inc. bylaws provide that any officer or director of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. may be
indemnified or reimbursed by Lamar Bancshares, Inc., by a vote of a majority of the board of directors for Lamar
Bancshares, Inc., for any loss or damage and reasonable expenses actually incurred by him in connection with any
action, suit, or proceeding to which such individual is a party by reason of being or having been an officer or director
of Lamar Bancshares, Inc.

     If any action, suit, or proceeding, actual or threatened, is compromised, there is no indemnification or
reimbursement for amounts paid to settle claims or for expenses incurred in connection with the claim, unless the
indemnification and/or reimbursement is authorized by vote, or the written consent of the shareholders of record of a
majority of the stock of Lamar Bancshares, Inc.

     In no event will an officer or director be indemnified or reimbursed if such individual is adjudged to have been
guilty or liable for willful misconduct, gross neglect of duty, or a criminal act.

Louisiana Corporate Law

     In addition to the provisions contained in MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.�s charter and bylaws, the Louisiana Business
Corporation Law includes certain provisions applicable to Louisiana corporations, such as MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.,
which may be deemed to have an anti-takeover effect. These provisions include (i) rights of shareholders to receive
the fair value of their shares of stock following a control transaction from a controlling person or group and
(ii) requirements relating to certain business combinations.

     The Louisiana Business Corporation Law provides that any person who acquires �control shares� will be able to vote
these shares only if the right to vote is approved by the affirmative vote of at least a majority of both (1) all the votes
entitled to be cast by shareholders and (2) all the votes entitled to be cast by shareholders excluding �interested shares.�
�Control shares� is defined to include shares that would entitle the holder thereof, assuming the shares had full voting
rights, to exercise voting power within any of the following ranges: (a) 20% or more but less than one-third of all
voting power; (b) one-third or more but less than a majority of all voting power; or (c) a majority or more of all voting
power. Any acquisition that would result in the ownership of control shares in a higher range would require an
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additional vote of shareholders. �Interested shares� includes control shares and any shares held by an officer or
employee director of the corporation. If the control shares are provided full voting rights and the acquiring person has
acquired control shares with a majority or more of the voting power, all shareholders have dissenters� rights entitling
them to receive the �fair cash value� of their shares, which shall not be less than the highest price paid per share to
acquire the control shares.
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     The Louisiana Business Corporation Law defines a �business combination� generally to include (a) any merger,
consolidation or share exchange of the corporation with an �interested shareholder� or affiliate thereof, (b) any sale,
lease, transfer or other disposition, other than in the ordinary course of business, of assets equal to 10% or more of the
market value of the corporation�s outstanding stock or of the corporation�s net worth to any interested shareholder or
affiliate thereof in any 12-month period, (c) the issuance or transfer by the corporation of equity securities of the
corporation with an aggregate market value of 5% or more of the total market value of the corporation�s outstanding
stock to any interested shareholder or affiliate thereof, except in certain circumstances, (d) the adoption of any plan or
proposal for the liquidation or dissolution of the corporation in which anything other than cash will be received by an
interested shareholder or affiliate thereof, or (e) any reclassification of the corporation�s stock or merger which
increases by 5% or more the ownership interest of the interested shareholder or any affiliate thereof. �Interested
shareholder� includes any person who beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, 10% or more of the corporation�s
outstanding voting stock, or any affiliate thereof who had such beneficial ownership during the preceding two years,
excluding in each case the corporation, its subsidiaries and their benefit plans.

     Under the Louisiana Business Corporation Law, a business combination must be approved by any vote otherwise
required by law or the articles of incorporation, and by the affirmative vote of at least each of the following: (1) 80%
of the total outstanding voting stock of the corporation; and (2) two-thirds of the outstanding voting stock held by
persons other than the interested shareholder. However, the supermajority vote requirement shall not be applicable if
the business combination meets certain minimum price requirements and other procedural safeguards, or if the
transaction is approved by the board of directors prior to the time that the interested shareholder first be came an
interested shareholder.

Transfer Agent and Registrar

     Lamar Bancshares, Inc. is the transfer agent and registrar for Lamar Bancshares, Inc. common stock. The transfer
agent and registrar for MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. common stock is Mellon Investor Services.

ADJOURNMENT OF THE SPECIAL MEETING

     If there are not sufficient votes to constitute a quorum or to approve the adoption of the merger agreement at the
time of the special meeting, the merger agreement cannot be approved unless the meeting was adjourned to a later date
or dates in order to permit further solicitation of proxies. In order to allow proxies that have been received by Lamar
Bancshares, Inc. at the time of the special meeting to be voted for an adjournment, if necessary, Lamar Bancshares,
Inc. has submitted the question of adjournment to its shareholders as a separate matter for their consideration. The
Board of Directors of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. unanimously recommends that shareholders vote �FOR� the adjournment
proposal. If it is necessary to adjourn the special meeting, no notice of the adjourned meeting is required to be given to
shareholders, other than an announcement at the special meeting of the place, date and time to which the special
meeting is adjourned, if the special meeting is adjourned for 30 days or less.

LEGAL MATTERS

     Correro Fishman Haygood Phelps Walmsley & Casteix, L.L.P., has rendered its opinion that the shares of
MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. common stock to be issued in connection with the merger agreement have been duly
authorized and, if and when issued pursuant to the terms of the merger agreement, will be validly issued, fully paid
and non-assessable.
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EXPERTS

     The consolidated financial statements of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. and its subsidiaries, incorporated in this proxy
statement/prospectus by reference from MidSouth Bancorp�s Annual Report as Form 10-KSB for the year ended
December 31, 2003, have been audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm,
as stated in their report, which is incorporated herein by reference, and have been so incorporated in reliance upon the
report of such firm given upon their authority as experts in accounting and auditing.

     The audited consolidated financial statements of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. and its subsidiaries included herein have
been audited by Funchess, Mills, White & Co., P.C., independent public accountants, as indicated in their report with
respect thereto, and have been so included in reliance upon the authority of such firm as experts in accounting and
auditing.
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OTHER MATTERS

     At the time of the preparation of this proxy statement/prospectus, neither Lamar Bancshares, Inc. nor MidSouth
Bancorp, Inc. had been informed of any matters to be presented for action at the special meeting other than as
described in this document. If any other matters come before the special meeting or any adjournment thereof, the
persons named in the enclosed proxy will vote on such matters according to their best judgment.

SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

     This document, including information included or incorporated by reference in this document may contain
forward-looking statements, within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These
forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to statements about, (a) the separate financial condition,
results of operations and business of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. and Lamar Bancshares, Inc.; (b) the benefits of the
merger, including future financial and operating results, cost savings, enhancement to revenue and accretion to
reported earnings that may be realized from the merger; (c) our respective plans, objectives, expectations and
intentions and other statements that are not historical facts; and (d) other statements identified by words such as
�expects,� �anticipates,� �intends,� �plans,� �believes,� �seeks,� �estimates� or words of similar meaning. These forward-looking
statements are based on current beliefs and expectations of our management and are inherently subject to significant
business, economic and competitive uncertainties and contingencies, many of which are beyond our control. In
addition, these forward-looking statements are subject to assumptions with respect to future business strategies and
decisions that are subject to change.

     The following factors, among others, could cause actual results to differ materially from the anticipated results or
other expectations expressed in the forward-looking statements:

� our businesses may not be combined successfully, or such combination may take longer to accomplish than
expected;

� the growth opportunities and cost savings from the merger may not be fully realized or may take longer to
realize than expected;

� operating costs, customer losses and business disruption following the merger, including adverse affects of
relationships with employees, may be greater than expected;

� governmental approvals of the merger may not be obtained, or adverse regulatory conditions may be imposed
in connection with governmental approvals of the merger;

� adverse governmental or regulatory policies may be enacted;

� the interest rate environment may change, causing margins to compress, adversely affecting net interest
income;

� the risks associated with continued diversification of assets and adverse changes to credit quality;

� competition form other financial services companies in our markets; and

� the risk of an economic slowdown that would adversely affect credit quality and loan originations.
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     Additional factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed in the forward-looking
statements are discussed in MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.�s reports filed with the SEC.

     All subsequent written and oral forward-looking statements concerning the proposed transaction or other matters
attributable to either of us or any person acting on our behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by the cautionary
statements above. Neither of us undertakes any obligation to update any forward-looking statement to reflect
circumstances or events that occur after the date the forward-looking statements are made.

We urge you to sign the enclosed proxy and return it at once in the enclosed envelope.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS� REPORT

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
Lamar Bancshares, Inc.
Beaumont, Texas

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. and Subsidiaries as of
December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the related consolidated statements of income, changes in stockholders� equity, and
cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001. These financial statements are the responsibility of
the Company�s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our
audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the results of
their operations and their cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Funchess, Mills, White & Co., P.C.
Beaumont, Texas

February 27, 2004
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LAMAR BANCSHARES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

March 31, December 31,

2004 2003 2002

Assets (Unaudited)
Assets
Cash and due from banks $ 4,970,690 $ 4,775,331 $ 4,998,441
Time deposits with other banks � 2,893,000 �
Federal funds sold 4,600,000 4,600,000 3,450,000
Securities available for sale (Note 3) 21,006,299 20,670,441 24,103,167
Loans (Note 4) 74,700,797 75,595,984 70,506,475
Accrued interest receivable 461,300 573,700 586,684
Premises and equipment (Note 5) 2,814,369 2,852,287 2,994,538
Other assets 3,905,237 4,150,963 3,646,863

Total Assets $112,458,692 $116,111,706 $110,286,168

Liabilities and Stockholders� Equity
Liabilities
Demand deposits $ 21,630,658 $ 21,295,006 $ 19,525,473
Savings, NOW, and money market deposits 38,905,337 39,787,958 36,845,573
Other time deposits (Note 6) 38,199,920 41,879,072 41,173,436

Total Deposits 98,735,915 102,962,036 97,544,482
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 778,299 807,291 786,609

Total Liabilities 99,514,214 103,769,327 98,331,091

Commitments and Contingencies (Notes 5, 8
and 9)
Stockholders� Equity
Common stock � $1.00 par value; 1,000,000
shares authorized; 244,760 shares issued;
shares outstanding - 222,339 at March 31,
2004 (unaudited), 216,564 at December 31,
2003, 204,474 at December 31, 2002 244,760 244,760 244,760
Additional paid-in capital 3,018,700 3,008,032 3,001,070
Retained earnings 10,804,243 10,794,115 10,833,533

157,968 (89,622) 183,064
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Accumulated other comprehensive income
(loss)
Treasury stock, at cost - 22,421 shares at
March 31, 2004 (unaudited), 28,196 shares at
December 31, 2003, 40,286 shares at
December 31, 2002 (1,281,193) (1,614,906) (2,307,350)

Total Stockholders� Equity 12,944,478 12,342,379 11,955,077

Total Liabilities and Stockholders� Equity $112,458,692 $116,111,706 $110,286,168

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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LAMAR BANCSHARES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Three Months Ended
March 31, Year Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2003 2002 2001

(Unaudited)
Interest and Dividend
Income
Loans $1,191,336 $1,229,537 $5,051,708 $5,257,519 $5,483,455
Debt securities -
Taxable 234,896 304,221 1,073,565 1,164,745 1,471,057
Federal funds sold 7,404 12,551 47,029 128,364 274,652
Time deposits with other
banks 10,762 � 12,221 � �
Dividends 3,183 4,094 10,277 12,803 17,514

Total Interest and
Dividend Income 1,447,581 1,550,403 6,194,800 6,563,431 7,246,678
Interest Expense
Deposits 255,439 323,462 1,280,038 1,651,686 2,826,090

Net Interest Income 1,192,142 1,226,941 4,914,762 4,911,745 4,420,588
Provision for Loan Losses
(Note 4) 22,567 41,798 276,705 202,070 148,828

Net Interest Income after
Provision for Loan Losses 1,169,575 1,185,143 4,638,057 4,709,675 4,271,760

Noninterest Income
Service charges on deposit
accounts 381,520 418,274 1,683,345 1,724,954 1,716,871
Mortgage origination
income 134,459 141,186 709,678 543,812 120,593
Other service charges and
fees 26,489 27,847 124,334 119,280 116,399
Net gain (loss) on sales of
securities 55,593 � � 193,432 (13,327)
Other income 33,941 37,158 163,246 115,276 195,635
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Total Noninterest Income 632,002 624,465 2,680,603 2,696,754 2,136,171

Noninterest Expenses
Salaries and employee
benefits (Note 11) 722,999 627,483 2,887,887 2,733,455 2,329,988
Occupancy and equipment 194,350 194,127 790,202 749,935 688,219
Advertising 24,105 16,377 112,001 91,271 78,636
Data processing 81,300 74,672 292,966 261,092 219,709
Debit card expense 33,351 29,064 113,550 114,150 97,727
Director fees 17,100 17,925 106,606 116,274 99,724
Postage 23,332 28,581 103,609 100,817 97,834
Printing, stationery and
forms 30,662 28,514 120,244 111,457 94,877
Repossession expenses 21,157 24,316 92,927 151,098 71,340
Telephone 27,639 26,536 106,213 96,738 86,099
Other general and
administrative 171,340 128,073 672,750 700,286 786,858

Total Noninterest
Expenses 1,347,335 1,195,668 5,398,955 5,226,573 4,651,011

Net Income $ 454,242 $ 613,940 $1,919,705 $2,179,856 $1,756,920

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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LAMAR BANCSHARES, INC AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS� EQUITY

Accumulated
Other Total

Common Additional Retained Comprehensive Treasury Stockholders'

Stock
Paid-In
Capital Earnings

Income
(Loss) Stock Equity

Balance at
December 31, 2000 $244,760 $3,001,048 $10,574,368 $ (81,127) $(2,370,369) $11,368,680

Other items � � (46,462) � � (46,462)

Comprehensive
Income -
Net income for 2001 � � 1,756,920 � � 1,756,920
Change in net
unrealized gain
(loss) on securities
available for sale � � � 236,994 � 236,994

Total
Comprehensive
Income 1,993,914

Cash dividends � � (1,736,814) � � (1,736,814)

Balance at
December 31, 2001 244,760 3,001,048 10,548,012 155,867 (2,370,369) 11,579,318

Other items � � (556) � � (556)

Comprehensive
Income -
Net income for 2002 � � 2,179,856 � � 2,179,856
Change in net
unrealized gain
(loss) on securities
available for sale � � � 27,197 � 27,197
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Total
Comprehensive
Income 2,207,053

Sale of treasury
stock � 22 � � 63,019 63,041

Cash dividends � � (1,893,779) � � (1,893,779)

Balance at
December 31, 2002 244,760 3,001,070 10,833,533 183,064 (2,307,350) 11,955,077

Comprehensive
Income -
Net income for 2003 � � 1,919,705 � � 1,919,705
Change in net
unrealized gain
(loss) on securities
available for sale � � � (272,686) � (272,686)

Total
Comprehensive
Income 1,647,019

Sale of treasury
stock � 6,962 � � 692,444 699,406

Cash dividends � � (1,959,123) � � (1,959,123)

Balance at
December 31, 2003 $244,760 $3,008,032 $10,794,115 $ (89,622) $(1,614,906) $12,342,379

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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LAMAR BANCSHARES, INC AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS� EQUITY

- Continued -

Additional
Accumulated

Other Total
Common Paid-In Retained Comprehensive Treasury Stockholders'

Stock Capital Earnings
Income
(Loss) Stock Equity

Balance at
December 31, 2003 $244,760 $3,008,032 $10,794,115 $ (89,622) $(1,614,906) $12,342,379

Comprehensive
Income -
Net income for three
months ended
March 31, 2004 � � 454,242 � � 454,242
Change in net
unrealized gain
(loss) on securities
available for sale � � � 247,590 � 247,590

Total
Comprehensive
Income 701,832

Sale of treasury
stock � 10,668 � � 333,713 344,381

Cash dividends � � (444,114) � � (444,114)

Balance at
March 31, 2004
(Unaudited) $244,760 $3,018,700 $10,804,243 $ 157,968 $(1,281,193) $12,944,478

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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LAMAR BANCSHARES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Three Months Ended
March 31, Year Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2003 2002 2001

(Unaudited)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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LAMAR BANCSHARES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

- Continued -

Three Months Ended
March 31, Year Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2003 2002 2001

(Unaudited)
Cash Flows from
Financing Activities
Net increase
(decrease) in deposits (4,226,121) (1,800,986) 5,417,554 (3,662,186) 2,822,195
Cash dividends paid on
common stock (444,114) (455,173) (1,959,123) (1,893,779) (1,736,814)
Proceeds from sale of
treasury stock 344,381 237,455 699,406 63,041 �

Net Cash Provided
(Used) by Financing
Activities (4,325,854) (2,018,704) 4,157,837 (5,492,924) 1,085,381

Net Change in Cash and
Due from Banks 195,359 (302,278) (223,110) 1,034,900 (276,380)
Cash and Due from
Banks at Beginning of
Period 4,775,331 4,998,441 4,998,441 3,963,541 4,239,921

Cash and Due from
Banks at End of Period $ 4,970,690 $ 4,696,163 $ 4,775,331 $ 4,998,441 $ 3,963,541

Supplemental Cash
Flow Information
Interest paid on deposits $ 255,638 $ 286,813 $ 1,303,520 $ 1,786,523 $ 3,032,218

Noncash Investing
Activities
Other real estate
acquired in settlement of
loans $ � $ � $ 362,186 $ 123,080 $ �

Edgar Filing: MIDSOUTH BANCORP INC - Form S-4

122



Securities transferred
from held to maturity to
available for sale $ � $ � $ � $10,419,195 $ �

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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LAMAR BANCSHARES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1 � SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Basis of Presentation and Consolidation -
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. (�Company�), its
wholly-owned subsidiary, Lamar Delaware Financial Corporation (�Delaware�) and Delaware�s wholly-owned
subsidiary, Lamar Bank (�Bank�). All significant intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated
in consolidation.

(b) Business -
The Company is a Texas corporation and a registered bank holding company under the Bank Holding
Company Act of 1956. The Company�s wholly-owned subsidiary, Lamar Delaware Financial Corporation, a
Delaware corporation, is a first tier holding company.

The Bank provides a variety of financial services to individuals and businesses through its main office and
two branches in Beaumont, Texas, one branch in Vidor, Texas, one branch in College Station, Texas and a
mortgage-lending office in Conroe, Texas. Its primary deposit products are demand, savings and term
certificate accounts and its primary lending products are consumer, commercial and mortgage loans.

(c) Use of Estimates -
In preparing consolidated financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles,
management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities as of the date of the balance sheet and reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Material estimates that are particularly
susceptible to significant change in the near term relate to the determination of the allowance for loan losses.

(d) Significant Group Concentrations of Credit Risk -
Most of the Bank�s activities are with customers located in its market areas. Note 3 discusses the types of
securities that the Bank invests in. Note 4 discusses the types of lending that the Bank engages in. Note 2
discusses other significant concentrations. The Bank does not have any significant concentrations to any one
industry or customer.

(e) Cash and Cash Equivalents -
For the purpose of the consolidated statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash and
balances due from banks.

(f) Securities -
Debt securities that management has the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity are classified as �held to
maturity� and recorded at amortized cost. Securities not classified as held to maturity or trading are classified
as �available for sale� and recorded at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses excluded from earnings and
reported in other comprehensive income.

Purchase premiums and discounts are recognized in interest income using the interest method over the terms
of the securities. Declines in the fair value of held-to-maturity and available-for-sale securities below their
cost that are deemed to be other than temporary are reflected in earnings as realized losses. Gains and losses
on the sale of securities are recorded on the trade date and are determined using the specific identification
method.
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LAMAR BANCSHARES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

- Continued -

NOTE 1 � SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(g) Loans -
The Bank grants mortgage, commercial and consumer loans to customers.

Loans that management has the intent and ability to hold for the foreseeable future or until maturity or pay-off
generally are reported at their outstanding unpaid principal balances adjusted for charge-offs, the allowance
for loan losses, and any deferred fees or costs on originated loans. Interest income is accrued on the unpaid
principal balance. Loan origination fees are recognized as income when collected. Certain direct origination
costs are not material and are expensed as incurred.

The accrual of interest on loans is discontinued based on management�s evaluation of problem loans on a case
by case basis if collection of principal or interest is considered doubtful.

All interest accrued but not collected for loans that are placed on nonaccrual or charged off is reversed against
interest income. The interest on these loans is accounted for on the cash-basis or cost-recovery method, until
qualifying for return to accrual. Loans are returned to accrual status when all the principal and interest
amounts contractually due are brought current and future payments are reasonably assured.

(h) Allowance for Loan Losses -
The allowance for loan losses is established as losses are estimated to have occurred through a provision for
loan losses charged to earnings. Loan losses are charged against the allowance when management believes the
uncollectibility of a loan balance is confirmed. Subsequent recoveries, if any, are credited to the allowance.

The allowance for loan losses is evaluated on a regular basis by management and is based upon management�s
periodic review of the collectibility of the loans in light of historical experience, the nature and volume of the
loan portfolio, adverse situations that may affect the borrower�s ability to repay, estimated value of any
underlying collateral and prevailing economic conditions. This evaluation is inherently subjective as it
requires estimates that are susceptible to significant revision as more information becomes available.

(i) Credit Related Financial Instruments -
In the ordinary course of business, the Bank has entered into commitments to extend credit, including
overdraft privileges, and letters of credit. Such financial instruments are recorded when they are funded.

(j) Foreclosed Assets -
Assets acquired through, or in lieu of, loan foreclosure are held for sale and are initially recorded at fair value
at the date of foreclosure, establishing a new cost basis. Subsequent to foreclosure, valuations are periodically
performed by management and the assets are carried at the lower of carrying amount or fair value less cost to
sell. Revenue and expenses from operations and changes in the valuation allowance are included in net
expenses from foreclosed assets.

F-9
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LAMAR BANCSHARES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

- Continued -

NOTE 1 � SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(k) Banking Premises and Equipment -
Land is carried at cost. Buildings and improvements, furniture and equipment, and automobiles are carried at
cost, less accumulated depreciation and amortization computed on the straight-line method over the estimated
useful lives of the assets.

(l) Intangible Assets -
Intangible assets acquired in the acquisition of certain assets and the assumption of certain deposit liabilities
of a Community State Bank branch location in 2000 have been included in other assets.

(m) Income Taxes -
The Company elected S corporation status for itself and its subsidiaries effective January 1, 2001. Earnings
and losses after that date have been included in the personal income tax returns of the stockholders and taxed
depending on their personal tax strategies. Accordingly, the Company will not generally incur additional
income tax obligations, and this and future financial statements will not include a provision for income taxes.

(n) Advertising -
The Bank expenses the cost of advertising as it is incurred, except for certain advertising which is included in
prepaid expenses and amortized over its expected period of future benefit. Advertising expense was $112,001
in 2003, $91,271 in 2002, and $78,636 in 2001. For the three months ended March 31, 2004 and 2003,
advertising expense was $24,105 (unaudited) and $16,377 (unaudited), respectively.

(o) Comprehensive Income -
Accounting principles generally require that recognized revenue, expenses, gains and losses be included in
net income. Although certain changes in assets and liabilities, such as unrealized gains and losses on
available-for-sale securities, are reported as a separate component of the equity section of the balance sheet,
such items, along with net income, are components of comprehensive income.

(p) Stock-Based Employee Compensation -
At December 31, 2003, the Company has a stock-based employee compensation plan, which is described
more fully in Note 14. The Company accounts for this plan under the recognition and measurement principles
of APB Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and related interpretations. No
stock-based employee compensation cost is reflected in net income, as all options granted under those plans
had an exercise price equal to the market value of the underlying common stock on the measurement date. If
the Company had applied the fair value recognition provisions of FASB Statement No. 123, Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation, to stock-based employee compensation, the Company�s net income for 2002 and
2001 would not have changed as no new options were granted in that year and all options are fully vested. For
2003 the Company issued additional options as described in Note 14. The Company�s net income for 2003
would not have changed significantly had the fair value recognition provisions of FASB Statement No. 123
been applied. Significant assumptions used in valuation are discussed in Note 14.

(q) Reclassifications -
Certain amounts in 2002 and 2001 have been reclassified to conform to the 2003 presentation.

F-10
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LAMAR BANCSHARES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

- Continued -

NOTE 1 � SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(r) Unaudited Financial Information -
Financial information as of March 31, 2004 and the three months ended March 31, 2004 and 2003 as well as
certain other information presented subsequent to December 31, 2003 is unaudited. In the opinion of
management of the Company, all adjustments necessary for a fair presentation of such financial information
have been included. All such adjustments are of a normal recurring nature. The consolidated statements of
income, cash flows and changes in stockholders� equity for the three months ended March 31, 2004 are not
necessarily indicative of the consolidated statements of income, cash flows and changes in stockholders�
equity which may be expected for the year ended December 31, 2004.

NOTE 2 � SIGNIFICANT GROUP CONCENTRATIONS OF CREDIT RISK

Most of the Bank�s business activity is with customers located within its market areas.

Commitments to extend credit and letters of credit are granted primarily to commercial borrowers. The Bank, as a
matter of policy, does not extend credit in excess of $1,400,000, the Bank�s lending limit, to any single borrower or
group of related borrowers.

The Bank maintains cash balances at several banks. Accounts at each institution are insured by the Federal Deposit
Insurance Corporation up to $100,000. At December 31, 2003, uninsured amounts held at these banks totaled
$162,941. In addition, the Bank, at December 31, 2003, had sold federal funds to five banks in amounts ranging from
$600,000 to $1,000,000.

NOTE 3 � SECURITIES

The amortized cost and fair value of securities, with gross unrealized gains and losses, follows -

March 31, 2004 (Unaudited)

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair

Cost Gains Losses Value

Available-for-Sale -
U.S. Government $ 2,028,364 $ 2,595 $ � $ 2,030,959
Corporate bonds 6,164,295 283,263 � 6,447,558
Mortgage-backed 4,330,642 5,253 412 4,335,483
GNMA mutual funds 8,325,030 � 132,731 8,192,299

$20,848,331 $ 291,111 $ 133,143 $21,006,299
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LAMAR BANCSHARES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

- Continued -

NOTE 3 � SECURITIES (Continued)

December 31, 2003

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair

Cost Gains Losses Value

Available-for-Sale -
U.S. Government $ 2,047,830 $ 2,600 $ � $ 2,050,430
Corporate bonds 7,882,231 327,389 248,211 7,961,409
Mortgage-backed 2,505,014 5,505 13,084 2,497,435
GNMA mutual funds 8,324,988 � 163,821 8,161,167

$20,760,063 $ 335,494 $ 425,116 $20,670,441

December 31, 2002

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair

Cost Gains Losses Value

Available-for-Sale -
U.S. Government $ 3,507,517 $ 32,351 $ � $ 3,539,868
Corporate bonds 10,950,932 365,070 260,830 11,055,172
Mortgage-backed 1,374,131 17,739 � 1,391,870
GNMA mutual funds 8,087,523 28,734 � 8,116,257

$23,920,103 $ 443,894 $ 260,830 $24,103,167

At March 31, 2004, December 31, 2003 and 2002, securities with a carrying value of approximately $5,794,000
(unaudited), $5,757,000 and $6,668,000, respectively, were pledged to secure public deposits and for other purposes
required or permitted by law.

The amortized cost and fair value of debt securities by contractual maturity at December 31, 2003 follows -
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Available-for-Sale

Amortized Fair
Cost Value

Within 1 year $ 3,438,877 $ 3,477,602
Over 1 year through 5 years 8,697,467 8,732,289
After 5 years through 10 years � �
Over 10 years 298,731 299,383

12,435,075 12,509,274
GNMA mutual funds 8,324,988 8,161,167

$20,760,063 $20,670,441

F-12

Edgar Filing: MIDSOUTH BANCORP INC - Form S-4

132



LAMAR BANCSHARES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

- Continued -

NOTE 3 � SECURITIES (Continued)

There were no sales of securities available for sale during 2003. For the year ended December 31, 2002, proceeds
from sales of securities available for sale amounted to $8,149,466. Gross realized gains amounted to $51,756 in 2002.
For the year ended December 31, 2001, proceeds from sales of securities available for sale amounted to $543,813.
There were no gross realized gains in 2001. Gross realized losses amounted to $13,327 in 2001.

For the year ended December 31, 2002, proceeds from sales of securities held to maturity amounted to $4,312,245.
Gross realized gains amounted to $141,676. Following the sales of the held-to-maturity securities all remaining held
to maturity securities were reclassified to available for sale. The carrying amount of the reclassified securities was
$10,419,195 and the net unrealized gains when reclassified were $164,673.

The following table shows the Bank�s investments� gross unrealized losses and fair value, aggregated by investment
category and length of time that individual securities have been in a continuous unrealized loss position, at
December 31, 2003.

Less than 12 Months 12 Months or More

Unrealized Unrealized
Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses

Available-for-Sale -
Corporate bonds $ � $ � $324,500 $248,211
Mortgage-backed 1,994,385 13,084 � �
GNMA mutual funds 8,161,167 163,821 � �

$10,108,552 $176,905 $324,500 $248,211

NOTE 4 � LOANS

A summary of the balances of loans follows -

March 31, December 31,

2004 2003 2002

(Unaudited)
Commercial $ 8,104,744 $ 8,861,956 $ 8,678,330
Commercial real estate 22,697,136 24,692,482 21,657,327
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Residential real estate 14,777,229 14,499,603 12,486,190
Consumer 29,619,563 28,137,258 28,032,747
Officer and stockholder � due in annual
installments of $134,000 plus accrued
interest at 5.37% 134,000 134,000 268,000
Other 313,761 233,639 217,991

75,646,433 76,558,938 71,340,585
Less: Allowance for loan losses (945,636) (962,954) (832,047)
Unearned discounts � � (2,063)

Loans, net $74,700,797 $75,595,984 $70,506,475
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LAMAR BANCSHARES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

- Continued -

NOTE 4 � LOANS (Continued)

An analysis of the allowance for loan losses follows -

March 31, December 31,

2004 2003 2002

(Unaudited)
Balance at beginning of period $962,954 $ 832,047 $ 766,371
Provision for loan losses 22,567 276,705 202,070
Loans charged off (46,236) (161,974) (148,490)
Recoveries of loans previously charged
off 6,351 16,176 12,096

Balance at end of period $945,636 $75,595,984 $70,506,475

Loans with a principal balance of $362,186 and $123,080 were transferred to foreclosed real estate in 2003 and 2002.

NOTE 5 � PREMISES AND EQUIPMENT

A summary of the cost and accumulated depreciation of premises and equipment follows -

March 31, December 31,

2004 2003 2002

(Unaudited)
Premises -
Land $ 267,018 $ 267,018 $ 267,018
Buildings and improvements 2,886,024 2,956,379 2,954,279
Leasehold improvements 379,655 379,655 379,655
Furniture and equipment 1,609,334 2,171,311 2,110,472
Automobiles 217,218 192,557 205,519

Total cost 5,359,249 5,966,920 5,916,943
Accumulated depreciation (2,544,880) (3,114,633) (2,922,405)
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$ 2,814,369 $ 2,852,287 $ 2,994,538

Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002, and 2001 amounted to $277,809, $283,332, and
$261,672, respectively. Depreciation expense for the three months ended March 31, 2004 and 2003 was $69,848
(unaudited) and $70,158 (unaudited), respectively.
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LAMAR BANCSHARES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

- Continued -

NOTE 5 � PREMISES AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Pursuant to the terms of noncancelable lease agreements in effect at December 31, 2003, pertaining to banking
premises, future minimum rent commitments under various operating leases are as follows -

Year Ended Amount

2004 $67,725
2005 28,000
2006 �
2007 �
2008 �
Thereafter �

$95,725

Total rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002, and 2001 amounted to $82,091, $78,450, and
$49,178, respectively. Total rent expense for the three months ended March 31, 2004 and 2003 was $19,914
(unaudited) and $20,329 (unaudited), respectively.

NOTE 6 � DEPOSITS

The aggregate amount of time deposits, each with a minimum denomination of $100,000 or more at March 31, 2004,
December 31, 2003 and 2002, was approximately $9,046,000 (unaudited), $10,352,000 and $8,557,000, respectively.

At December 31, 2003, the scheduled maturities of time deposits are as follows -

Year Ended Amount

2004 $29,153,885
2005 3,626,953
2006 3,142,196
2007 2,270,438
2008 3,621,066
Thereafter 64,534

$41,879,072
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LAMAR BANCSHARES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

- Continued -

NOTE 7 � BORROWINGS

The Bank has a line of credit with another bank to borrow up to $5,000,000 of overnight federal funds at market rates.
The agreement expires September 30, 2004. No amounts were borrowed under the line at December 31, 2003.

NOTE 8 � OFF-BALANCE-SHEET ACTIVITIES

Credit-Related Financial Instruments. The Bank is a party to credit related financial instruments with
off-balance-sheet risk in the normal course of business to meet the financing needs of its customers. These financial
instruments include commitments to extend credit, overdraft privilege, and letters of credit. Such commitments
involve, to varying degrees, elements of credit and interest rate risk in excess of the amount recognized in the
consolidated balance sheets.

The Bank�s exposure to credit loss is represented by the contractual amount of these commitments. The Bank follows
the same credit policies in making commitments as it does for on-balance-sheet instruments.

At December 31, 2003 and 2002, the following financial instruments were outstanding whose contract amounts
represent credit risk -

Contract Amount

2003 2002

Unfunded commitments under lines of credit $6,521,929 $9,631,445
Letters of credit 76,007 40,522

Commitments to extend credit are agreements to lend to a customer as long as there is no violation of any condition
established in the contract. Commitments generally have fixed expiration dates or other termination clauses and may
require payment of a fee. The commitments for equity lines of credit may expire without being drawn upon.
Therefore, the total commitment amounts do not necessarily represent future cash requirements. The amount of
collateral obtained, if it is deemed necessary by the Bank, is based on management�s credit evaluation of the customer.

Unfunded commitments under lines-of-credit and overdraft privilege agreements are commitments for possible future
extensions of credit to existing customers. These lines-of-credit are generally uncollateralized.
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LAMAR BANCSHARES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

- Continued -

NOTE 8 � OFF-BALANCE-SHEET ACTIVITIES (Continued)

Letters-of-credit are conditional commitments issued by the Bank to guarantee the performance of a customer to a
third party. Those letters-of-credit are primarily issued to support public and private borrowing arrangements.
Essentially all letters of credit issued have expiration dates within one year. The credit risk involved in issuing
letters-of-credit is essentially the same as that involved in extending loan facilities to customers. The Bank may hold
collateral supporting those commitments if deemed necessary.

Collateral Requirements. To reduce credit risk related to the use of credit-related financial instruments, the Bank
might deem it necessary to obtain collateral. The amount and nature of the collateral obtained is based on the Bank�s
credit evaluation of the customer. Collateral held varies but may include cash, securities, accounts receivable,
inventory, property, plant and equipment and real estate.

NOTE 9 � LEGAL CONTINGENCIES

Various claims and lawsuits arise from time to time in the ordinary course of business. It is the opinion of
management, after consultation with legal counsel, that the disposition or ultimate resolution of such claims and
lawsuits will not have a material adverse effect on the financial statements of the Company or its subsidiaries.

NOTE 10 � MINIMUM REGULATORY CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS

The Bank is subject to various regulatory capital requirements administered by the federal banking agencies. Failure
to meet minimum capital requirements can initiate certain mandatory and possibly additional discretionary actions by
regulators that, if undertaken, could have a direct material effect on the Bank�s financial statements. Under capital
adequacy guidelines and the regulatory framework for prompt corrective action, the Bank must meet specific capital
guidelines that involve quantitative measures of their assets, liabilities, and certain off-balance-sheet items as
calculated under regulatory accounting practices. The capital amounts and classification are also subject to qualitative
judgments by the regulators about components, risk weightings, and other factors. Prompt corrective action provisions
are not applicable to bank holding companies.

Quantitative measures established by regulation to ensure capital adequacy require the Bank to maintain minimum
amounts and ratios (set forth in the table below) of total and Tier 1 capital (as defined in the regulations) to
risk-weighted assets (as defined), and of Tier 1 capital (as defined) to average assets (as defined). Management
believes, as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, that the Bank met all capital adequacy requirements to which it is
subject.
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LAMAR BANCSHARES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

- Continued -

NOTE 10 � MINIMUM REGULATORY CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS (Continued)

As of December 31, 2003, the most recent notification from the Bank�s primary regulator categorized the Bank as well
capitalized under the regulatory framework for prompt corrective action. To be categorized as well capitalized, the
Bank must maintain minimum total risk-based, Tier 1 risk-based, and Tier 1 leverage ratios as set forth in the
following table. There are no conditions or events since that notification that management believes have changed the
Bank�s category. The Bank�s actual capital amounts and ratios as of December 31, 2003 and 2002 are also presented in
the table.

Minimum To Be Well
Minimum Capitalized Under
For Capital Prompt Corrective

Actual Requirement Action Provisions

Amount Ratio Amount Ratio Amount Ratio

As of March 31,
2004 (Unaudited):
Total Capital to Risk
Weighted Assets $11,873,219 14.3% ≥$6,642,360 ≥8.0% ≥$8,302,950 ≥10.0%
Tier 1 Capital to Risk
Weighted Assets $10,927,583 13.2% ≥$3,311,389 ≥4.0% ≥$4,967,083 ≥6.0%
Tier 1 Capital to
Average Assets $10,927,583 9.8% ≥$4,460,238 ≥4.0% ≥$5,575,297 ≥5.0%
As of December 31,
2003:
Total Capital to Risk
Weighted Assets $11,419,606 13.3% ≥$6,868,936 ≥8.0% ≥$8,586,170 ≥10.0%
Tier 1 Capital to Risk
Weighted Assets $10,456,652 12.2% ≥$3,428,410 ≥4.0% ≥$5,142,616 ≥6.0%
Tier 1 Capital to
Average Assets $10,456,652 9.6% ≥$4,356,938 ≥4.0% ≥$5,446,173 ≥5.0%
As of December 31,
2002:
Total Capital to Risk
Weighted Assets $10,652,706 12.6% ≥$6,771,518 ≥8.0% ≥$8,464,398 ≥10.0%
Tier 1 Capital to Risk
Weighted Assets $ 9,820,659 11.6% ≥$3,385,759 ≥4.0% ≥$5,078,639 ≥6.0%
Tier 1 Capital to
Average Assets $ 9,820,659 9.0% ≥$4,370,760 ≥4.0% ≥$5,463,450 ≥5.0%
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LAMAR BANCSHARES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

- Continued -

NOTE 11 � EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

The Bank has a 401(k) plan whereby employees who meet certain eligibility requirements may participate in the Plan.
Employees may contribute up to 15% of their compensation (100% of any bonuses) subject to limits based upon
federal tax laws. The Board of Directors has determined that the Bank will match 100% of employee contributions up
to 3% plus 50% of employee contributions between 3% and 5%. Salaries and employee benefits expense included
$46,235, $21,729, and $21,381 for contributions made to the plan in 2003, 2002, and 2001. For the three months
ended March 31, 2004 and 2003, salaries and employee benefits expense included $11,551 (unaudited) and $9,985
(unaudited) for contributions made to the plan.

NOTE 12 � RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In the ordinary course of business, the Bank has extended credit to its directors and significant stockholders of the
Company, and their affiliates amounting to $3,010,087 at December 31, 2003 and $2,713,072 at December 31, 2002.
During the year ended December 31, 2003, total principal additions were $2,685,022 and total principal payments
were $2,388,007.

NOTE 13 � FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The fair value of a financial instrument is the current amount that would be exchanged between willing parties, other
than in a forced liquidation. Fair value is best determined based upon quoted market prices. However, in many
instances, there are no quoted market prices for the Bank�s various financial instruments. In cases where quoted market
prices are not available, fair values are based on estimates using present value or other valuation techniques. Those
techniques are significantly affected by the assumptions used, including the discount rate and estimates of future cash
flows. Accordingly, the fair value estimates may not be realized in an immediate settlement of the instrument. SFAS
107 excludes certain financial instruments and all nonfinancial instruments from its disclosure requirements.
Accordingly, the aggregate fair value amounts presented may not necessarily represent the underlying fair value of the
Company.

The following methods and assumptions were used by the Company in estimating fair value disclosures for financial
instruments.

Cash, Due from Banks and Federal Funds Sold � The carrying amounts of cash, due from banks, time deposits with
other banks and federal funds sold approximate fair values.

Securities � Fair values for securities are based on quoted market prices.

Loans and Deposit Liabilities � For loans and deposit liabilities, the Bank has determined that it is not practicable to
estimate fair values without incurring excessive amounts of time and money.

Accrued Interest � The carrying amounts of accrued interest approximate their fair value.

Off-Balance-Sheet Instruments � Fair values for off-balance-sheet, credit-related financial instruments are not
considered material.
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LAMAR BANCSHARES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

- Continued -

NOTE 13 � FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The estimated fair values, and related carrying amounts, of the Company�s financial instruments are as follows -

December 31, 2003 December 31, 2002

Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
Amount Value Amount Value

Financial Assets:
Cash and due from
banks $ 4,775,331 $ 4,775,331 $ 4,998,441 $ 4,998,441
Time deposits with other
banks 2,893,000 2,893,000 � �
Federal funds sold 4,600,000 4,600,000 3,450,000 3,450,000
Securities available for
sale 20,670,441 20,670,441 24,103,167 24,103,167
Loans 75,595,984 Not Available 70,506,475 Not Available
Accrued interest
receivable 573,700 573,700 586,684 586,684
Financial Liabilities:
Deposits $102,962,036 $NotAvailable $97,544,482 $NotAvailable
Accrued interest payable 254,449 254,449 277,932 277,932

NOTE 14 � STOCK OPTIONS

The Board of Directors, on September 17, 1997, adopted a stock option plan which provides for the granting of
incentive stock options to key employees of the Bank and nonstatutory options to non-employee directors of the
Company and the Bank. A maximum of 45,420 shares of common stock were authorized to be issued under the plan.
The plan was amended August 18, 2000, to increase the number of shares that may be optioned to 82,880 shares. The
option price is equal to 100% of the fair market value of the stock. The fair market value of the stock, number of
shares and grant date are determined at the discretion of a committee appointed by the Company�s board of directors.
Grantees in prior years were vested in the options at the option grant date. Options granted under the plan are
exercisable for a period not to exceed 10 years from the option grant date.
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LAMAR BANCSHARES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

- Continued -

NOTE 14 � STOCK OPTIONS (Continued)

In 2003, options for 6,810 shares were issued. These options vest as follows -

Vesting
Shares Year

2,724 2003 (Grant date)
1,362 2004
1,362 2005
1,362 2006

6,810

These options expire no later than August 2009.

A summary of option transactions during the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, is shown below -

2003 2002

Number Weighted-Average Number Weighted-Average
of Shares Exercise Price of Shares Exercise Price

Outstanding at January 1 34,570 $ 57.31 35,670 $ 57.31
Granted 6,810 62.75 �
Exercised (12,090) 57.85 (1,100) 57.31
Canceled � �

Outstanding at December 31 29,290 58.35 34,570 57.31

Exercisable at December 31 25,204 57.64 34,570 57.31

A summary of options outstanding as of December 31, 2003, is shown below -
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Weighted-Average

Number of
Remaining
Contractual Number of

Shares Life of Shares Shares
Exercise Price Outstanding Outstanding Exercisable

Nonstatutory
$57.31 7,580 5.6 years 7,580
$67.25 5,610 1,524
Incentive
$57.31 16,100 5.6 years 16,100

29,290 25,204
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LAMAR BANCSHARES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

- Continued -

NOTE 14 � STOCK OPTIONS (Continued)

The value of the options issued in 2003, applying the fair recognition provisions of FASB No. 123, Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation as applicable to nonpublic companies was computed using the following significant
assumptions -

Expected life of options 5.6 yrs
Risk-free interest rate 3.3%
Expected volatility None
Expected annual dividend $9.24

NOTE 15 � CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF PARENT COMPANY

Financial information pertaining only to Lamar Bancshares, Inc. is as follows -

Balance Sheets

December 31,

2003 2002

Assets
Cash and due from banks $ 378,032 $ 210,293
Investment in subsidiary 11,964,347 11,744,784

Total Assets $12,342,379 $11,955,077

Liabilities and Stockholders� Equity
Liabilities $ � $ �
Stockholders� equity 12,342,379 11,955,077

Total Liabilities and Stockholders� Equity $12,342,379 $11,955,077

Statements of Income

Year Ended December 31,
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2003 2002 2001

Income
Dividends from subsidiary $1,431,183 $1,894,323 $1,783,073
Operating expenses 3,727 9,532 25,936

Income before equity in undistributed earnings of
subsidiary 1,427,456 1,884,791 1,757,137
Equity in undistributed earnings of subsidiary 492,249 295,065 (217)

Net income $1,919,705 $2,179,856 $1,756,920
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LAMAR BANCSHARES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

- Continued -

NOTE 15 � CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF PARENT COMPANY (Continued)

Statements of Cash Flows

Year Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net income $ 1,919,705 $ 2,179,856 $ 1,756,920
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net
cash provided (used) by operating activities
-
Undistributed net income of subsidiary (492,249) (295,065) 217
Net decrease in other assets � � 190,818
Net decrease in other liabilities � � (197,313)
Other � (554) (46,462)

Net cash provided by operating activities 1,427,456 1,884,237 1,704,180

Cash Flows from Investing Activities � � �

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Dividends paid (1,959,123) (1,893,779) (1,736,814)
Proceeds from sale of treasury stock 699,406 63,041 �

Net cash used for financing activities (1,259,717) (1,830,738) (1,736,814)

Net change in cash and due from banks 167,739 53,499 (32,634)
Cash and Due from Banks at Beginning
of Year 210,293 156,794 189,428

Cash and Due from Banks at End of Year $ 378,032 $ 210,293 $ 156,794
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Appendix A

[LETTERHEAD OF THE BANK ADVISORY GROUP, L.L.C.]

July 21, 2004

Board of Directors
Lamar Bancshares, Inc.
Beaumont, Texas

Gentlemen:

You have requested that The Bank Advisory Group, L.L.C. (�Bank Advisory Group�) act as an independent financial
analyst and advisor to the common shareholders of Lamar Bancshares, Inc., Beaumont, Texas (�Lamar Bancshares�),
which owns 100% of the common stock of Lamar Bank, Beaumont, Texas. Specifically, we have been asked to render
advice and analysis in connection with the proposed merger (the �merger�) of Lamar Bancshares with and into
MidSouth Bancorp, Inc., Lafayette, Louisiana. In our role as an independent financial analyst, you have requested our
opinion with regard to the fairness � from the perspective of the common shareholders of Lamar Bancshares � of the
financial terms of the proposed merger pursuant to the provisions of the Agreement and Plan of Merger dated May 27,
2004 (the �merger agreement), as included in the Proxy Statement/Prospectus (the �proxy statement/prospectus�) dated
July 21, 2004.

In conjunction with our review of the merger agreement, our understanding is that MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. proposes
to consummate the acquisition pursuant to the following financial terms:

� On the date that the merger is effective (the �Effective Date�), the holders of the common stock of Lamar
Bancshares, Inc. are entitled to receive consideration (the �Per Share Merger Consideration�) in the form of (i) a
number of shares of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc., common stock equal to $12,556,351 divided by $34 (the �Stock
Consideration�); plus (ii) $10,494,000 cash; less (iii) an amount of cash paid to the option holders of Lamar
Bancshares, Inc. equaling the Per Share Merger Consideration less the exercise price for the options; less
(iv) the excess over $200,000 of Lamar Bancshares, Inc.�s legal, accounting and investment banking fees
related to the merger not incurred and expensed on the financial statements of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. before
March 31, 2004.

� If on the date that the merger will close (the �Closing Date�) the average closing sales price for the common
stock of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc., on the American Stock Exchange (�AMEX�) for the 10 trading days ending
the day before the Closing Date (the �Average Price�) is less than $31.50 per share, MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.
shall adjust the conversion rate by multiplying the conversion rate by 1.07937. If on the Closing Date the
Average Price exceeds $36.50, the conversion rate shall be adjusted by multiplying the conversion rate by
0.93151.

� Each holder of stock options for the common stock of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. shall be entitled to receive cash
equaling the sum of: (i) the cash equivalent of the Per Share Merger Consideration less the exercise price of
said stock options (the �Option Consideration�); and, (ii) a cash amount equal to the tax savings that may be
realized by MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. attributable to the payment of the Option Consideration.

� In lieu of issuing fractional shares of Stock Consideration, each holder of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. common
stock who would otherwise be entitled to thereto, after aggregating into whole

1
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shares all fractional shares of Stock Consideration to which such holder is entitled by virtue of the merger, receive
cash equal to such fractional share multiplied by the Average Price.

The Bank Advisory Group, L.L.C., as part of its line of professional services, specializes in rendering valuation
opinions of banks and bank holding companies in connection with mergers and acquisitions nationwide. Prior to our
retention for this assignment, The Bank Advisory Group provided financial advisory services to Lamar Bancshares,
Inc. Specifically, Bank Advisory Group issued a fair value determination and fairness opinion letter in connection
with the conversion of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. to an S corporation during 2000. Additionally, as of June 30, 2001 �
2003, Bank Advisory Group issued annual fair market evaluations of the shares of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. for use in
connection with a shareholders� agreement. The revenues derived from the delivery of such services were insignificant
when compared to Bank Advisory Group�s total gross revenues.

On March 5, 2004, Lamar Bancshares, Inc. engaged The Bank Advisory Group, L.L.C. to act as an advisor to the
senior management and Board of Directors of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. in their evaluation of any written acquisition
offer from MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. Additionally, Bank Advisory Group was engaged by Lamar Bancshares, Inc. to
provide a written fairness opinion letter to its Board of Directors regarding the adequacy or fairness, from a financial
point of view, of the consideration to be received by Lamar Bancshares, Inc. or its shareholders in connection with
any agreed-to business combination transaction. On March 8, 2004, a $10,000 retainer fee was paid to Bank Advisory
Group by Lamar Bancshares, Inc. upon execution of the engagement agreement. Additionally, Lamar Bancshares, Inc.
will pay a professional fee of $10,000 to Bank Advisory Group in connection with the execution of the merger
agreement. Upon consummation of the merger, Lamar Bancshares, Inc. will pay a net brokerage fee of approximately
$70,000 to BAG Brokerage, Ltd., a company affiliated by ownership with the Bank Advisory Group, L.L.C. Finally,
Lamar Bancshares, Inc. will pay Bank Advisory Group a professional fee of $20,000 for issuance of a fairness opinion
letter in connection with the merger.

In connection with this opinion and with respect to Lamar Bancshares, Inc. we have reviewed, among other things:

1. Audited consolidated financial statements for Lamar Bancshares, Inc. and Lamar Bank, Beaumont, Texas, the
sole bank subsidiary of Lamar Bancshares, Inc., for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001;

2. Parent company-only financial statements for Lamar Bancshares, Inc., presented on form F.R. Y-9LP for the
years ended December 31, 2003, 2002, and 2001, as filed with the Federal Reserve System;

3. Parent company-only financial statements for Lamar Delaware Financial Corporation, Dover, Delaware, the
subsidiary bank holding company of Lamar Bancshares, Inc., presented on form F.R. Y-9LP, for the years
ended December 31, 2003, 2002, and 2001, as filed with the Federal Reserve System;

4. Reports of Condition and Income for Lamar Bank, at and for the three months ended March 31, 2004, and for
the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002, and 2001, as filed with the Federal Reserve System;

5. Internal financial statements for Lamar Bank, at and for the six months ended June 30, 2004;

6. Certain internal financial analyses and forecasts for Lamar Bank prepared by the management of Lamar Bank,
including projections of future performance;
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7. Certain other summary materials and analyses with respect to Lamar Bank�s loan portfolio, securities portfolio,
deposit base, fixed assets, and operations including, but not limited to: (i) schedule of loans and other assets
identified by management as deserving special attention or monitoring given the characteristics of the
loan/asset and the local economy, (ii) analyses concerning the adequacy of the loan loss reserve,
(iii) schedules of �other real estate owned,� including current carrying values and recent appraisals, and
(iv) schedules of securities, detailing book values, market values, and lengths to maturity; and,

8. Such other information � including financial studies, analyses, investigations, and economic and market criteria
� that we deem relevant to this assignment.

In connection with this opinion and given that the acquisition involves the issuance of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.,
common stock as a portion of the Per Share Merger Consideration, we reviewed the following:

1. Audited consolidated financial statements, included in the MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. annual reports on
Form 10KSB, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, for the years ended December 31, 2003,
2002, and 2001;

2. Quarterly financial statements, included in the MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. quarterly reports on Form 10QSB, as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, at and for the three months ended March 31, 2004,
March 31, 2002, and March 31, 2001;

3. Consolidated financial statements, included in the MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. regulatory filings on Form F.R.
Y-9C, at and for the three months ended March 31, 2004, and for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002,
and 2001, as filed with the Federal Reserve System;

4. Recorded earnings per share for MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. for the years ending December 31, 2002 and 2003,
and earnings per share estimates for MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. for the years ending December 31, 2004 and
2005, published by SNL Financial, LC, Charlottesville, Virginia;

5. The publicly reported historical price and trading activity for the common stock of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.,
including a comparison of certain market pricing and financial fundamentals for MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. with
(i) those of similar publicly-traded banking organizations in the demographic region of MidSouth Bancorp,
Inc. and (ii) those of all United States publicly-traded banking organizations;

6. Equity research reports regarding MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. prepared by various stock analysts who cover the
financial institutions sector;

7. The views of senior management of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. based on limited discussions with members of
senior management, regarding the lines of business, financial condition, results of operations and future
prospects of MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.;

8. The pro forma financial impact of the merger on MidSouth Bancorp, Inc., based on assumptions relating to
transaction expenses, purchase accounting adjustments and cost savings determined by the senior
managements of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. and MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.;

9. The current stock market environment generally and the banking environment in particular; and,
3
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10. Such other information, financial studies, analyses and investigations and financial, economic and market
criteria as we considered relevant.

In connection with this opinion and with respect to the merger, we further have reviewed, among other things:

1. The Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated May 27, 2004, that sets forth, among other items, the terms,
conditions to closing, pending litigation against both Lamar Bancshares, Inc. and Lamar Bank, and
representations and warranties of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. and Lamar Bank;

2. The proxy statement/prospectus, to which this opinion is appended, that is being furnished to the shareholders
of Lamar Bancshares, Inc.;

3. The financial terms and price levels for selected commercial banking organizations with total assets between
$75 � $150 million acquired in the United States during 2002 through year-to-date 2004, together with the
financial performance and condition of the acquired banking organizations;

4. The financial terms and price levels for selected commercial banking organizations with total assets below
$500 million acquired in the United States during 2002 through year-to-date 2004, together with (i) the
financial performance and condition of the acquired banking organizations and (ii) the financial performance,
financial condition, and market pricing of the acquiring banking organizations; and,

5. Such other information � including financial studies, analyses, investigations, and economic and market criteria
� that we deem relevant to this assignment.

Based on our experience, we believe our review of, among other things, the aforementioned items provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion, recognizing that we are expressing an informed professional opinion � not a
certification of value. We have relied upon the information provided by the managements of Lamar Bancshares, Inc.
and MidSouth Bancorp, Inc., or otherwise reviewed by us, as being complete and accurate in all material respects.
Furthermore, we have not verified through independent inspection or examination the specific assets or liabilities of
Lamar Bancshares, Inc. Lamar Bank or MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. We have also assumed that there has been no material
change in the assets, financial condition, results of operations, or business prospects of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. and
MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. since the date of the last financial statements made available to us. We have met with the
management of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. to discuss relevant information that has been provided to us, and nothing has
come to our attention that would lead us to conclude that the foregoing reliances and assumptions are unfounded or
without merit.

Therefore, after a review of the aforementioned financial and market pricing information relative to Lamar
Bancshares, Inc., Lamar Bank and MidSouth Bancorp, Inc., and based on all factors that we deem relevant and
assuming the accuracy and completeness of the information and data provided to us, we conclude that all financial
provisions of the merger agreement are fair, from a financial standpoint, to the common shareholders of Lamar
Bancshares, Inc.

This opinion is available for disclosure to the shareholders of Lamar Bancshares, Inc. Accordingly, we hereby consent
to the reference to this opinion and to our Firm in any disclosure materials provided to the shareholders of Lamar
Bancshares, Inc. in conjunction with the proxy statement/prospectus.

4

Edgar Filing: MIDSOUTH BANCORP INC - Form S-4

155



Respectfully submitted,

The Bank Advisory Group,
l.l.c.

By /s/ illegible signature

5
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PART II

INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS

Item 20. Indemnification of Directors and Officers

     Section 83 of the Louisiana Business Corporation Law permits a corporation to indemnify its directors and officers
against expenses (including attorneys� fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably
incurred by him in connection with any action, suit or proceeding to which he is or was a party or is threatened to be
made a party (including any action by or in the right of the corporation) if such action arises out of the fact that he is
or was a director, officer, employee or agent of the corporation and he acted in good faith and in a manner he
reasonably believed to be in, or not opposed to, the best interests of the corporation, and, with respect to any criminal
action or proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe his conduct was unlawful. The indemnification provisions of
Section 83 are not exclusive, but no corporation may indemnify any person for willful or intentional misconduct. A
corporation has the power to obtain and maintain insurance, or to create a form of self-insurance on behalf of any
person who is or was acting for the corporation, regardless of whether the corporation has the legal authority to
indemnify the insured person against such liability.

     Article V of the registrant�s articles of incorporation provides for mandatory indemnification for current and former
directors and officers to the full extent permitted by Louisiana law.

     The registrant maintains an insurance policy covering the liability of its directors and officers for actions taken in
their official capacity.

Item 21. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a) Exhibits

        The following Exhibits are filed as part of this Registration Statement:

Exhibit No. Description

2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger
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10.2 First Amendment to Lease between MBL Life Assurance Corporation, successor in interest to
Southwest Bank Building Limited Partnership in Commendam, and MidSouth National Bank
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Report on MidSouth�s annual report on Form 10-KSB for
the year ended December 31, 1994)

10.2.1 Seventh Amendment to Lease between S & A Properties II, Inc., successor in interest to Southwest
Bank Building Limited Partnership in Commendam, and MidSouth Bank, N.A. effective July 1, 2002
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2.1 to MidSouth�s Annual Report on Form 10-KSB for the
year ended December 31, 2002)

10.3 Amended and Restated Deferred Compensation Plan and Trust effective October 9, 2002
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3.1 to MidSouth�s Annual Report on Form 10-KSB for the
year ended December 31, 2002)

10.5 Employment Agreements with C. R. Cloutier and Karen L. Hail (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 5(c) to MidSouth�s Form 1-A)

10.6 MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.�s 1997 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99 to
MidSouth�s definitive Proxy Statement filed April 11, 1997)

10.7 The MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.6 to MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.�s Form S-3D filed on July 25, 1997)

11 Computation of earnings per share.

23.1 Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP

23.2 Consent of Correro Fishman Haygood Phelps Walmsley & Casteix, L.L.P. (included in Exhibit 5)

23.3 Consent of The Bank Advisory Group, L.L.C.

23.4 Consent of Funchess, Mills, White & Co., P.C.

99.1 Form of Proxy of Lamar Bancshares, Inc.
Item 22. Undertakings

     The undersigned Registrant hereby undertakes as follows:

     (1) To respond to requests for information that is incorporated by reference into the prospectus pursuant to Items 4,
10(b), 11 or 13 of Form S-4 within one business day of receipt of such request, and to send the incorporated
documents by first class mail or other equally prompt means. This includes information contained in documents filed
subsequent to the effective date of the Registration Statement through the date of responding to the request.

     (2) To supply by means of a post-effective amendment all information concerning a transaction, and the company
being acquired involved therein, that was not the subject of and included in the Registration Statement when it became
effective.
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     (3) To file, during any period in which offers or sales are being made, a post-effective amendment to this
registration statement:
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     (i) To include any prospectus required by section 10(a)(3) of the Securities Act of 1933;

     (ii) To reflect in the prospectus any facts or events arising after the effective date of the registration statement (or
the most recent post-effective amendment thereof) which, individually or in the aggregate, represent a fundamental
change in the information set forth in the registration statement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any increase or
decrease in volume of securities offered (if the total dollar value of securities offered would not exceed that which was
registered) and any deviation from the low or high end of the estimated maximum offering range may be reflected in
the form of prospectus filed with the Commission pursuant to Rule 424(b) if, in the aggregate, the changes in volume
and price represent no more than a 20% change in the maximum aggregate offering price set forth in the �Calculation
of Registration Fee� table in the effective registration statement;

     (iii) To include any material information with respect to the plan of distribution not previously disclosed in the
registration statement or any material change to such information in the registration statement.

     (4) That, for the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each such post-effective
amendment shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the
offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.

     (5) To remove from registration by means of a post-effective amendment any of the securities being registered
which remain unsold at the termination of the offering.

     (6) That, for the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933 each filing of the Registrant�s
annual report pursuant to Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the �Exchange Act�)
that is incorporated by reference in the Registration Statement shall be deemed to be a new registration statement
related to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial
bona fide offering thereof.

     (7) That prior to any public reoffering of the securities registered hereunder through use of a prospectus which is a
part of this Registration Statement, by any person or party who is deemed to be an underwriter within the meaning of
Rule 145(c), the Registrant undertakes that such reoffering prospectus will contain the information called for by the
applicable registration form with respect to reofferings by persons who may be deemed underwriters, in addition to
the information called for by the other Items of the applicable form.

     (8) That every prospectus (i) that is filed pursuant to paragraph (4) above, or (ii) that purports to meet the
requirements of Section 10(a)(3) of the Securities Act of 1933 and is used in connection with an offering of securities
subject to Rule 415, will be filed as a part of an amendment to the Registration Statement and will not be used until
such amendment is effective, and that, for purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act, each such
post-effective amendment shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein,
and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.

     (9) Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act of 1933 may be permitted to directors,
officers and controlling persons of the Registrant pursuant to the provisions described in response to Item 20 of this
Registration Statement, the Registrant has been advised that in the opinion of the Securities and Exchange
Commission such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Act and is, therefore, unenforceable. In
the event that a claim for indemnification against such liabilities (other than the payment by the Registrant of expenses
incurred or paid by a director, officer or controlling person of the Registrant in the successful defense of any action,
suit or proceeding) is asserted by such director, officer or controlling person in connection with the securities being
registered, the Registrant will, unless in the opinion of its counsel the matter has been settled by controlling precedent,
submit to a court of appropriate jurisdiction the question whether such indemnification by it is against public policy as
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expressed in the Act and will be governed by the final adjudication of such issue.
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SIGNATURES

     Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act, the registrant has duly caused this registration statement to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized in the City of Lafayette, State of Louisiana on the
6th day of August, 2004.

MIDSOUTH BANCORP, INC.

By: /s/ C.R. Cloutier

C.R. Cloutier
President and Chief Executive
Officer

     KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below hereby constitutes
and appoints C.R. Cloutier and Karen Hail his true and lawful attorney-in-fact, each acting alone, with full power of
substitution and for him and in his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities to sign any and all amendments
including post-effective amendments to this registration statement and any registration statement filed pursuant to
Rule 462(b) under the Securities Act of 1933, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto, and other documents in
connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said
attorneys-in-fact or their substitutes, each acting alone, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue thereof.

     Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, this registration statement has been signed below by the
following persons in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/ C.R. Cloutier

C.R. Cloutier

President, Chief Executive Officer and
Director (Principal Executive Officer)

August 6, 2004

/s/ Karen L. Hail

Karen L. Hail

Executive Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer (Principal Financial
Officer and Principal Accounting
Officer) and
Director

August 6, 2004
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/s/ Will G. Charbonnet

Will G. Charbonnet

Chairman of the Board August 6, 2004

/s/ Clayton Paul Hilliard

Clayton Paul Hilliard

Director August 6, 2004

/s/ Stephen C. May

Stephen C. May

Director August 6, 2004

/s/ James R. Davis, Jr.

James R. Davis, Jr.

Director August 6, 2004

/s/ Milton B. Kidd, III, O.P.

Milton B. Kidd, O.P

Director August 6, 2004

/s/ J.B. Hargroder, M.D.

J. B. Hargroder, M.D.

Director August 6, 2004

/s/ William M. Simmons

William M. Simmons

Director August 6, 2004
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     The following Exhibits are filed as part of this Registration Statement:

Exhibit No. Description

2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger

3.1 Articles of Incorporation, as amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the registrant�s
Annual Report on Form 10-KSB for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1993, and Exhibit 4.2 to
the registrant�s Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed September 20, 1995)

3.2 Bylaws of the Company, as amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to Amendment
No. 1 to the registrant�s Registration Statement on Form S-4 (Reg. No. 33-58499) filed on June 1,
1995)

4.1 MidSouth agrees to furnish to the Commission on request a copy of the instruments defining the
rights of the holder of its long-term debt, which debt does not exceed 10% of the total consolidated
assets of MidSouth.

5 Opinion of Correro Fishman Haygood Phelps Walmsley & Casteix, L.L.P.

10.1 MidSouth National Bank Lease Agreement with Southwest Bank Building Limited Partnership
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to MidSouth�s annual report on Form 10-KSB for the
Year Ended December 31, 1992)

10.2 First Amendment to Lease between MBL Life Assurance Corporation, successor in interest to
Southwest Bank Building Limited Partnership in Commendam, and MidSouth National Bank
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Report on MidSouth�s annual report on Form 10-KSB
for the year ended December 31, 1994)

10.2.1 Seventh Amendment to Lease between S & A Properties II, Inc., successor in interest to Southwest
Bank Building Limited Partnership in Commendam, and MidSouth Bank, N.A. effective July 1,
2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2.1 to MidSouth�s Annual Report on Form 10-KSB
for the year ended December 31, 2002)

10.3 Amended and Restated Deferred Compensation Plan and Trust effective October 9, 2002
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3.1 to MidSouth�s Annual Report on Form 10-KSB for the
year ended December 31, 2002)

10.5 Employment Agreements with C. R. Cloutier and Karen L. Hail (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 5(c) to MidSouth�s Form 1-A)

10.6 MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.�s 1997 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99 to
MidSouth�s definitive Proxy Statement filed April 11, 1997)

10.7 The MidSouth Bancorp, Inc. Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.6 to MidSouth Bancorp, Inc.�s Form S-3D filed on July 25, 1997)

11 Computation of earnings per share.
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23.1 Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP

23.2 Consent of Correro Fishman Haygood Phelps Walmsley & Casteix, L.L.P. (included in Exhibit 5)

23.3 Consent of The Bank Advisory Group, L.L.C.

23.4 Consent of Funchess, Mills, White & Co., P.C.

99.1 Form of Proxy of Lamar Bancshares, Inc.
II-7

Edgar Filing: MIDSOUTH BANCORP INC - Form S-4

166


